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UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended May 31, 2006
OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission file number: 000-51788

Oracle Corporation

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaetr)

Delaware 54-2185193
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. employer
incorporation or organization) identification no.)

500 Oracle Parkway
Redwood City, California 94065

(Address of principal executive offices, includingip code)

(650) 506-7000
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) afie Act:
None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) ¢e Act:
Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share
Preferred Stock Purchase Rights
(Title of class)
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a ielbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405%ed$éturities Act. YESXI NO O
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Act. YES1 NO

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant € filed all reports required to be filed by Seeti or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for sstobrter period that the registrant was requirdilésuch reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastla@s. YESXI NO O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiélers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is contained herein and will not be
contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledgadefinitive proxy or information statements incorgted by reference in Part Il of this Form
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-Kx]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlarge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, noa-accelerated filer. See definition of
“accelerated filer and large accelerated filerRinle 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Large Accelerated filerx] Accelerated filer O Non-accelerated filer I

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantskell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the BExgje Act). YESO  NO

The aggregate market value of the voting stock hgldonaffiliates of the registrant was $50,563,353,108d0c0n the number of shares t
by non-affiliates of the registrant as of May 3008, and based on the reported last sale pricernfion stock on November 30, 2005, which
is the last business day of the registrant’s mestmtly completed second fiscal quarter. This dafmn does not reflect a determination that
persons are affiliates for any other purposes.

Number of shares of common stock outstanding dsilgf17, 2006: 5,238,329,3(
Documents Incorporated by Reference:

Part lll—Portions of the registrant’s definitivegaly statement to be issued in conjunction withseght's annual stockholders’ meeting to be
held on October 9, 2006.
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Forward-Looking Statements

In addition to historical information, this Annuakeport on Form 10-K contains forwalabking statements that involve risks and unceties
that could cause our actual results to differ mallgr Factors that might cause or contribute torsdifferences include, but are not limited to,
those discussed in Item 1A. “Risk Factors.” Wheeduis this report, the words “expects,” “anticiggteintends,” “plans,” “believes,”
“seeks,” “estimates” and similar expressions argegally intended to identify forward-looking statents. You should not place undue
reliance on these forward-looking statements, whiglect our opinions only as of the date of thisndial Report. We undertake no obligation
to publicly release any revisions to the forwardkimg statements after the date of this documeati &hould carefully review the risk factors
described in other documents we file from timeinetwith the Securities and Exchange Commissiariyding the Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-Q to be filed by us in our 2007 fiscal yeehich runs from June 1, 2006 to May 31, 2007.

PART I
ltem 1. Business
General

We are the world’s largest enterprise software camgpWe develop, manufacture, market, distributk service database and middleware
software as well as applications software desigodtklp our customers manage and grow their busiogsrations.

Our goal is to offer customers scalable, reliabégure and integrated database, middleware anitaiqms software that provides
transactional efficiencies, adapts to an orgaror&iunique needs and allows better ways to aa@$snanage information at a low total cost
of ownership. We seek to be an industry leadenghef the specific product categories in whichocempete and to expand into new and
emerging markets. In fiscal 2006, we focused ognsfthening our market position and enhancing oistiag portfolio of products and
services as well as acquiring and integrating lmssias that we believe will improve our competiprasition, expand our customer base,
provide greater scale to increase our researchievelopment and accelerate innovation.

An active acquisition program is an important elat our corporate strategy. In the last two yeaes have paid an aggregate of $19.5
billion for our acquisitions, including PeopleSdfic. and Siebel Systems, Inc. Our planned legttyemergers, information system
conversions and integration related to these aitiguis are substantially complete. We expect to glete all other planned integration
activities in the next three months. We expectaitinue to acquire companies, products, servicddeshnologies.

Oracle Corporation was incorporated in 2005 aslaviere corporation and is the successor to opastaginally begun in June 1977. The
corporate entity structure was reorganized in J3n2@06 in connection with our acquisition of SieBgstems. See Note 1 of Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for additionfrimation related to the reorganization.

Software and Services

We are organized into two businesses, softwaresandces, which are further divided into five ofigma segments. Our software business is
comprised of two operating segments: (1) new safidiaenses and (2) software license updates avtlipt support. Our services business is
comprised of three operating segments: (1) comgyl{?) On Demand and (3) education. Our softwasgriess represented 80%, 80% and
79% of total revenues and our services businesesepted 20%, 20% and 21% of total revenues ialf&@06, 2005 and 2004, respectively.
See Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tants for additional information related to oue@giing segments.
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Software Busines
New Software License

New software licenses include the licensing of basae and middleware software, which consists ofl@matabase and Oracle Fus
Middleware, as well as applications software. @ehhology and business solutions are based ortemnéh model comprised of
interconnected database servers, application semeb servers and computers as well as mobileegvunning web browsers. This
architecture enables users to access businesarmtatgpplications through a universally adopted brewser interface, while providing
enterprises the most efficient and cost effectiwthod of managing business information and apjdioat

In an internet model, database servers manageratetpthe underlying business information, whipglécation servers run the business
applications that automate a myriad of businesstions. We have focused on concepts such as gbotle instance application deployment
that establishes fewer, high quality databasemspbitant business information, rather than dozemsndreds of disparate databases that are
difficult to synchronize and coordinate. Our int&tgd, component-based architecture provides hightgiusiness information and can be
adapted to the specific needs of any industry pliegtion. Oracle technology operates on singleeseor clustered server configurations, and
supports a choice of operating systems includimgixj UNIX and Windows.

New software license revenues include fees eamoaad granting customers licenses to use our softwaréucts and exclude revenues der
from software license updates and product suppbe.standard end user software license agreemeotifgoroducts provides for an initial
fee to use the product in perpetuity based on dmar number of processors, named users or othefaneélVe also have other types of
software license agreements restricted by the nuoflEmployees or the license term. New softwarenise revenues represented 34%, 35%
and 35% of total revenues in fiscal 2006, 2005 201@#4, respectively.

Database and Middleware Software

Our grid software provides a cost-effective, higirfprmance platform for running and managing bussragpplications for small and midsize
businesses to large global enterprises. With ae&sing focus on low-cost, high volume server dachge components, Oracle grids are
designed to accommodate demanding business enverganwhile providing the ability to assign andssign computing power to various
applications. This ability to reconfigure computirggources as needed simplifies computing capganning and procurement. With an
Oracle grid infrastructure, customers can redueantted to purchase additional hardware and camcedte risk of too little computing pow
during high traffic periods. New software licensgenues from database and middleware productssepes 73%, 81% and 82% of new
software license revenues in fiscal 2006, 2005200, respectively.

Database

The Oracle database management system is a keyooemtpof a grid infrastructure enabling the storagenipulation and retrieval of all

forms of data including traditional relational daxavL data, OLAP cubes and unstructured data sgatioguments, spreadsheets and images.
Oracle Database 1§, which is designed for grid computing, is avaital four editions: Express Edition, Standard BditOne, Standard
Edition and Enterprise Edition. All editions ardlbusing the same common code base, which meatsitttabase applications can easily
scale from small, single processor servers to @lasif multi-processor servers without changiniga 6f code. Additional options to the
Oracle Database are available, including Real Apgibn Clusters, as well as other products inclgdiollaboration Suite, Enterprise

Manager and Secure Enterprise Search.

Real Application Clusters

The Oracle Database is unique in that it runs apgitins with a very high degree of scalability aelifbility across multiple low cost
computers clustered together. This is achievedsiiyguOracle Real Application Clusters, a clustaredfiguration of the Oracle Database that
creates a single, scalable and fault tolerant
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database shared across an interconnected clugtenvafrs. Clustering database servers dramaticaiigases system reliability as the serv
no longer a single point of failure. To scale cotmgycapacity, customers can simply add servetsdw cluster and the database software
adapts to utilize the additional computing resosir€dustering significantly improves applicatiorakbility and availability without requiring
users to modify their applications or purchase taltkl computing capacity. Customers can achiegeifstant cost savings by using clusters
of small, low-cost servers instead of larger, msxpensive computers and by eliminating the needddicated fail-over servers.

Collaboration Suite

Oracle Collaboration Suite is a single, integregeitie that manages email and voicemail messagesinfides, calendaring, conferencing,
instant messaging, file sharing, search and workflthe Oracle Collaboration Suite centralizes adstiation and lowers operating costs by
consolidating email and file servers. Additionallgers are provided with one folder for their epféés, voicemail and facsimile messages.
The Oracle Collaboration Suite is built on the Qed@atabase and Oracle Fusion Middleware, suppgoterprise-scale implementations and
offers high-availability features such as rapidseefailover, disaster recovery and automated bhacWith Oracle Collaboration Suite, users
access all their communications content via des&plications, the internet, personal digital dasis or mobile phones, improving
communication and collaboration.

Enterprise Manager

Oracle Enterprise Manager 10g is designed to moaitd manage the Oracle software infrastructureedisas applications and business
services in diverse IT environments. Oracle Entsgpanager 10g is designed to monitor serviceldemed performance, automate tasks,
complete backup and recovery, among other thimgs unified way and across groups of computergrids. Provisioning automates the
discovery, tracking and scheduling of software pascand will allow administrators to apply patchéhout taking the system down using
rolling upgrades. Additionally, administrators gaanage systems from anywhere through an HTML broessé through wireless PDAs.

Secure Enterprise Search

Oracle Secure Enterprise Search provides an irttékeesearch experience to users searching sentent inside the enterprise. Oracle
Secure Enterprise Search indexes and searches,uilate and shared content across internal sredrel web sites, databases, file servers,
document repositories, enterprise content managesystems, applications and portals. Oracle Seenterprise Search has built-in
functionality that permits users to see only seaeshilts leading to information for which they haghorized access. The product features a
simple web interface allowing for efficient admination and management. Additionally, users cars&the search engine through web-
based user interfaces and perform traditional keghsearches that provide results in a format simdlaonventional web searches.

Middleware

Oracle Fusion Middleware is the brand for Oracf@stfolio of middleware products, which include ©eApplication Server, Oracle
Business Intelligence, Oracle Developer Suite aratl® Service Oriented Architecture Suite, amorigpiet Oracle Fusion Middleware’s hot-
pluggable architecture is built on industry staddasuch as J2EE, Business Process Execution Laa@BBEL) and other web services
standards. Using Oracle Fusion Middleware enahle®mers to easily integrate heterogeneous busapdigations, automate business
processes, and leverage their existing applicateystems and technology investments. In addifiracle Fusion Middleware supports
multiple development languages and tools, allovdegelopers to build and deploy web services, wids sportals and web-based
applications. Oracle’s middleware is used to supPoacle applications, as well as other enter@pgaications and independent software
vendors that use Oracle Fusion Middleware as tbis ba build their own custom applications.
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Application Server

The foundation of Oracle Fusion Middleware is Oga&pplication Server 10g. Designed for grid compgtiOracle Application Server 10g
incorporates clustering and caching technologyctvimicreases application reliability, performarsegurity and scalability. Oracle
Application Server 10g also provides a completegration platform that is designed to simplify awttelerate business, application and data
integration projects.

The Identity Management option for Oracle ApplioatiServer 10g makes it easier for companies to geamailtiple identities and access
privileges, which helps to safeguard informatiamtj@al systems and applications against unautledriccess.

Oracle Application Server 10g also includes Ord&®etal, which allows personalized portal siteseéadpidly developed and deployed, all

with single sign-on and security. Portal sitesaggembled using portlets, which are reusable aterfomponents that provide access to web-
based resources such as applications, businefigeriee reports, syndicated content feeds andouted software services. With the
wireless capability of Oracle Application Serveglibnterprise Edition, portal sites can be madelabiai to any wireless device.

Business Intelligence Suite

Oracle Business Intelligence Suite is a family mteeprise business intelligence products that arteacle$ existing business intelligence ¢
middleware technology with Siebel Business Anafytit offer customers enterprise-wide businessligegice infrastructure and tools. Based
on Oracle’s hot-pluggable business intelligenceastfucture, these products deliver a full spectofitousiness intelligence requirements,
including interactive dashboards, ad hoc queryaralysis, proactive intelligence and alerts, emisepreporting, real-time predictive
intelligence and mobile analytics.

Current editions of the Oracle Business IntelligeSeaite include the Oracle Business IntelligendéeStnterprise Edition and Oracle
Business Intelligence Suite Standard Edition. @r&lsiness Intelligence Suite Enterprise Editioopien to any enterprise data source and
optimized for Oracle or non-Oracle databases, atigwustomers to integrate data from all their garise applications, including third party
and customer applications. Oracle Business Intailig Suite Standard Edition is optimized to worthvdracle data and applications.

Developer Suite

Oracle Developer Suite is an integrated suite gEigment tools designed to facilitate rapid depeient of internet database applications
and web services. The Oracle Developer Suite am&gpplication development and business intelligeaols and is built on internet
standards such as Java, J2EE, XML and HTML.

The Oracle Developer Suite includes Oracle JDewlagpJava development environment for modelinddimg, debugging and testing
enterprise-class J2EE applications and web servicesldition, the suite contains Oracle Desigadnol that allows developers to model
business processes and automatically generatgpastedatabase applications, and Oracle Forms Dpeela development tool for building
database applications that can be deployed unchandpmth internet and client/server based envirems

The Oracle Developer Suite also includes Oracleeiause Builder software that consolidates fragniedégéa and metadata pulled from
packaged applications, custom applications andciegpplications. Oracle Warehouse Builder enabde®libpers to graphically design the
multidimensional database schema and to automigtipaherate and load the data warehouse.

4
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Service-Oriented Architecture Suite

Oracle Servicgriented Architecture (SOA) Suite is a completedfetervice infrastructure components for creatd@ploying, and managil
SOA's, including Oracle Developer 10g, Oracle BPEL BsscdManager, Oracle Web Services Manager, Oradm®&s Rules Engine, Ora
Business Activity Monitoring, and Oracle Enterpridervice Bus. Oracle SOA Suite enables services wreated, managed and orchestrated
into composite applications and reconfigurable hess$ processes, reducing development time andamstisicreasing flexibility and respot
time. Oracle SOA Suite is hot-pluggable, enablingtemers to easily extend and evolve their archites instead of replacing existing
investments.

Applications Software

Our applications strategy is centralized aroundgating our customergurrent investments by providing lifetime supperdntinuous produt
enhancements and upgrades; extending the benfktfiitsse investments by delivering new technologigsh as Oracle Database 10g, Oracle
Grid Computing and Oracle Service-Oriented Architez designed to support Oracle Fusion Applicatiansl supporting our customers’
evolution to the next generation of enterprisevgafe that best fits their needs, whether that ect@rFusion Applications or one of our four
enterprise software lines: Oracle E-Business SBiepleSoft Enterprise, JD Edwards EnterpriseQieBdwards World and Siebel Business
Applications. Developed to deliver business insgghtaptive industry processes, and a superiorrsiipeexperience, Oracle Applications
enable efficient management of all core businesstions, including customer relationship managenf@®M), financial management,
human resources and supply chain management. Each four enterprise applications product linesfigered as a fully integrated suite or
available on a component basis, and all are boittpen architectures and are designed for flexibidiguration and open, multi-vendor
integration.

Oracle’s applications combine business functiopalith innovative technologies such as workflow aedf-service applications, to enable
users to lower the cost of their business operatiynproviding customers, suppliers and employeatsself-service internet access to both
transaction processing and critical business inédion. Companies can use self-service applicatio@sitomate a variety of business
functions, such as customer service and suppatupement, expense reporting and reimbursemenh gaciuct line is also available in
multiple languages and currencies, enabling congsatioi support both global and local business mreetind legal requirements.

Our applications can be tailored to offer custongevariety of industry-specific solutions. As paftour strategy, we strive to ensure that our
applications portfolio addresses the major industfigenced technology challenges of customerseip ikdustries. With the acquisition of
Siebel, we gained expertise in the vertical marketshich Siebel offered industry solutions. In dabch, we recently expanded our offerings
in certain industries, most notably in retail withr acquisitions of Retek, Inc. and several otlwnganies; in banking with our majority
interest in i-flex solutions limited; and in telenmunications with our recent acquisition of Po8aftware, Inc.

We also offer a comprehensive set of analytic aafibns. Our analytic applications include capéibsisuch as corporate performance
management, interactive dashboarding, embeddeyt@sand actionable intelligence for each busirfiesstion and user role. All of our
analytic solutions are hot-pluggable into existipgrational systems, enabling customers to incatp@nhanced intelligence capabilities into
Oracle, custom and third-party applications.

We enable customers to synchronize informationsmgle central location, from all systems througihthe enterprise to get an accurate,
consistent view of company data from packagedcgga customer applications through products likadle Customer Data Hub and the
Oracle Product Information Management Data Hubcf@rBata Hubs are built on open standards andntagrate with third-party software,
as well as all modules within the Oracle E-Busirésge.
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New software license revenues from applicationsasok represented 27%, 19% and 18% of new softlicaese revenues in fiscal 20(
2005 and 2004, respectively.

Fusion Applications

Oracle Fusion Applications represent the next gai®r of Oracle Applications, based on a serviderted platform, built on open industry
standards, extensible by customers and partnerstardperable with third party and existing intabns. Fusion is being designed to
leverage the best functionality and combine the feedures, flows and usability traits of the OeaElBusiness Suite, PeopleSoft, JD Edwards
and Siebel application products into one produng.IWe believe the resulting suite of applicatiiisdeliver a superior ownership

experience through improved usability, adaptivaress process automation, built-in business igietice and industry-specific capabilities.

Applications Unlimited

We recently announced that we would continue teshin enhancements to our current Oracle E-BusiSage, PeopleSoft, JD Edwards and
Siebel applications products beyond the deliver@dcle Fusion Applications. With the Applicatiddalimited program, customers will not
be required to migrate to Fusion Applications, imaty choose to stay with their current product litheg will have dedicated development i
support teams.

Software License Updates and Product Supg

We seek to protect our customers’ current investsi@nOracle technology and applications by offgdifetime support, product
enhancements and upgrades. Software license uptatigde customers with rights to unspecified safvproduct upgrades, maintenance
releases and patches released during the terne stifport period, which is typically one year. Ricddsupport includes internet access to
technical content, as well as internet and teleptamtess to technical support personnel. Prodpgiosutypically is provided by our global
support centers. Software license updates and pradpport are generally priced as a percentatfeeaiew software license fees.
Substantially all of our customers purchase sofviigense updates and product support when thayir@cgew software licenses. In addition,
substantially all of our customers renew theirwafe license updates and product support contaactsally. Software license updates and
product support revenues represented 46%, 45%4bdod total revenues in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 208dpectively.

Services Busines
Consulting

Oracle Consulting assists customers in accessibuhiness value in our applications and technol@iyg business requirements analysis,
design, configuration as well as support and atkeevices such as preconfigured business flows. &gty professionals globally through
various blended delivery capabilities, including w$ personnel from offshore delivery centers gogliaations solutions centers to leverage
economies of scale for our customers. Consultingmees represented 15%, 15% and 16% of total regeinufiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively.

On Demand

On Demand (formerly advanced product servicespaes Oracle On Demand and Advanced Customer Ser@eacle On Demand provid
multi-featured software and hardware managementraidtenance services for our database, middlearateapplications software. We
recently expanded our Oracle On Demand offeringls thie addition of Siebel’s CRM On Demand. We hai©racle On Demand enables
our customers to lower information technology castd improve their business efficiency by havingnaiage for them the availability,
security, performance and change management fasadtware. Advanced Customer Services consistemfiguration and performance
analysis, personalized support and annual oneitenical services. On Demand revenues represebftenf 8tal revenues in fiscal 2006,
2005 and 2004.
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Education

We provide training to customers, partners and eygas as part of our mission of accelerating tlopthoh of our technology around the
world. Our training is provided primarily throughilic and private instructor-led classroom evebts,is also made available through a
variety of online courses and self paced mediaittgion CD-ROMSs. Education revenues representedf2¥tal revenues in fiscal 2006,
2005 and 2004.

Marketing and Sales
Sales Distribution Channel:

In the United States, we market our products andcss primarily through our own sales and serdaigganization. Sales and service
employees are based in our headquarters and ihdfifites throughout the United States.

Outside the United States, we market our produundssarvices primarily through our subsidiary saled service organizations. Our
subsidiaries license and support our productsair thcal countries as well as within other forepuntries where we do not operate through
a direct sales subsidiary.

We also market our products worldwide through iedirchannels. The companies that comprise ourdaidahannel network are members of
the Oracle Partner Network. Our partners resellppaducts or combine our database, developmerg toal applications with computer
hardware, software application packages or serfaresubsequent redistribution and/or implementatio

The Oracle Partner Network allows us to pursue besiness opportunities through partners as wellithsdirect customers. Partners in the
program include consultants, education providetgrnet service providers, network integratorseltess, independent software vendors and
system integrators / implementers. Partners canpalgicipate in the Oracle Technology Network.sTiogram is specifically designed for
the database administrator, internet developeraptications suite user communities. We providdiegfions, technology, education and
technical support that enable our partners to #ffely integrate our products into their businefferings. The combination of Oracle’s
infrastructure and applications and our partnexpegtise broadens our exposure in new markets.

International Markets

We sell our products and provide services worldwidler geographic coverage allows us to draw onnassi and technical expertise from a
worldwide workforce, provides stability to our opons and revenue streams to offset geographyfspeconomic trends and offers us an
opportunity to take advantage of new markets fodpcts. A summary of our domestic and internatiseaénues and long-lived assets is set
forth in Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated Finan8tdtements.

Cyclicality and Seasonality

General economic conditions have an impact on asiness and financial results. The markets in whietsell our products and services
have, at times, experienced weak economic conditioat have negatively affected revenues. Our guantesults reflect distinct seasonality
in the sale of our products and services, as oannges are typically highest in our fourth fiscahger and lowest in our first fiscal quarter.
See “Quarterly Results of Operations” in Item 7danore complete description of the cyclicality @edsonality of our revenues and
expenses.

Customers

Our customer base consists of a significant nurabbusinesses of many sizes and industries, govamhagencies, educational institutions
and resellers. No single customer accounted for @0fore of revenues in fiscal 2006, 2005 or 2004.
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Competition

The enterprise software industry is intensely cditipe and evolving rapidly. We compete in varimegments of this industry including
database software, middleware (business intelligesgplication integration, portal server, J2EEligppon server, development tools and
identity management), collaboration, developmealstcenterprise applications and consulting/systeegration, among others. Total cos
ownership, performance, functionality, ease of standards-compliance, product reliability, seguaitd quality of technical support are key
competitive factors that face us in each of thasiie which we compete. Our customers are also aéimgless complexity and lower cost in
the implementation, sourcing, integration and onganaintenance of their enterprise software, whi led increasingly to our product
offerings (database, middleware and applicatior&)dviewed as a “stack” of software designed tokwogether. Our product sales (and the
relative strength of our products versus our coitgre) are also affected by the broader “platfognimpetition between industry-standard
Java (J2EE) and Microsoft Corporation’s .NET progmang environments and by operating system conipetitetween Windows Server,
Unix (Sun Solaris, HP-UX and IBM AIX) and Linux. @p source alternatives to commercial software inyntd our primary markets, such
as MySQL AB in database and Red Hat, Inc. / JBosgpplication servers, and SugarCRM Inc. in apfiboa are also impacting the
competitive environment. These products are tyfyicdfered free of charge and are readily availabler the Internet. Finally, so-called “on
demand” offerings, such as those from salesforoe.edgll continue to alter the competitive landscape

In the sale of database software and related tscédability, reliability, availability and secwitire key competitive differentiators for us. Our
competitors include International Business Machi@esgporation, Microsoft, Sybase, Inc., NCR Corpiorais Teradata division, SAS
Institute, Inc., Informatica Corporation, and thgen source databases, MySQL and PostgreSQL, antieagsoOur ability to continually
innovate and differentiate our database offeringdr@abled us to maintain our leading position iallase software over our competitors.

In the sale of middleware products, our offeringdude business intelligence, application integratbusiness process management (BPM),
SOA, portal, J2EE application server, developmeolstand identity management software. Our akititgffer a full range of rich
functionality in a standards-based, open architedtas been a key competitive differentiator. Gumpetitors include IBM, Microsoft, BEA
Systems, Inc., SAP Aktiengesellschaft, Sun Micrtmys Inc., Sybase and open source projects suRbdslat / JBoss, Apache Geronimo
and ObjectWeb, as well as other competitors in eésment of our packaged functions. Business igeice competitors include Actuate
Corporation, Business Objects S.A., Cognos Incateot, Hyperion Solutions Corporation, MicroStrategg., SAS Institute, open source
Netezza Corporation, and others. Application seceenpetitors include Borland Software Corporatieunjitsu Software Corporation, Hitac
Software Engineering Co., Ltd., Adobe Systems Ipoated and others. Enterprise Application Intégnatompetitors include webMethods,
Inc., TIBCO Software, Inc., IONA Technologies PLEhnic Software Corporation, Sun Microsystems ahérmst BPM competitors include
Lombardi Software, Inc., Sawvion, Inc., Pegasystémsand others. Enterprise portal vendors incMidmette Corporation, Novell, Inc.,
Fujitsu, and others. Identity management vendansidte IBM, CA, Inc., Sun Microsystems, and Hewle#tekard Company, among others.
Open source vendors Red Hat, and Novell are atseasingly bundling middleware functionality witieir respective Linux distributions, as
evidenced by Red Hat's recent acquisition of JBAssa package, our middleware solutions have egpeed rapid growth in recent years
relative to our competitors.

In the sale of collaboration products, we competaarily with Microsoft (Exchange/Outlook), IBM (Doino/Notes), Novell (Groupwise)
and WebEx Communications, Inc. In addition, we cetapn the related content management markets&it@ Corporation (Documentum),
FileNet Corporation, Percussion Software, Inc. ¥ighette, among others.

In the sale of development tools, ease of usedatadrrompliance and the level of abstraction (automatete generation) are key competit
differentiators. We compete against IBM (WebSpl&redio), Microsoft
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(VisualStudio.NET), Sun Microsystems (Sun Studi#y)base (PowerBuilder), open source Eclipse and@ti@e success of our developm
tools is closely related to the relative populadfyour platform (database and middleware) comp#vexiir competitors, as well as the larger
competition between Java and Microsoft's .NET.

The sale of applications software, in particularghanging rapidly due to the development and gepémt of SOA and web services,
application integration middleware as well as “a@fte as a servicasfferings, such as those from salesforce.com agttRow Technologie
Inc. in CRM applications. As a result of our acdfioss of PeopleSoft and Siebel, we presently offareral product lines, which are suited
different needs of customers in different industri/e compete against SAP, Lawson Software, Infor,|Microsoft Dynamics (Great Plair
Solomon, Axapta, Navision), Sage, Inc., SSA Glathnologies, Inc. and many other application gters. These include numerous point
solution providers such as Epicor Software Corponafaccounting), SunGard Data Systems Inc. (tmgdskironos Incorporated (time and
attendance), Taleo Corporation (recruitment), @a#liSoftware Inc. (compensation), Automatic DatacPssing, Inc. (HR, payroll, and BP!
Ariba, Inc. (procurement), i2 Technologies, Inaggly chain management), MRO Software, Inc. (emisepasset management), DSCI
Corporation (logistics), Extensity (ERP), Broadwisj Inc. (marketing), Kana Software, Inc. (analy}jcsalesforce.com (sales force
automation) and Amdocs Limited (customer service).

In addition, we compete with numerous specializggliaations providers focused in specific verticalustries, such as financial services,
retail, telecommunications and others. SAP is amampetitor in every industry vertical. Speciatizindustry vertical solutions such as
retail and banking are also influenced heavilytry presence of customized solutions and in-housel@@ment.

With SOA, our packaged applications also competh wistom solutions either developed in-house dalpe systems integrators such as
Accenture Ltd. or IBM Global Services. Our pre-pag&d applications also compete against businessgs@utsourcers including ADP,
Fidelity Investments, Ceridian Corporation, Hev@i{ghorg Limited and others. Our application prodwats architected around a single
database model, which we believe is a key difféamt between our most significant competitors asd

In the sale of consulting and systems integrat@wises, we both partner with and compete againseAture Ltd., Electronic Data Systems
Corporation, IBM Global Services, Bearing Poin.IlCapGemini Group and many others.

Research and Development

We develop the majority of our products internaliyaddition, we have acquired technology throughitess acquisitions. We also purchase
or license intellectual property rights in certaircumstances. Internal development allows us tmtaia technical control over the design :
development of our products. We have a number dedrstates and foreign patents and pending apiolicathat relate to various aspects of
our products and technology. While we believe thatpatents have value, no single patent is esdeatius or to any of our principal busin
segments.

Research and development expenditures were $li¢hb$1.5 billion and $1.3 billion, or 13% of tdt@venues, in fiscal 2006, 2005 and
2004, respectively. As a percentage of new softWeease revenues, research and development experslivere 38%, 37% and 36% in
fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Rapitinetogical advances in hardware and software dpwedmt, evolving standards in compt
hardware and software technology, changing customeds and frequent new product introductions ahdrcements characterize the
software markets in which we compete. We plan antiooing to dedicate a significant amount of resesrto research and development
efforts to maintain and improve our database, neiddre technology and applications software. We f@arontinue to maintain and enhance
the Oracle E-Business, PeopleSoft, JD Edwards @eapplication suites in addition to investingdracle Fusion Applications.
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Employees

As of May 31, 2006, we employed 56,133 full-timepdoyees, including 13,534 in sales and marketingQ® in license updates and product
support, 16,435 in services, 14,432 in researchdamdlopment and 6,232 in general and administatositions. Of these employees, 23,209
were located in the United States and 32,924 waayed internationally. None of our employeeshia United States is represented by a
labor union; however, in certain international sdiasies worker councils represent our employees.

Available Information

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly ReporidForm 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amemdsto reports filed pursuant
to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities ExghaAct of 1934, as amended, are available, fredafge, on our Investor Relations web
site at www.oracle.com/investor as soon as reasppascticable after we electronically file suchtevgal with, or furnish it to, the Securities
and Exchange Commission. The information postedusrweb site is not incorporated into this AnnuapBrt.

Executive Officers and Significant Employees of th®egistrant

Our executive officers and significant employeeslated below. Unless otherwise indicated, eaclupation set forth opposite an
individual’s name and further described below reteremployment currently with Oracle and, priodémuary 31, 2006, with Oracle Systems
Corporation, formerly known as Oracle Corporatiod aurrently a wholly owned subsidiary of Oracle. & January 31, 2006, as part of the
reorganization described in Note 1 of Notes to @tdated Financial Statements through which Or&glstems Corporation became a wholly
owned subsidiary of Oracle, all of the executivécefs of Oracle Systems Corporation were appoietextutive officers of Oracle with the
same titles.

Name Office(s)

Lawrence J. Ellisol Chief Executive Officer and Direct

Jeffrey O. Henle Chairman of the Board of Directc

Safra A. Cat: President, Chief Financial Officer and Direc

Charles E. Phillips, J President and Directt

Keith G. Block Executive Vice President, North America Sales andgQlting
Sergio Giacolett Executive Vice President, Europe, Middle East afiitA Sales and Consultir
Juergen Rottle Executive Vice President, Oracle Support and Or@ciédeman
Charles A. Rozwe Executive Vice President, Server Technolog

Derek H. Williams Executive Vice President, Asia Pacific Sales and€Dtiing
John Wookey Senior Vice President, Applications Developm

Daniel Cooperma Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Segr

Jennifer L. Mintor Senior Vice President, Finance and Operat

Mr. Ellison, 61, has been Chief Executive Officada Director since he founded Oracle in June 1Bé7served as Chairman of the Board
from May 1995 to January 2004 and from May 1990Q&bober 1992 and President from May 1978 to JuB8619

Mr. Henley, 61, has served as the Chairman of erdsince January 2004 and as a director sinee1R8b. He served as an Executive \
President and Chief Financial Officer from Marc®190 July 2004. Prior to joining us, he servedEascutive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of Pacific Holding Company, ayately-held company with diversified interests iamafacturing and real estate, from
August 1986 to February 1991. He also serves agetar of CallWave, Inc.

Ms. Catz, 44, has been Chief Financial Officer siNovember 2005 and a President since January 3b@4dhas served as a Director since
October 2001. She was Interim Chief Financial @ffitom April 2005 until July 2005. She served asxecutive Vice President from
November 1999 to January 2004 and Senior Vice tReasirom April 1999 to October 199
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Mr. Phillips, 47, has been a President and hasdeas a Director since January 2004. He servedesuBive Vice President Strategy,
Partnerships, and Business Development, from M&g 20 January 2004. Prior to joining Oracle, Mrilljts was with Morgan Stanley &
Co. Incorporated, a global investment bank, wherevds a Managing Director from November 1995 to 4893 and a Principal from
December 1994 to November 1995. From 1986 to 1894Phillips worked at various investment bankings on Wall Street. Prior to that,
Mr. Phillips served as a Captain in the United &aflarine Corps as an information technology offitdr. Phillips also serves as a director
of Morgan Stanley and Viacom Inc.

Mr. Block, 45, has been Executive Vice PresidemtithNAmerica Sales and Consulting since SeptemB@2 2nd Executive Vice President,
North America Consulting since February 2002. Heestt as Senior Vice President of North America Caruoial Consulting and Glob
Service Lines from June 1999 until January 2002sétged as Senior Vice President of the Comme@nakulting Practice from April 1999
until May 1999. Mr. Block was Group Vice Presiddagst Consulting from June 1997 until March 19980 joining Oracle in 1986,

Mr. Block was a Senior Consultant at Booz, Aller &amilton.

Mr. Giacoletto, 56, has been Executive Vice Pretideurope, Middle East and Africa Sales and Cdimgubkince June 2000 and Senior Vice
President, Business Solutions since November 1988vas Vice President, Alliances and Technologynfidarch 1997 to November 1998.
Before joining Oracle, he had been President of ATSblutions for Europe since August 1994. Previgusé spent 20 years with Digital
Equipment Corporation in various positions in Ewap marketing and services.

Mr. Rottler, 40, has been Executive Vice Presidéemnacle Support and Oracle On Demand since Septe2®od. Prior to joining Oracle, he
served as Senior Vice President, Public Sectortdther Solutions Group at Hewlett-Packard CompahiP(), from December 2003 to
September 2004, where he was responsible for HBfklwide Public Sector, Health and Education bussn®r. Rottler was Vice President,
HP Services Worldwide Sales and Marketing from NMag@3 to December 2003, Vice President, HP Ser¥W¢eddwide Marketing, Strategy
and Alliances from May 2002 to May 2003 and Vicedtdent and General Manager, HP Services North ismé&om April 2000 to May
2002.

Mr. Rozwat, 58, has been Executive Vice Presidgetyer Technologies since November 1999 and seav&knior Vice President, Database
Server from December 1996 to October 1999. He deageVice President of Development from Decemb8A18 November 1996. Prior to
joining Oracle, he spent 17 years in various pmsgiat Digital Equipment Corporatic

Mr. Williams, 61, has been Executive Vice Presigdésia Pacific Sales and Consulting since Octol®d®02and Senior Vice President, Asia
Pacific from July 1993 to October 2000. He serve¥ige President, Asia Pacific from April 1991 tdyJ1993. Mr. Williams joined Oracle
United Kingdom in October 1988 and served as RedibDirector, Strategic Accounts from October 198&\pril 1991.

Mr. Wookey, 47, has been Senior Vice President,lidafions Development since April 2000. Mr. Wooksgrved as Senior Vice President,
Financial Applications Products from April 1999January 2000 and Vice President, Financial Appbeat Products from June 1995 to April
1999. Prior to joining us, he spent eight year¥ias President of Development at Ross Systems, Inc.

Mr. Cooperman, 55, has been Senior Vice Presi@srtigral Counsel and Secretary since February Fafi.to joining Oracle, he had been
associated with the law firm of McCutchen, DoylepBn & Enersen (which has since become Bingham Mad@n LLP) from October 197
and had served as a partner since June 1983. FaptarSber 1995 until February 1997, Mr. Coopermas @faair of the law firm’'s Business
and Transactions Group and from April 1989 throB8giptember 1995, he served as the Managing Patfttter aw firm’s San Jose office.

Ms. Minton, 45, has been Senior Vice Presidentakée and Operations since October 2001. She sasv8dnior Vice President and
Corporate Controller from April 2000 to Septemb862 and Vice President and Corporate Controllenfidovember 1998 to March 2000.
Ms. Minton joined Oracle in May 1989.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

We operate in a rapidly changing economic and telclyical environment that presents numerous riska)y of which are driven by factors
that we cannot control or predict. The followingalission, as well as our “Critical Accounting Pielicand Estimates” discussion in Item 7,
highlights some of these risks. For purposes ofdlewing risk factors, the terms “Oracle,” “we'is” and “our” refer to Oracle and its
consolidated subsidiaries.

Economic, political and market conditions can adeety affect our revenue growth and profitabilit Our business is influenced by a range
of factors that are beyond our control and thahase no comparative advantage in forecasting. Tinetade:

» general economic and business conditions;
 the overall demand for enterprise computer softwaigk services;
» governmental budgetary constraints or shifts inegoment spending priorities; and

» general political developments, such as the waeoworism.

A general weakening of the global economy, or g@adlunent in government spending, could delay anttefese customer purchases. In
addition, the war on terrorism, the war in Irag &mel potential for other hostilities in various fsaof the world, as well as natural disasters,
continue to contribute to a climate of economic paolitical uncertainty that could adversely affear revenue growth and results of
operations. These factors generally have the sésireffect on our sales of software licenses, aralésser extent, also affect our renewal
rates for software license updates and productastipp

We may fail to achieve our financial forecasts dtminaccurate sales forecasts or other factor©ur revenues, and particularly our new
software license revenues, are difficult to forécasd as a result our quarterly operating resaltsfluctuate substantially. We use a
“pipeline” system, a common industry practice,doetast sales and trends in our business. Oursaissnnel monitor the status of all
proposals and estimate when a customer will mgkerehase decision and the dollar amount of the $hlese estimates are aggregated
periodically to generate a sales pipeline. Our Ipipeestimates can prove to be unreliable bothparicular quarter and over a longer period
of time, in part because the “conversion rate’hef pipeline into contracts can be very difficuletstimate. A contraction in the conversion
rate, or in the pipeline itself, could cause uplam or budget incorrectly and adversely affectlmusiness or results of operations. In
particular, a slowdown in information technologyesgding or economic conditions generally can redheeconversion rate in particular
periods as purchasing decisions are delayed, rddn@mount or cancelled. The conversion rate temtze affected by the tendency of some
of our customers to wait until the end of a figgatiod in the hope of obtaining more favorable t&rim addition, for companies we acquire,
we will have limited experience for several quastieilowing the acquisition regarding how their @iipes will convert into sales or revenues
and their conversion rate post-acquisition may wigeglifferent from their historical conversioneaBecause a substantial portion of our new
software license revenue contracts is completelddanatter part of a quarter, and our cost strgcisitargely fixed in the short term, revenue
shortfalls tend to have a disproportionately negaitmpact on our profitability. A delay in evenraal number of large new software license
transactions could cause our quarterly new softlegases revenues to fall significantly short af predictions.

Our success depends upon our ability to develop peaducts and services, integrate acquired produats! services and enhance our
existing products and servicesRapid technological advances and evolving stafsdisrcomputer hardware, software development and
communications infrastructure, changing and indnggyg sophisticated customer needs and frequentpreduct introductions and
enhancements characterize the enterprise softwarieetrin which we compete. If we are unable to tlgveew products and services, or to
enhance and improve our products and support &sruica timely manner or to position and/or prige groducts and services to meet market
demand, customers may not buy new software licemrsenew software license updates and productstidp addition, standards for
network protocols, as well as other industry addpted de facto standards for the internet, arallpiolving. We cannot provide any
assurance that the
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standards on which we choose to develop new preduititallow us to compete effectively for busineggportunities in emerging areas.

We are developing a next generation applicatioafqrim that is planned to combine the best featdil®ss and usability traits of the Oracle,
PeopleSoft, JD Edwards and Siebel applicationsh¥¥e also acquired several other application priolihes, which we will need to contini

to provide long-term support for as well as enghed the key capabilities of these product liney@santo the next generation platform. If we
do not develop and release these products witkimthicipated time frames, if there is a delay arket acceptance of the product line, or if
we do not timely optimize complementary produceésinour applications business may be adverselgtatfe

Acquisitions present many risks, and we may notlizathe financial and strategic goals that werentemplated at the time of ar
transaction. An active acquisition program is an importantabat of our corporate strategy. We expect to coetto acquire companies,
products, services and technologies. In the lasty®ars, we have paid an aggregate of $19.5 bilboacquisitions. Risks we may encounter
in acquisitions include:

the acquisition may not further our business sirgter we may pay more than it is worth;

we may not realize the anticipated increase inrevenues if a larger than predicted number of ecnsts decline to renew software
license updates and product support, if we arelartalsell the acquired products to our customselm if acquired contract models do
not allow us to recognize revenues on a timelysh

we may have difficulty incorporating the acquiredhnologies or products with our existing produm$ and maintaining uniform
standards, controls, procedures and polic

we may have to delay or not proceed with a subisfaatquisition if we cannot obtain the necessandfng to complete the acquisition
in a timely manner

we may significantly increase our interest expefleasrage and debt service requirements if we iadditional debt to pay for an
acquisition;

we may have higher than anticipated costs in cam@qsupport and development of acquired products;

we may have multiple and overlapping product lithed are offered, priced and supported differentlyich could cause customer
confusion and delay.

our relationship with current and new employeestamers and distributors could be impaired;

we may assume pre-existing contractual relatiorssiipich we would not have entered into and exitinghodifying such relationships
may be costly to us and disruptive to custom

our due diligence process may fail to identify t@chl problems, such as issues with the compampduyzt quality or product
architecture or unlicensed use of technology, iiclg, for example, improperly incorporated openrsewcode

we may have legal and tax exposures or lose aatatptax benefits as a result of unforeseen dlffesiin our legal entity merger
integration activities

we may face contingencies related to product ligbintellectual property, financial disclosuresdaaccounting practices or internal
controls;

the acquisition may result in litigation from termated employees or third parties;
our ongoing business may be disrupted and our neamaigt’s attention may be diverted by transitiointegration issues;

we may be unable to obtain timely approvals fromegomental authorities under competition and amtttaws and from worker
councils under applicable employment laws;

to the extent that we issue a significant amourgopfity securities in connection with future acgioss, existing stockholders may be
diluted and earnings per share may decre
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These factors could have a material adverse affeour business, results of operations, finan@abion or cash flows, particularly in the
case of a larger acquisition or several concurequisitions.

PeopleSofs Customer Assurance Program may expose us to &gl liabilities if triggered. In June 2003, in response to our tender
offer, PeopleSoft implemented what it referredgdtee “customer assurance program” or “CAP”. ThePGAcorporated a provision in
PeopleSoft's standard licensing arrangement thaiguts to contractually burden Oracle, as a resuts acquisition of PeopleSoft, with a
contingent obligation to make payments to Peoplie@aftomers should Oracle fail to take certain ess actions for a fixed period of time
subsequent to the acquisition. The payment obtigativhich typically expires four years from thealaf the contract, is fixed at an amount
generally between two and five times the licengkfast year support fees paid to PeopleSoft inahplicable license transaction. This
purported obligation was not reflected as a liapin PeopleSoft's balance sheet as PeopleSoftumbedt that it could be triggered only
following the consummation of an acquisition. Peduft used six different standard versions of tA® @ver the 18-month period
commencing June 2003. PeopleSoft ceased usingAReo@ December 29, 2004, the date on which we aedja controlling interest in
PeopleSoft. We have concluded that, as of theafdtee PeopleSoft acquisition, the penalty provisiander the CAP represented a
contingent liability of Oracle. The aggregate ptigdrCAP obligation as of May 31, 2006 was $3.9itnil. Unless the CAP provisions are
removed from these licensing arrangements, we texpect the aggregate potential CAP obligatiodetdine substantially until fiscal year
2008 when a significant number of these provisioegin to expire. The last CAP obligation will expon December 31, 2008. We have not
recorded a liability related to the CAP, as we dblelieve it is probable that our post-acquisitativities related to the PeopleSoft product
line will trigger an obligation to make any paymeuirsuant to the CAP.

In addition, while no assurance can be given akdaltimate outcome of litigation, we believe weuld also have substantial defenses with
respect to the legality and enforceability of th&RCcontract provisions in response to any clainekisg payment from Oracle under the C
terms. While we have taken extensive steps to assistomers that we intend to continue developimysupporting the PeopleSoft and JD
Edwards product lines and as of May 31, 2006 we Imet received any claims for CAP payments, Peafte€sistomers may assert claims
CAP payments.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual pesty. We rely on a combination of copyright, paterade secrets, confidentiality
procedures and contractual commitments to protacpmprietary information. Despite our effortsegle measures can only provide limited
protection. Unauthorized third parties may try é@y or reverse engineer portions of our producistieerwise obtain and use our intellectual
property. Any patents owned by us may be invalidiat@cumvented or challenged. Any of our pendinfuture patent applications, whether
or not being currently challenged, may not be idsuith the scope of the claims we seek, if atlalladdition, the laws of some countries do
not provide the same level of protection of ourgpietary rights as do the laws of the United Stafese cannot protect our proprietary
technology against unauthorized copying or usemag not remain competitive.

Third parties may claim we infringe their intelleatl property rights. We periodically receive notices from others cliaignwe are
infringing their intellectual property rights, pdipally patent rights. We expect the number of stlaims will increase as the number of
products and competitors in our industry segmerawg, the functionality of products overlap, and ttolume of issued software patents
continues to increase. Responding to any infringgrolaim, regardless of its validity, could:

* be time-consuming, costly and/or result in litigati

» divert management’s time and attention from devielppur business;

* require us to pay monetary damages or enter iny@tyoand licensing agreements that we would notadly find acceptable;
 require us to stop selling or to redesign certdiouw products; or

* require us to satisfy indemnification obligatioosour customers.
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If a successful claim is made against us and wed@aevelop or license a substitute technology,bausiness, results of operations, financial
condition or cash flows could be adversely affecfeg@atent infringement case is discussed undee [Rdtin our Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements.

We may need to change our pricing models to compeiecessfully. The intensely competitive markets in which we pete can put
pressure on us to reduce our prices. If our conmustoffer deep discounts on certain products, \ag need to lower prices or offer other
favorable terms in order to compete successfullyy such changes would likely reduce margins anddcadversely affect operating results.
Our software license updates and product suppestdee generally priced as a percentage of oulinemse fees. Our competitors may off
lower percentage pricing on product updates angatpwvhich could put pressure on us to furthecalisit our new license prices. Any
broadlybased changes to our prices and pricing policieklocause new software license and services regaouwtecline or be delayed as
sales force implements and our customers adjubketaew pricing policies. Some of our competitoesyrbundle software products for
promotional purposes or as a long-term pricingtasgnaor provide guarantees of prices and produptémentations. These practices could,
over time, significantly constrain the prices theat can charge for our products. In addition, ifdeenot adapt our pricing models to reflect
changes in customer use of our products, our nftwa® license revenues could decrease. Additipnaitreased distribution of applicatic
through application service providers may redueea¥erage price for our products or adversely afitteer sales of our products, reducing
new software license revenues unless we can gffget reductions with volume increases or lowemnsiggy. The increase in open source
software distribution may also cause us to changeuocing models.

We may be unable to compete effectively in a ranfienarkets within the highly competitive softwanedustry. Many vendors develop and
market databases, internet application server ptsdapplication development tools, business aatitins, collaboration products and
business intelligence products that compete withoffierings. In addition, several companies offasibess outsourcing as a competitive
alternative to buying software. Some of these cditgwe have greater financial or technical resositb&n we do. Also, our competitors who
offer business applications and application sepveducts may influence a customer’s purchasingsitatifor the underlying database in an
effort to persuade potential customers not to aequir products. We could lose market share ifomunpetitors introduce new competitive
products, add new functionality, acquire competifproducts, reduce prices or form strategic alkangith other companies. We may also
face increasing competition from open source safimitiatives, in which competitors may providdta@re and intellectual property free.
Existing or new competitors could gain market shar@ny of our markets at our expense.

Our periodic sales force restructurings can be diptive. We continue to rely heavily on our direct salesé. We have in the past
restructured or made other adjustments to our gales in response to management changes, prodanges, performance issues,
acquisitions and other internal and external carsiiions. In the past, sales force restructuriry® lyenerally resulted in a temporary lack of
focus and reduced productivity; these effects coeddir in connection with future acquisitions ariglen restructurings and our revenues could
be negatively affected.

Disruptions of our indirect sales channel could &ft our future operating results Our indirect channel network is comprised priryaof
resellers, system integrators/implementers, coasidt education providers, internet service progideetwork integrators and independent
software vendors. Our relationships with these nbhparticipants are important elements of our reting and sales efforts. Our financial
results could be adversely affected if our conragth channel participants were terminated, if @lationships with channel participants
were to deteriorate, if any of our competitors emto strategic relationships with or acquire gndicant channel participant or if the financ
condition of our channel participants were to weakeéhere can be no assurance that we will be ssitdés maintaining, expanding or
developing our relationships with channel partiaigalf we are not successful, we may lose salpsmpnities, customers and market share.

15



Table of Contents

Charges to earnings resulting from past acquisit®may adversely affect our operating resultéJnder purchase accounting, we allocatt
total purchase price to an acquired company’sargible assets, amortizable intangible assetsraptbicess research and development basec
on their fair values as of the date of the acqoisiand record the excess of the purchase pricetbase fair values as goodwill.

Managemens estimates of fair value are based upon assunspbielieved to be reasonable but which are inhgremitertain. Going forwar

the following factors could result in material ches that would adversely affect our results:

» impairment of goodwill or intangible assets;

» accrual of newly identified pre-merger contingeabilities that are identified subsequent to timalization of the purchase price
allocation; anc

» charges to income to eliminate certain Oracle peeger activities that duplicate those of the aaplitompany or to reduce our cost
structure.

Charges to earnings associated with acquisitioclade amortization of intangible assetspiocess research and development as well as
acquisition related charges, restructuring andkshased compensation associated with assumed atakls. Charges to earnings in any
given period could differ substantially from othpariods based on the timing and size of our fullmquisitions and the extent of integration
activities. See Item 7, “Management’s Discussioth Analysis of Financial Condition and Results ofe@giions—Supplemental Disclosure
Related to Acquisition Accounting” for additionafdrmation about charges to earnings associatddowit recent acquisitions.

We expect to continue to incur additional cost®aiséed with combining the operations of our pregly acquired companies, which may be
substantial. Additional costs may include costemployee redeployment, relocation and retentiariyding salary increases or bonuses,
accelerated amortization of deferred equity comaiémis and severance payments, reorganization su@oof facilities, taxes and terminati

of contracts that provide redundant or conflictsegvices. Some of these costs may have to be aecbior as expenses that would decrease
our net income and earnings per share for the griowhich those adjustments are made.

Our international sales and operations subject wsadditional risks that can adversely affect ouremating results. We derive a substanti
portion of our revenues, and have significant ofiema, outside of the United States. Our intermati@perations include software
development, sales, customer support and shareihiathative service centers. We are subject toreetyaof risks, including those related to
general economic conditions in each country oraegiegulatory changes, political unrest, terroresm the potential for other hostilities,
particularly in areas in which we have significaperations. We face challenges in managing an ag@@on operating in various countries,
which can entail longer payment cycles and diffieslin collecting accounts receivable, overlappargregimes, fluctuations in currency
exchange rates, difficulties in transferring fuffisn certain countries and reduced protectionriteliectual property rights in some countr
We must comply with a variety of international lasrsd regulations, including trade restrictionsaldabor ordinances, changes in tariff rates
and import and export licensing requirements. @ecsss depends, in part, on our ability to antteiplaese risks and manage these
difficulties.

We are a majority shareholder of i-flex solutioimsited, a publicly traded Indian software compaagiused on the banking industry. As the
majority shareholder of an international entity, ave faced with several additional risks, includi@ing subject to local securities regulations
and being unable to exert full control or obtaimaficial and other information on a timely basis.

We may experience foreign currency gains and loss&¥e conduct a portion of our business in currenotber than the United States
dollar. Our revenues and operating results areradieaffected when the dollar strengthens relativether currencies and are positively
affected when the dollar weakens. Changes in theexaf major foreign currencies, particularly ther&, Japanese Yen and British Pound
relative to the United States dollar can signifibaaffect revenues and our operating results.
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Our foreign currency transaction gains and logsesharily related to sublicense fees and otherements among us and our subsidiaries and
distributors, are charged against earnings in ém@g incurred. We enter into foreign exchange fmdvcontracts to hedge certain transaction
and translation exposures in major currenciesyeuvill continue to experience foreign currencyrmgaand losses in certain instances whe

is not possible or cost effective to hedge foraigrrencies.

Oracle On Demand may not be successfulVe offer Oracle On Demand outsourcing service®tw applications and database
technology, delivered either at Oracle or at amustr designated location. Oracle On Demand aldodes several product lines we have
acquired. Our Oracle On Demand business modelragegito evolve and we may not be able to compéetefely, generate significant
revenues or develop Oracle On Demand into a phiéitausiness. This business is subject to a vaoietisks including:

» demand for these services may not meet our expatsat
« we may not be able to operate this business at@ptable profit level,

* we manage critical customer applications, datacthdr confidential information through Oracle Onmisnd and thus would face
increased exposure to significant damage clainisdrevent of system failures or inadequate disastavery or misappropriation of
customer confidential informatiol

» we may face regulatory exposure in certain areels aa data privacy, data security and export canpé, as well as workforce
reduction claims as a result of customers transfigtheir information technology functions to |

 the laws and regulations applicable to hosted semioviders are unsettled, particularly in theaaref privacy and security and use of
offshore resources; changes in these laws couddtadur ability to provide services from or to solmeations and could increase both
the cost and risk associated with providing theises; anc

« our Oracle On Demand offerings may require largedicosts such as for data centers, computerspnretafrastructure and security.

We may be unable to hire enough qualified employeesve may lose key employee§Ve rely on the continued service of our senior
management and other key employees and the hifingvo qualified employees. In the software industingre is substantial and continuous
competition for highly skilled business, producvelepment, technical and other personnel. In aglithcquisitions could cause us to lose
personnel of the acquired companies or at Orackemély experience increased compensation costarthabt offset by either improved
productivity or higher prices. We may not be susfgsn recruiting new personnel and in retainimgl anotivating existing personnel. With
rare exceptions, we do not have long-term employrmenon-competition agreements with our employ®&tsmbers of our senior
management team have left Oracle over the yeais Variety of reasons, and we cannot assure yaduhtbee will not be additional departur
which may be disruptive to our operations.

Part of our total compensation program includeskstgptions. If our stock price performs poorly iaynadversely affect our ability to retain
attract key employees. In addition, since we wipp@nse all stock-based compensation beginningaalfi2007, we may change both our cash
and stock-based compensation practices. Some chdrmges we are considering include the reduatidhé number of employees granted
options, a reduction in the number of options grdreind a change to alternative forms of stock-basatpensation. Any changes in our
compensation practices or changes made by conmsetivaild affect our ability to retain and motivatasting personnel and recruit new
personnel.

We might experience significant errors or securftgws in our products and servicesDespite testing prior to their release, software
products frequently contain errors or security 8aaspecially when first introduced or when newsigars are released. Errors in our software
products could affect the ability of our produaissork with other hardware or software productsjldalelay the development or release of
new products or new
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versions of products and could adversely affectketaaicceptance of our products. If we experienta®por delays in releasing new products
or new versions of products, we could lose revenimeaddition, we run our own business operati@racle On Demand, and other
outsourcing, support and consulting services, arpoaducts and networks and any security flawsxfloited, could affect our ability to
conduct business operations. End users, who rebuoproducts and services for applications thatcaitical to their businesses, may have a
greater sensitivity to product errors and secwitiperabilities than customers for software produgnerally. Software product errors and
security flaws in our products or services coulgase us to product liability, performance and/orraaty claims as well as harm our
reputation, which could impact our future salepmiducts and services. The detection and correofiamy security flaws can be time
consuming and costly.

We may not receive significant revenues from ourri@nt research and development efforts for seveyahrs, if at all. Developing and
localizing software is expensive and the investnieproduct development often involves a long paykbaycle. We have and expect to
continue making significant investments in softwasearch and development and related product apptes. Accelerated product
introductions and short product life cycles reqiigh levels of expenditures for research and agraknt that could adversely affect our
operating results if not offset by revenue increa¥ée believe that we must continue to dedicaigrafecant amount of resources to our
research and development efforts to maintain ompetitive position. However, we do not expect toefee significant revenues from these
investments for several years if at all.

Our sales to government clients subject us to rigkduding early termination, audits, investigatia sanctions and penaltiesWe derive
revenues from contracts with the United States gowent, state and local governments and their odispeagencies, who may terminate n
of these contracts at any time, without cause.

There is increased pressure for governments afdatencies, both domestically and internationatiyseduce spending. Our federal
government contracts are subject to the approvappfopriations being made by the United Stategy€&ms to fund the expenditures under
these contracts. Similarly, our contracts at théesand local levels are subject to governmentifgnduthorizations.

Additionally, government contracts are generallgjsat to audits and investigations which could tesuvarious civil and criminal penalties
and administrative sanctions, including terminatiércontracts, refund of a portion of fees recejfedeiture of profits, suspension of
payments, fines and suspensions or debarment fiamefgovernment business. For example, ther@énding U.S. government
investigation of PeopleSoft’s pricing practicesoptio our acquisition under multiple award schedwetracts. While we do not believe that
this investigation will result in material damage® could be subject to similar investigations aians in the future.

Business disruptions could affect our operating tédts. A significant portion of our research and devebent activities and certain other
critical business operations is concentrated iemadeographic areas. We are a highly automateddssiand a disruption or failure of our
systems could cause delays in completing salepaviding services, including some of our On Demaffdrings. A major earthquake, fire
or other catastrophic event that results in thérdetson or disruption of any of our critical busss or information technology systems could
severely affect our ability to conduct normal besis operations and as a result our future operaswdts could be materially and adversely
affected.

We may have exposure to additional tax liabilitie#As a multinational corporation, we are subjeahttome taxes as well as non-income
based taxes, in both the United States and vaftwagn jurisdictions. Significant judgment is réxpad in determining our worldwide
provision for income taxes and other tax liabitie

In the ordinary course of a global business, tiaeeemany intercompany transactions and calculatidgrese the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. We are regularly under audit by tax auties. Our intercompany transfer pricing is cuathg being reviewed by the IRS and by
foreign tax jurisdictions and will likely be subjec
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to additional audits in the future. We previousigntiated three unilateral Advance Pricing Agreemmerith the IRS that cover many of our
intercompany transfer pricing issues and preclbddRS from making a transfer pricing adjustmerihimithe scope of these agreements.
However, these agreements, which are effectivéidoal years through May 31, 2006, do not coveekdiments of our transfer pricing and do
not bind tax authorities outside the United Staiée.have finalized one bilateral Advance Pricingéament and currently are negotiating an
additional bilateral agreement to cover the pefroch June 1, 2001 through May 31, 2008. There @andguarantee that such negotiations
will result in an agreement.

Although we believe that our tax estimates areaealsle, we cannot assure you that the final detetioin of tax audits or tax disputes will
not be different from what is reflected in our bistal income tax provisions and accruals.

We are also subject to non-income taxes, suchwaslpaales, use, value-added, net worth, propanty goods and services taxes, in both the
United States and various foreign jurisdictions. &e regularly under audit by tax authorities wehpect to these non-income taxes and may
have exposure to additional non-income tax lidb#itOur acquisition activities have increasedram-income tax exposures.

Our stock price could become more volatile and yauwestment could lose valueAll of the factors discussed in this section cbaffect

our stock price. The timing of announcements inghilic market regarding new products, product easbaents or technological advances
by our competitors or us, and any announcementss lf acquisitions, major transactions, or manageciganges could also affect our stock
price. Our stock price is subject to speculatiothm press and the analyst community, changesommmendations or earnings estimates by
financial analysts, changes in investors’ or artalysluation measures for our stock, our credihgs and market trends unrelated to our
performance. A significant drop in our stock prozrild also expose us to the risk of securitiesscdasions lawsuits, which could result in
substantial costs and divert management’s atteatioiresources, which could adversely affect osimass.

Iltem 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments
None.

Item 2. Properties

Our properties consist of owned and leased officdifies for sales, support, research and devetsintonsulting and administrative
personnel. Our headquarters facility consists pfaxamately 2.5 million square feet in Redwood CiBalifornia. We also own or lease offi
facilities for current use consisting of approxisigtl2.2 million square feet in various other légas in the United States and abroad. Due to
our restructuring and merger integration activitiefiscal 2005 and 2006, we have vacated appraeiyd.4 million square feet or 28% of
total owned and leased space. This additional sigagblet or being actively marketed for sublearséisposition.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The material set forth in Note 21 of Notes to Cdidsted Financial Statements in Item 15 of this AairReport on Form 18-is incorporatet
herein by reference.

Item 4. Submission ofMatters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.

19



Table of Contents

PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Isuer Purchases of Equity Securitie

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Globae8eMarket under the symbol “ORCL” and has beedetdaon NASDAQ since our
initial public offering in 1986. According to thegords of our transfer agent, we had 23,121 stddkh®of record as of May 31, 2006. The
majority of our shares are held in approximateB/rillion customer accounts held by brokers aneoihstitutions on behalf of stockholde
However, we believe that the number of total stodttérs is less than 1.3 million due to stockholdeith accounts at more than one
brokerage. The following table sets forth the lowd digh sale price of our common stock, based enast daily sale, in each of our last eight
fiscal quarters.

Fiscal 2006 Fiscal 2005
Low Sale High Sale Low Sale High Sale
Price Price Price Price
Fourth Quarte $12.42 $ 14.9¢ $11.52 $ 13.62
Third Quartel 12.1¢ 13.12 12.6¢€ 14.6:
Second Quarte 11.9¢ 13.6¢4 9.8¢ 13.3¢
First Quarte 12.3¢ 14.0¢ 9.9C 11.9¢

Our policy has been to reinvest earnings to funidréugrowth, acquisitions and to repurchase ourrsomstock pursuant to a program
approved by our Board of Directors. Accordingly, lave not paid cash dividends and do not anticigattaring cash dividends on our
common stock in the foreseeable future, althoughBmard of Directors regularly reviews this matter.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006, we sold agragate of 11,716 shares of our common stock g¢ibédi employees of Oracle EMEA
Limited, an indirect subsidiary of the Company, véte participants in the Oracle Ireland ApprovedfiPEharing Scheme (the Ireland AP
at an aggregate purchase price of approximatel$ $00. We purchased the shares in the open marites aame price the shares were sold
to the Ireland APSS participants and paid custorbesiterage commissions of approximately $1,30®mection with the purchase. There
were no underwriting discounts or commissions innetion with the sale. The Ireland APSS permitelagible employee to receive shares
of common stock in a tax efficient manner as aiporof such employee’s bonus, as well as to couateila portion of their base salary
allowance towards the purchase of additional sharesrtain circumstances. The securities are imedist for the employees for a minimum
of two years. The shares of common stock were @ffand sold in reliance upon Section 4(2) of theu8ges Act of 1933, as amended, and
the safe harbor provided by Rule 903 of RegulaBamder the Securities Act, to employees of OrB&EA Limited who are not “U.S.
Persons” as that term is defined in Regulation S.

Stock Repurchase Progran

In 1992, our Board of Directors approved a progtamepurchase shares of our common stock to reithecdilutive effect of our stock option
and stock purchase plans. The Board has expandedphrchase program several times by either isgrg@dhe authorized number of shares
to be repurchased or by authorizing a fixed dalaount expansion. From the inception of the stegkirchase program to May 31, 2006, a
total of 1.8 billion shares have been repurchasedgproximately $20.7 billion. We did not repursbany shares under this program in our
fourth quarter of fiscal 2006. At May 31, 2006, eppmately $1.6 billion was available to repurchabares of our common stock pursuant to
the stock repurchase program. On June 22, 2006nweunced that we intend to repurchase $1.0 biifasur common stock a quarter in
fiscal 2007 and such repurchases may occur thrtheghse of Rule 10b5-1 trading plans. In July 2006 Board expanded the program such
that $4.0 billion is available for repurchase unither program.

On January 31, 2006, we announced our plan to cepae common stock equivalent to the amount of camstock issued in connection
with the Siebel acquisition. Our Board of Directapproved a separate program (Siebel Programptoakase 140,720,666 shares of our
common stock, which is equivalent to the amourtasimon stock issued to former Siebel stockholdsisf danuary 31, 2006. We
repurchased 122,752,536 shares
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in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 for approxielst$1.7 billion. At May 31, 2006, 17,968,130 shwaveere available for repurchase pursuant
to our Siebel Program.

The following table summarizes the stock repurclaasizity for the three months ending May 31, 2@d@ the approximate dollar value of
shares that may yet be purchased pursuant to aue sépurchase programs:

Approximate
Dollar Value of
Shares that May

Total Number of

Shares
Yet Be

Total Number of Purchased as

Part of Publicly Purchased Unde
Shares Average Price Announced

(in millions, except per share amounts) Purchased Paid Per Share¢ Programs the Programs®)
March 1, 200¢ March 31, 200¢ 21.1 $ 13.7¢ 21.1 $ 3,292.°
April 1, 2006- April 30, 2006 101.% 14.2¢ 101.% 1,839t
May 1, 200€- May 31, 200€ — — — 1,839.t

Total 122.¢ $ 14.1¢ 122.¢

(@ The approximate value of shares that may yet be puechasder our Siebel Program was estimated usingldiseng price of our commu
stock as of May 31, 2006. In July 2006, the Boamteased the authorization for the repurchase anoguch that $4.0 billion is now
available for repurchase under the progr

Iltem 6. Selected Financial Date

The following table sets forth selected financiatadfor the last five years. This selected findmtéa should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and related rinthsded in Item 15 of this Form 10-K. In the lasb years, we have paid an aggregate of
approximately $19.5 billion for our acquisitionsciuding PeopleSoft and Siebel. The results ofamguired companies have been included in
our consolidated financial statements since thespective dates of acquisition.

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share amounts) 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Total revenue $14,38( $11,79¢ $10,15¢  $ 9,47t  $ 9,67¢
Operating incom: 4,73¢ 4,022 3,86¢ 3,44( 3,571
Net income 3,381 2,88¢ 2,681 2,30 2,22¢
Earnings per shal- basic 0.6t 0.5¢ 0.51 0.44 0.4C
Earnings per shar- diluted 0.64 0.5t 0.5C 0.4: 0.3¢
Basic weighted average common shares outstal 5,19¢ 5,13¢ 5,21¢ 5,30z 5,51¢
Diluted weighted average common shares outstar 5,28 5,231 5,32¢ 5,41¢ 5,68¢
Working capital 5,044 38E@ 7,062 5,06¢ 4,76¢
Total assets 29,02® 20,687 12,76: 10,96° 10,80(
Short-term borrowings and current portion of loegsi debt 15¢ 2,694 9 157 —
Long-term debt, net of current portion 5,735 15¢ 162 17E 20¢

Stockholder equity 15,01 10,831 7,99 6,32( 6,117
(@ Total working capital increased as of May 31, 2006 prilmalue to the issuance of $5.75 billion in longriedebt and increased cash
flows from operations. See Note 5 of Notes to Cbdated Financial Statements for additional infotima on our borrowings

@ Total working capital decreased as of May 31, 2005 piiigndue to cash paid to acquire PeopleSoft ancharease in short-term
borrowings.

@) Total assets increased as of May 31, 2006 and 2005 piyrdae to goodwill and intangible assets acquiireth acquisitions, principally
Siebel in fiscal 2006 and PeopleSoft in fiscal 208&e Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financigk8tants for additional information on
our acquisitions

@ Short-term borrowings increased due to amounts borrowed umgiecommercial paper program and a loan facilitydwed by Oracle
Technology Company, a who-owned subsidiary of the Company. We repaid thesmimings in fiscal 200€
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Item 7. Managemen’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

We begin Management's Discussion and Analysis oafg¢ial Condition and Results of Operations witltoaarview of our key operating
business segments and significant trends. Thisv@weiis followed by a discussion of our criticalkcacinting policies and estimates that we
believe are important to understanding the assam@tind judgments incorporated in our reportechfiied results. We then provide a more
detailed analysis of our financial condition andulés of operations.

Business Overview

We are the world’s largest enterprise software camgpWe are organized into two businesses, softeadeservices, which are further
divided into five operating segments. Each of thegserating segments has unique characteristicéaaed different opportunities and
challenges. Although we report our actual resultdmited States dollars, we conduct a significarmhber of transactions in currencies other
than United States dollars. Therefore, we presamstant currency information to provide a framewimikassessing how our underlying
business performed excluding the effect of foraigrrency rate fluctuations. An overview of our fieperating segments follows.

Software Busines

Our software business is comprised of two operaaggments: (1) new software license revenues grab{Rvare license updates and product
support revenues. We expect that our software basirevenues will continue to increase, which shallbw us to improve margins and
profits and continue to make investments in reseand development.

New Software License« We license our database, middleware and appitagoftware to businesses of many sizes, govelnagencies,
educational institutions and resellers. The grawthew software license revenues is affected bysttength of general economic and busil
conditions, governmental budgetary constraintsctrapetitive position of our software products aeduisitions. The new software license
business is also characterized by long sales cyElestiming of a few large software license trantissms can substantially affect our quarterly
new software license revenues. Since our new sodtliGense revenues in a particular quarter cadiffieult to predict as a result of the
timing of a few large software license transactjams believe that analysis of new software revemurea trailing 4-quarter period provides
more visibility into the underlying fundamental feemance of our software revenues than analysigiafterly revenues. New software
license margins have been affected by amortizationtangible assets associated with acquisitions.

Competition in the software business is intense.@oal is to maintain a first or second positioreach of our software product categories
certain industry segments as well as to grow ofiwsoe revenues faster than our competitors. Wiebelthat the features and functionalit
our software products are as strong as they hamebmen. We have focused on lowering the total @ostvnership of our software products
by improving integration, decreasing installationds, lowering administration costs and improving ¢ase of use. Reducing the total cost of
ownership of our products provides our custometh wihigher return on their investment, which whkdve will create more demand and
provide us with a competitive advantage. We hase abntinued to focus on improving the overall gualf our software products and

service levels. We believe this will lead to higlbestomer satisfaction and loyalty and help useachour goal of becoming our customers’
leading technology advisor.

Software License Updates and Product Suppt Customers that purchase software license updatkproduct support are granted rights to
unspecified product upgrades and maintenance edéssued during the support period, as well dmieal support assistance. Substantially
all of our customers renew their software licengdaies and product support contracts annuallyellyegliminating the need to repurchase
new software licenses when new upgrades are rele@be growth of software license updates and proswpport revenues is influenced by
four factors: (1) the support contract base of canigs acquired (2) the renewal rate of the supgmntract base, (3) the amount of new
support contracts sold in connection with the séilleew software licenses and (4) inflationary suppace increases.
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Software license updates and product support resenhich represent approximately 46% of our taaénues on a trailing 4-quarter basis,
is our highest margin business unit. Support margirer the last trailing 4-quarters were 89%, aswbant for 74% of our total margins over
the same respective period. We believe that soétliegnse updates and product support revenuemargins will continue to grow for the
following reasons:

» Acquisitions over the past two years have signifilyaincreased our support contract base, as wehe portfolio of products available
to be licensec

» Substantially all customers purchase license updatd product support subscriptions when they leuy software licenses, resulting in
a further increase in our support subscription mtbase. Even if license revenue growth wasdtzftware license updates and product
support revenues would continue to grow assumingwel and cancellation rates remained relativehstant since substantially all n
software license transactions add to the suppaoitract base

» Substantially all of our customers, including cusérs from acquired companies, renew their supmortracts when eligible for
renewal.

» When support contract renewals are negotiatedstiofiary price increases are assessed, where aplplic

We record adjustments to reduce support obligai@ssmed in business acquisitions to their estoirfaie value at the acquisition dates. A
result, we did not recognize software license uggland product support revenues related to suppofttacts in the amount of $391 million
and $320 million that would have been otherwisemed by acquired businesses as independent erititfiscal 2006 and 2005, respectiv:
To the extent underlying support contracts arewede we will recognize the revenue for the fulluabf the support contracts over the
support periods, the majority of which are one year

Services Busines

Our services business consists of consulting, Ond»el and education revenues. Our services businbgd) represents 20% of our total
revenues on a trailing 4-quarter basis, has siganifly lower margins than our software business.

Consulting: Consulting revenues tend to lag software revebyeseveral quarters since consulting servicgaji€hased, are typically
performed after the purchase of new software lieen€onsulting revenues have been negatively iragantrecent periods for the following
reasons:

» Continued attrition of personnel due to a demamdeohnical talent in certain markets, particulanyhe United States.
» A shift in the mix of resources to lower cost caiet, which has resulted in a decrease in averdlgelrates.

» Our decision to work more closely with partners vgeaform implementations of our software.

Despite these trends, we expect consulting revetouesrease in fiscal 2007, primarily due to acr@ase in application implementations
related to acquired products and the addition edqrenel acquired from Siebel.

On Demand: On Demand includes our Oracle On Demand ‘softwaara service’ and outsourcing offerings as welésanced Customer
Services. We believe that our On Demand offerirrgsigde an additional opportunity for customersawér their total cost of ownership and
can therefore provide us with a competitive advget&Ve will continue to make investments in Ord&@feDemand to support current and
future revenue growth, which may negatively imdatire On Demand margins.

Education: The purpose of our education services is to &rémhance the usability of our software produgtelr customers and to create
opportunities to grow software revenues. Educatimenues have been impacted by personnel redudtians customers’ information
technology departments, tighter controls over @isonary spending and greater use of outsourcihdisns. Despite these trends, we expect
education revenues to increase in fiscal 2007, gmilyndue to an increase in customer training anubke of our acquired application products.
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Operating Margins

We continually focus on improving our operating gias by providing our customers with superior pretdiand services as well as improy
our cost structure by hiring personnel in countvibere advanced technical expertise is availablevwadr costs. As part of this effort, we
continually evaluate our workforce and make adjestta where we deem appropriate. When we make atjuass to our workforce, we may
incur expenses associated with workforce reductibatsdelay the benefit of a more efficient workfeistructure, but we believe that the
fundamental shift towards globalization is cru¢@maintaining a long-term competitive cost stroetu

Acquisitions
An active acquisition program is an important elatr@ our corporate strategy. In the last two yeaes have paid an aggregate of $19.5
billion for our acquisitions, which included thdlfiwing:

* In January 2006, we acquired Siebel, a provideusfomer relationship management software for aqmiately $6.1 billion. We
completed the substantial majority of our planreghl-entity mergers, information system conversemma integration of Siebel’s
operations and expect to finalize all other planiméegration activities in the next three mont

 In January 2005, we acquired PeopleSoft, a prowiflenterprise application software products fqeragimately $11.1 billion. We
completed our planned legal-entity mergers, infaromasystem conversions and integration of PeogtéSoperations in the first half
fiscal 2006.

We believe our recent acquisitions support our {targ strategic direction, strengthen our competiposition, particularly in the
applications market, expand our customer base andde greater scale to increase our investmerdgsaarch and development to accelerate
innovation, increase stockholder value and groweauinings. We expect to continue to acquire congsapiroducts, services and
technologies. See Note 2 of Notes to Consolidabedr€ial Statements for additional information tethto our recent acquisitions.

We believe we can fund additional acquisitions waitin internally available cash and marketable sgesy cash generated from operations,
amounts available under our commercial paper progaalditional borrowings or from the issuance afiidnal securities. We estimate the
financial impact of any potential acquisition witgard to earnings, operating margin, cash flowratarn on invested capital targets before
deciding to move forward with an acquisition.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with U.S. generally accepted accogmtiinciples (GAAP). These
accounting principles require us to make certafimeges, judgments and assumptions. We believahkagstimates, judgments and
assumptions upon which we rely are reasonable hgssuinformation available to us at the time thase estimates, judgments and
assumptions are made. These estimates, judgmeahtsanmptions can affect the reported amountsset@and liabilities as of the date of
financial statements as well as the reported ansoafitevenues and expenses during the periodsmieesd o the extent there are material
differences between these estimates, judgmentssongtions and actual results, our financial statgswill be affected. The accounting
policies that reflect our more significant estinsaf@dgments and assumptions and which we believéha most critical to aid in fully
understanding and evaluating our reported finamewllts include the following:

* Business Combinations
» PeopleSoft Customer Assurance Program
» Goodwill

» Revenue Recognition
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» Accounting for Income Taxes
» Legal Contingencies
» Stock-Based Compensation

» Allowances for Doubtful Accounts and Returns

In many cases, the accounting treatment of a pdati¢ransaction is specifically dictated by GAARIadoes not require management’s
judgment in its application. There are also areaghich manageme’s judgment in selecting among available alterregiwould not produce
a materially different result. Our senior managentas reviewed these critical accounting policied eelated disclosures with the Finance
and Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.

Business Combination

In accordance with business combination accountiggallocate the purchase price of acquired congsatoi the tangible and intangible as
acquired and liabilities assumed as well as toroe@ss research and development based on theadésti fair values. We engage third-party
appraisal firms to assist management in determithiedair values of certain assets acquired arilitias assumed. Such valuations require
management to make significant estimates and aggumapespecially with respect to intangible assets

Management makes estimates of fair value based aggmptions believed to be reasonable. Theseatstirare based on historical
experience and information obtained from the mamege of the acquired companies and are inherenttgnain. Critical estimates in
valuing certain of the intangible assets includedre not limited to: future expected cash flowsnirlicense sales, maintenance agreements,
consulting contracts, customer contracts and aedquleveloped technologies and patents; expecteés ttodevelop the in-process research
and development into commercially viable productd astimated cash flows from the projects when detag; the acquired compamsybran:
awareness and market position, as well as assumspatoout the period of time the acquired brand auifitinue to be used in the combined
company’s product portfolio; and discount ratesahlitipated events and circumstances may occuthwhay affect the accuracy or validity
of such assumptions, estimates or actual results.

In connection with purchase price allocations, wingate the fair value of the support obligatiosstaned in connection with acquisitions.
The estimated fair value of the support obligatisndetermined utilizing a cost build-up approathe cost build-up approach determines fair
value by estimating the costs related to fulfillimg obligations plus a normal profit margin. Tiséireated costs to fulfill the support
obligations are based on the historical directxosated to providing the support services antbtoect any errors in the software products
acquired. We do not include any costs associatduseiling efforts or research and developmenherrelated fulfilment margins on these
costs. Profit associated with selling effort islexled because the acquired entities would haveluded the selling effort on the support
contracts prior to the acquisition date. The esiti@aesearch and development costs are not incindbé fair value determination, as these
costs are not deemed to represent a legal obligatithe time of acquisition. The sum of the castd operating profit approximates, in
theory, the amount that we would be required toa#hyird party to assume the support obligation.

As a result, we did not recognize software licams#ates and product support revenues related fosugontracts in the amount of $391
million and $320 million that would have been othise recorded by acquired businesses as indepeedtii¢s in fiscal 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Historically, substantially all ofrocustomers, including customers from acquired camigs, renew their contracts when the
contract is eligible for renewal. To the extentsaeinderlying support contracts are renewed, wiaedbgnize the revenue for the full value
of the support contracts over the support peritismajority of which are one year. Had we included estimated selling and research and
development activities, and the associated mamginrispecified product upgrades and enhancemebts poovided under our assumed
support arrangements, the fair value of the supgaitations would have been significantly highwari what we have recorded and we would
have recorded a higher amount of software licepsaies and product support revenue historicallyiarfiature periods related to these
assumed contracts.

25



Table of Contents

Other significant estimates associated with th@awting for acquisitions include restructuring sofestructuring costs are primarily
comprised of severance costs, costs of consolgldtiplicate facilities and contract terminationtsoRestructuring expenses are based upon
plans that have been committed to by managementiioh are subject to refinement. To estimate vestiring expenses, management
utilizes assumptions of the number of employeeswiaalld be involuntarily terminated and of futumests to operate and eventually vacate
duplicate facilities. Estimated restructuring exgenmay change as management executes the apptameBecreases to the cost estimates
of executing the currently approved plans assotiaiéh pre-merger activities of the companies wguae are recorded as an adjustment to
goodwill indefinitely, whereas increases to theneates are recorded as an adjustment to goodwilhgihe purchase price allocation period
(generally within one year of the acquisition dateyl as operating expenses thereafter. Changestiestimates of executing the currently
approved plans associated with our pre-mergeriet\are recorded in restructuring expenses.

For a given acquisition, we may identify certaie4aicquisition contingencies. If, during the purehpsce allocation period, we are able to
determine the fair value of a pre-acquisition cageincy, we will include that amount in the purchpsee allocation. If, as of the end of the
purchase price allocation period, we are unabtietermine the fair value of a pagquisition contingency, we will evaluate wheth@irtclude
an amount in the purchase price allocation baseahather it is probable a liability had been inearand whether an amount can be
reasonably estimated. After the end of the purchase allocation period, any adjustment that rssiubm a pre-acquisition contingency will
be included in our operating results in the perfodhich the adjustment is determined.

PeopleSoft Customer Assurance Progre

As discussed in Note 16 of Notes to Consolidateduitial Statements, in June 2003, in responserttender offer, PeopleSoft implemented
what it referred to as the “customer assurancerpmgor “CAP.” The CAP incorporated a provisionReopleSoft's standard licensing
arrangement that purports contractually to burdeacl®, as a result of our acquisition of PeopleSwath a contingent obligation to make
payments to PeopleSoft customers should we failkke certain business actions for a fixed periddctvtypically expires four years from the
date of the contract. We have concluded that, éseoflate of the acquisition, the penalty provisiander the CAP represent a contingent
liability of Oracle. We have not recorded a lialyilielated to the CAP, as we do not believe itr@pble that our post-acquisition activities
related to the PeopleSoft and JD Edwards produes lwill trigger an obligation to make any paymgumtsuant to the CAP. The maximum
potential penalty under the CAP as of May 31, 28@8 $3.5 billion. Unless the CAP provisions areoeetd from these licensing
arrangements, we do not expect the aggregate @it€AP obligation to decline substantially untgdal year 2008 when these provisions
begin to expire. While no assurance can be givan # ultimate outcome of potential litigatione Welieve we would also have substantial
defenses with respect to the legality and enforitigabf the CAP contract provisions in responsetty claims seeking payment from Oracle
under the CAP terms. If we determine in the futhia a payment pursuant to the CAP is probablegstienated liability would be recorded
our operating results in the period in which suability is determined.

Goodwill

We review goodwill for impairment annually and wikger events or changes in circumstances indicataitying value may not be
recoverable in accordance with FASB Statement Mg, Goodwill and Other Intangible Asset3he provisions of Statement 142 require that
a two-step impairment test be performed on goodmilthe first step, we compare the fair value adlereporting unit to its carrying value.
Our reporting units are consistent with the regae@egments identified in Note 15 of the Note€tmsolidated Financial Statements. If the
fair value of the reporting unit exceeds the camgyalue of the net assets assigned to that wogwill is considered not impaired and we are
not required to perform further testing. If thergarg value of the net assets assigned to the tiggaunit exceeds the fair value of the
reporting unit, then we must perform the second efe¢he impairment test in order to determineithplied fair value of the reporting unit's
goodwill. If the carrying value of a reporting urigoodwill exceeds its implied fair value, then weuld record an impairment loss equal to
the difference.
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Determining the fair value of a reporting unitisigmental in nature and involves the use of sigaifi estimates and assumptions. These
estimates and assumptions include revenue growdh amd operating margins used to calculate peajefature cash flows, risk-adjusted
discount rates, future economic and market conitand determination of appropriate market compasaliVe base our fair value estimates
on assumptions we believe to be reasonable buatbatnpredictable and inherently uncertain. Actutalre results may differ from those
estimates. In addition, we make certain judgmentsassumptions in allocating shared assets anititiehto determine the carrying values
for each of our reporting units. Our most recemtuah goodwill impairment analysis, which was penied during the fourth quarter of fiscal
2006, did not result in an impairment charge.

Revenue Recoghnitio

We derive revenues from the following sources:s@jware, which includes new software license afthare license updates and product
support revenues, and (2) services, which incluaesalting, On Demand and education revenues.

New software license revenues represent fees eforadgranting customers licenses to use our datgbaiddleware and applicatio
software, and exclude revenues derived from softweense updates, which are included in softwiaemse updates and product support.
While the basis for software license revenue reitimgmis substantially governed by the provisiofi$Statement of Position No. 97-2,
Software Revenue Recognitiossued by the American Institute of Certified FuBccountants, we exercise judgment and use estisin
connection with the determination of the amoundaffware and services revenues to be recognizeddh accounting period.

For software license arrangements that do not regignificant modification or customization of thederlying software, we recognize new
software license revenue when: (1) we enter in&mally binding arrangement with a customer forltbense of software; (2) we deliver the
products; (3) customer payment is deemed fixedeterdhinable and free of contingencies or signifiearcertainties; and (4) collection is
probable. Substantially all of our new softwarefise revenues are recognized in this manner.

The vast majority of our software license arrangaiméclude software license updates and prodympiat, which are recognized ratably
over the term of the arrangement, typically onery8aftware license updates provide customers mgthits to unspecified software product
upgrades, maintenance releases and patches rethagggithe term of the support period. Producipsupincludes internet access to techr
content, as well as internet and telephone acogsshnical support personnel. Software licenseatgedand product support are generally
priced as a percentage of the net new softwaredeéees. Substantially all of our customers pgelmth software license updates and
product support when they acquire new softwarenies. In addition, substantially all of our custosmenew their software license updates
and product support contracts annually.

Many of our software arrangements include consyiimplementation services sold separately undesuting engagement contracts.
Consulting revenues from these arrangements aerggnaccounted for separately from new softwarenise revenues because the
arrangements qualify as service transactions asedein SOP 97-2. The more significant factors abered in determining whether the
revenue should be accounted for separately inchel@ature of services (i.e., consideration of Whlethe services are essential to the
functionality of the licensed product), degreeiskyavailability of services from other vendoiigsjing of payments and impact of milestones
or acceptance criteria on the realizability of sloftware license fee. Revenues for consulting sesvare generally recognized as the services
are performed. If there is a significant uncertambout the project completion or receipt of paytrfenthe consulting services, revenue is
deferred until the uncertainty is sufficiently régal. We estimate the proportional performanceartracts with fixed or “not to exceed” fees
on a monthly basis utilizing hours incurred to dagea percentage of total estimated hours to cdenfiie project. We recognize no more than
90% of the milestone or total contract amount ysrilject acceptance is obtained. If we do not lmsefficient basis to measure progress
towards completion, revenue is recognized
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when we receive final acceptance from the custolvéen total cost estimates exceed revenues, waabar the estimated losses
immediately using cost estimates that are based apaverage fully burdened daily rate applicabléné consulting organization delivering
the services. The complexity of the estimation psscand factors relating to the assumptions, askisuncertainties inherent with the
application of the proportional performance metbhbdccounting affect the amounts of revenue aratedlexpenses reported in our
consolidated financial statements. A nhumber ofrmakand external factors can affect our estimates ding labor rates, utilization and
efficiency variances and specification and testeguirement changes.

If an arrangement does not qualify for separatewaating of the software license and consultinggeations, then new software license
revenue is generally recognized together with tiresalting services based on contract accountinggusither the percentage-oémpletion o
completed-contract method. Contract accountingdi@d to any arrangements: (1) that include nless or customer specific acceptance
criteria that may affect collection of the softwéicense fees; (2) where services include significaodification or customization of the
software; (3) where significant consulting serviaes provided for in the software license contweithout additional charge or are
substantially discounted; or (4) where the softWaense payment is tied to the performance of ahimg services.

On Demand is comprised of Oracle On Demand and #aché Customer Services. Oracle On Demand providdts-featured software and
hardware management and maintenance servicesrfdatabase, middleware and applications softwadeaAced Customer Services are
earned by providing customers configuration andoperance analysis, personalized support and aronsalte technical services. Revenues
from On Demand services are recognized over time téthe service contract, which is generally oaary

Education revenues include instructor-led, medisetdaand internet-based training in the use of oedyrts. Education revenues are
recognized as the classes or other education wdfeare delivered.

For arrangements with multiple elements, we allcavenue to each element of a transaction basmditgpfair value as determined by
“vendor specific objective evidence.” Vendor spiecifbjective evidence of fair value for all elem®&nf an arrangement is based upon the
normal pricing and discounting practices for thpeeducts and services when sold separately ansbftware license updates and product
support services, is additionally measured by ¢émewal rate offered to the customer. We may maualifypricing practices in the future,
which could result in changes in our vendor spedfjective evidence of fair value for these undeted elements. As a result, our future
revenue recognition for multiple element arrangetmenuld differ significantly from our historicatsults.

We defer revenue for any undelivered elementsracaognize revenue when the product is delivereaer the period in which the service is
performed, in accordance with our revenue recagmppiolicy for such element. If we cannot objectvéétermine the fair value of any
undelivered element included in bundled softwar sarvice arrangements, we defer revenue ungll@thents are delivered and services
have been performed, or until fair value can oljett be determined for any remaining undelivertheents. When the fair value of a
delivered element has not been established, wehasesidual method to record revenue if the falug of all undelivered elements is
determinable. Under the residual method, the faliner of the undelivered elements is deferred aaddmaining portion of the arrangement
fee is allocated to the delivered elements anddegnized as revenue.

Substantially all of our software license arrangetaelo not include acceptance provisions. Howeaf/acceptance provisions exist as part of
public policy, for example in agreements with gaweent entities when acceptance periods are regayréalv, or within previously executed
terms and conditions that are referenced in theentiagreement and are short-term in nature, weédedor a sales return allowance in
accordance with FASB Statement No. B&venue Recognition when Right of Return Exi$tacceptance provisions are long-term in nature
or are not included as standard terms of an arraegeor if we cannot reasonably estimate the imddef returns, revenue is recognized
upon the earlier of receipt of written customeregtance or expiration of the acceptance period.
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We also evaluate arrangements with governmentaiesntontaining “fiscal funding” or “terminatiorof convenience” provisions, when such
provisions are required by law, to determine thabpbility of possible cancellation. We consider tiple factors, including the history with
the customer in similar transactions, the “esstnga” of the software licenses and the planning, budgetimd approval processes underte
by the governmental entity. If we determine upoacerion of these arrangements that the likelihdatba-acceptance is remote, we then
recognize revenue once all of the criteria desdriddmove have been met. If such a determinationatdrenmade, revenue is recognized upon
the earlier of cash receipt or approval of the igpple funding provision by the governmental entity

We assess whether fees are fixed or determinathe ditme of sale and recognize revenue if all otBeenue recognition requirements are
met. Our standard payment terms are net 30; howtarens may vary based on the country in whichatiigement is executed. Payments that
are due within six months are generally deemecetiided or determinable based on our successfléatain history on such arrangements,
and thereby satisfy the required criteria for rex@recognition.

While most of our arrangements include short-teaynpent terms, we have a standard practice of prayidng-term financing to credit
worthy customers through our financing divisiomd fiscal 1989, when our financing division wasifed, we have established a history of
collection, without concessions, on these receaablith payment terms that generally extend ujvtoyears from the contract date. Provi
all other revenue recognition criteria have beet, me recognize new software license revenueshfesd arrangements upon delivery, net of
any payment discounts from financing transactidvis.have generally sold receivables financed thraugHinancing division on a non-
recourse basis to third party financing instituiowe account for the sale of these receivablésws sales” as defined in FASB Statement
No. 140,Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Finandakets and Extinguishments of Liabilities

Our customers include several of our suppliers@nthre occasion, we have purchased goods or esrfac our operations from these
vendors at or about the same time that we havedastour software to these same companies (a “@@mt ransaction”). Software license
agreements that occur within a three-month timépgdrom the date we have purchased goods or sfiom that same customer are
reviewed for appropriate accounting treatment aadasure. When we acquire goods or services framstomer, we negotiate the purchase
separately from any software license transactibterens we consider to be at arm’s length, andeséit¢ purchase in cash. We recognize new
software license revenue from Concurrent Transastifall of our revenue recognition criteria aretrand the goods and services acquired
are necessary for our current operations.

During the second quarter of fiscal 2006, we recghnew software license revenues of approximai@8/million from a supplier. During
the third quarter of fiscal 2006, we negotiatedd¢quire goods and services from this supplier avaized terms of the purchase. The valu
the goods and services we will acquire from thigpdier under this agreement will total approximat®20 million over the next five years.

Accounting for Income Taxe:

Significant judgment is required in determining eorldwide income tax provision. In the ordinaryucse of a global business, there are
many transactions and calculations where the ulértex outcome is uncertain. Some of these unoéigaiarise as a consequence of revenue
sharing and cost reimbursement arrangements anetatga entities, the process of identifying iterhsewenue and expense that qualify for
preferential tax treatment, and segregation ofijorand domestic income and expense to avoid ddakégion. Although we believe that our
estimates are reasonable, the final tax outcontieese matters could be different from that whicreffected in our historical income tax
provisions and accruals. Such differences coule llamaterial effect on our income tax provision aatlincome in the period in which such
determination is made.

Our effective tax rate includes the impact of dertandistributed foreign earnings for which no Ut&kes have been provided because such
earnings are planned to be indefinitely reinvesigidide the United States.
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Remittances of foreign earnings to the U.S. ararpd based on projected cash flow, working capitdl investment needs of foreign and
domestic operations. Based on these assumptionsstimeate the amount that will be distributed ® thS. and provide U.S. federal taxes on
these amounts. Material changes in our estimatglsl ampact our effective tax rate.

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our defetax assets to the amount that is more likedy thot to be realized. In order for us to
realize our deferred tax assets, we must be algerterate sufficient taxable income in those juciszhs where the deferred tax assets are
located. We consider future market growth, foreméstarnings, future taxable income, the mix of iegshin the jurisdictions in which we
operate and prudent and feasible tax planningegfies in determining the need for a valuation adloge. In the event we were to determine
that we would not be able to realize all or parbof net deferred tax assets in the future, anstjent to the deferred tax assets would be
charged to earnings in the period in which we nmleh determination. Likewise, if we later deterniinat it is more likely than not that the
net deferred tax assets would be realized, we wawerse the applicable portion of the previoustyjued valuation allowance.

We calculate our current and deferred tax provisiased on estimates and assumptions that couét #liéim the actual results reflected in
income tax returns filed during the subsequent.y&djustments based on filed returns are generattprded in the period when the tax
returns are filed and the global tax implications lenown.

The amount of income tax we pay is subject to amgaiudits by federal, state and foreign tax autiestiwhich often result in proposed
assessments. Our estimate of the potential outéonaay uncertain tax issue is highly judgmentak Wélieve we have adequately provided
for any reasonably foreseeable outcome relatelteteet matters. However, our future results may dechavorable or unfavorable adjustments
to our estimated tax liabilities in the period Hesessments are made or resolved, audits are dosdten statutes of limitation on potential
assessments expire. Additionally, the jurisdictionghich our earnings or deductions are realizeg differ from our current estimates. As a
result, our effective tax rate may fluctuate sigmiftly on a quarterly basis.

As part of our accounting for business combinatisesne of the purchase price is allocated to gobdwil intangible assets. Impairment
charges associated with goodwill are generallytaoteductible and will result in an increased @ffe income tax rate in the quarter the
impairment is recorded. Amortization expense asgediwith acquired intangible assets is generaltytax deductible; however, deferred
taxes have been recorded for non-deductible anatidiz expense as part of the purchase price aitocat/e have taken into account the
allocation of these identified intangibles amonifiedent taxing jurisdictions, including those witbminal or zero percent tax rates, in
establishing the related deferred tax liabilitieeome tax contingencies existing as of the actioisdates of the acquired companies are
evaluated quarterly and any adjustments are redasl@n adjustment to goodwill.

Legal Contingencie:

We are currently involved in various claims andalggroceedings. Quarterly, we review the statusagh significant matter and assess our
potential financial exposure. If the potential Iésm any claim or legal proceeding is considerszbpble and the amount can be reasonably
estimated, we accrue a liability for the estimdtes$. Significant judgment is required in both degermination of probability and the
determination as to whether an exposure is reagpratimable. Because of uncertainties relatethése matters, accruals are based only on
the best information available at the time. As &ddal information becomes available, we reasdesgotential liability related to our pend
claims and litigation and may revise our estimafesh revisions in the estimates of the potenraailities could have a material impact on
our results of operations and financial position.
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Stock-Based Compensation

Up until May 31, 2006, we measured compensatioresp for our stockased incentive programs using the intrinsic vata¢hod prescribe
by Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. Z&%counting for Stock Issued to Employebsader this method, we did not record
compensation expense when stock options were gramiigible participants as long as the exerpisee was not less than the fair market
value of the stock when the option was grantedckordance with FASB Statement No. 128¢ounting for Stock-Based Compensatiand
FASB Statement No. 148ccounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Trans#i@hDisclosure we disclosed our pro forma net income or
loss and net income or loss per share as if thevddile-based method had been applied in meascoimpensation expense for our stock-
based incentive programs.

We were required to adopt the provisions of FAS&&hent 123(R)Share-Based Paymenin the first quarter of fiscal 2007. Although the
adoption of Statement 123(R)’s fair value methaosl @ adverse impact on our balance sheet or tasal ftows, it affects our operating
expenses, net income and earnings per share. Tred affects of adopting Statement 123(R) will deghen numerous factors including the
amounts of share-based payments granted in theefuhe valuation model we use to value futureestiamsed payments to employees and
estimated forfeiture rates. We estimate that stided compensation expense will reduce dilutedregeiper share by $0.02 to $0.03 in fis
2007.

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts and Returr

We make judgments as to our ability to collect tntding receivables and provide allowances foptrion of receivables when collection
becomes doubtful. Provisions are made based uppedafic review of all significant outstanding inwes. For those invoices not specifically
reviewed, provisions are recorded at differingsat@sed upon the age of the receivable. In datergithese percentages, we analyze our
historical collection experience and current ecoicdnends. If the historical data we use to caltauthe allowance for doubtful accounts does
not reflect the future ability to collect outstangireceivables, additional provisions for doub#atounts may be needed and the future result:
of operations could be materially affected.

We also record a provision for estimated salegmstand allowances on product and service relatied $n the same period the related
revenues are recorded. These estimates are baséstancal sales returns, analysis of credit metat and other known factors. If the
historical data we use to calculate these estintie®t properly reflect future returns, then angein the allowances would be made in the
period in which such a determination is made andmaes in that period could be materially affected.
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Results of Operations

The fluctuations in operating results of Oracldéiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005 are generally  acquisitions, principally our
acquisition of PeopleSoft in the third quarterie€él 2005, and, to a lesser extent, the acquisitfdSiebel in the third quarter of fiscal 2006
and Retek, Inc. in the fourth quarter of fiscal 200

In our discussion of changes in our results of apens from fiscal 2006 compared to fiscal 2005,quantify the contribution of PeopleSoft,
Siebel and Retek products to growth in new softliaense revenues, the amount of revenues asseidgtte PeopleSoft and Siebel software
license updates and product support and On Denamitss and present supplemental disclosure retatadquisition accounting where
applicable. Although certain revenues were quanttié, we are unable to identify consulting and ation revenues of Siebel in our fourth
quarter of fiscal 2006 as well as allocate cost®ciated with the PeopleSoft and Siebel produalssanvices in fiscal 2006 because the
substantial majority of former PeopleSoft and Sialdes and services personnel were fully integratt our existing operations. We caut
readers that, while pre- and post-acquisition camapas as well as the quantified amounts themsehagsprovide indications of general
trends, the information has inherent limitationstfee following reasons:

» The quantification cannot address the substarffietts attributable to our sales force integratdiorts, in particular the effect of havi
a single sales force offer the Oracle and PeoptgBotluct families on a neutral basis and the irsggn of Siebel into our CRM sales
force. The commissions earned by our integratezsdalce in these integrations did not vary basethe application product family
sold. We believe that if our sales forces had eetrbintegrated, the relative mix of Oracle, Peopliedhd Siebel products sold would
have been differen

» The acquisitions of PeopleSoft and Siebel did estlt in our entering a new line of business odpod category. Therefore, we
provided multiple products with substantially sianifeatures and functionalit

» Although substantially all of our customers, indhglcustomers from acquired companies, renew twgitracts when the contract is
eligible for renewal, amounts shown as supportrdeferevenue in our supplemental disclosure relatetquisition accounting are not
necessarily indicative of revenue improvements weaghieve upon contract renewal to the extentauers do not renev

Constant Currency Presentation

We compare the percent change in the results frogrperiod to another period in this annual repsitigiconstant currency disclosure. We
present constant currency information to provideamework for assessing how our underlying busieegerformed excluding the effect of
foreign currency rate fluctuations. To present thisrmation, current and prior year results fotites reporting in currencies other than
United States dollars are converted into UnitedeStdollars at the exchange rate in effect on Mgy2805, which was the last day of our
prior fiscal year, rather than the actual exchamades in effect during the respective periods.d@mple, if an entity reporting in Euros had
revenues of 1.0 million Euros from products soldvay 31, 2006 and May 31, 2005, our financial steets would reflect revenues of $1.27
million in fiscal 2006 (using 1.27 as the excharate) and $1.25 million in fiscal 2005 (using 1&5the exchange rate). The constant
currency presentation would translate the fisc@&2@sults using the fiscal 2005 exchange rateratidate, in this example, no change in
revenues during the periods. In each of the taidé®swv, we present the percent change based on aesudts as reported and based on
constant currency.
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Total Revenues and Operating Expenses
Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2006 Actual  Constant 2005 Actual  Constant 2004
Total Revenues by Geograph
Americas $ 765z 32% 31% $ 579 16% 16% $ 4,98¢
EMEA @ 4,70¢ 10% 15% 4,28¢ 17% 9% 3,671
Asia Pacific 2,02( 18% 21% 1,712 15% 10% 1,49¢
Total revenue 14,380 22% 23% 11,79¢ 16%  12% 10,15¢
Total Operating Expenses 9,644 24%  25% 1771 24% 20% 6,292
Total Operating Margin $ 4,73¢ 18% 20% $ 4,022 4% 1% $ 3,864
Total Operating Margin % 33% 34% 38%
% Revenues by Geography:
Americas 53% 49% 49%
EMEA 33% 36% 36%
Asia Pacific 14% 15% 15%
Total Revenues by Business:
Software $ 1154 23% 24% $ 942 17% 13% $ 8,07
Services 2,83¢ 19% 21% 2,37¢ 14% 10% 2,08¢
Total revenue $ 1438 22% 23% $ 11,79' 16% 12% $ 10,15
% Revenues by Busines
Software 80% 80% 79%
Services 20% 20% 21%

(@) Comprised of Europe, the Middle East and Africa

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Total revenues increased in fiscal 2006 duertmgtsales execution, incremental revenues from
acquisitions and a strengthening in our competposition. Excluding the effect of currency ratectuations, software license updates and
product support revenues contributed 50% to thevtdran total revenues, new software licenses cbuted 32% and services revenues
contributed 18%. Excluding the effects of currenate fluctuations, the Americas contributed 65%h®increase in total revenues, EMEA
contributed 22% and Asia Pacific contributed 13%tal revenues in the Americas, specifically in theted States, increased at a faster rate
than in other regions primarily due to the relagjemgraphical mix of revenues from our acquired ganies.

Operating expenses were favorably affected by égmage point as a result of the strengtheningefinited States dollar relative to other
major international currencies. Excluding the effefccurrency rate fluctuations, the increase ierating expenses is primarily due to higher
headcount levels and associated personnel relattsl in sales and marketing, consulting and rebeard development, higher commissions
due to the increase in revenues and greater amtbotizof intangible assets, offset partially by &swestructuring and acquisition related
expenses. Operating margins as a percentage bfdeemues decreased slightly due to higher casiscgated with acquisitions, principally
amortization of intangible assets.

International operations will continue to providsignificant portion of total revenues. As a residtal revenues and expenses will be affe
by changes in the relative strength of the UnitedeS dollar against certain major internationatencies.
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Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 20C Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuasipthe increase in total revenues reflects $68komil
associated with PeopleSoft products and servicesgelss an increase in sales of our products andces resulting from improved sales
execution as a result of product specializatiostrengthening in our competitive position and argger economy, particularly in the United
States. Total revenues were favorably affectedbsigin currency rate fluctuations due to a weakgnointhe United States dollar against
certain major international currencies, primarfig £uro, British Pound and Japanese Yen. Excluthiegffect of currency rate fluctuations,
the Americas contributed 61% to the increase ial tr@venues, EMEA contributed 27% and Asia Pacifictributed 12%.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiotetal operating expenses increased 20%. Operakipgnses were unfavorably affected as a
result of the weakening of the United States daobtative to other major international currenci@perating margins as a percentage of total
revenues decreased from 38% to 34%. The decliopaérating margins is primarily due to costs incdras a result of the acquisition of
PeopleSoft such as amortization of intangible asseguisition related costs, restructuring costsstock-based compensation resulting from
the assumption of unvested PeopleSoft stock options

Supplemental Disclosure Related to Acquisition Acamting

To supplement our consolidated financial informatiee believe the following information is helpfal &n overall understanding of our past
financial performance and prospects for the futkeaders are directed to the introduction undestiRe of Operations” for a discussion of
the inherent limitations in comparing pre- and paxsjuisition information.

The results of operations include the followingghase accounting adjustments and significant exgseinsurred in connection with
acquisitions:

Year Ended May 31,

(in_ millions) 2006 2005 2004
Support deferred reveniie $ 391 $ 32C $—
Amortization of intangible asse 58< 21¢ 36
Acquisition related charge3 ) 137 20¢ 54
Restructuring® 85 147 —
Stock-based compensatith 31 25 —
Income tax effecf) _(362) (269 (29

$ 86E $ 65E $61

@ In connection with our purchase price allocations gstimated the fair value of support obligationsiassd in connection with business
acquisitions made during fiscal 2005 and fiscal®@ue to our application of business combinaticcoanting rules, software license
updates and product support revenues related msugontracts in the amount of $391 and $320whatld have been otherwise recorded
by acquired businesses as independent entities, neg¢recognized during fiscal 2006 and 2005, retspdy. Estimated software license
updates and product support revenues related fosugontracts assumed that will not be recogntiggito the application of business
combination accounting rules in future periodsasdollows:

Year Ended

May 31,
2007 $ 137
2008 9
Total $ 14¢€

To the extent customers renew these support castrae expect to recognize revenue for the fult@t value over the support renewal
period.
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@ Represents the amortization of intangible assets acquirecbinnection with acquisitions, primarily PeopleSait Siebel. Estimated
future amortization expense related to intangikkets is as follow:

Year Ended
May 31,

2007 $ 73€
2008 727
2009 722
2010 61=
2011 431
Thereaftel 1,29t
Total $ 4,52¢

@

=

Acquisition related charges primarily consist of in-proceseaesh and development expenses, integration-refaitddssional services,
stock-based compensation expenses and persorateldrebsts for transitional employees, as welloa$scassociated with our tender offer
for PeopleSoft prior to the agreement d

4

=

Restructuring costs relate to Oracle employee severance andtyaddsures in connection with restructuring plémsated in the third
quarter of fiscal 2006 and 20(C

Stock-based compensation is included in the following operatigense line items of our consolidated statenmanaperations:
Year Ended May 31,

G

200¢ 200t 200/

Sales and marketir $8 $6 $—
Software license updates and product sug 3 2 —
Cost of service 7 7 —
Research and developmt 13 10 —
Acquisition related charge 18 47 =
Total $49 $72 $—

Stock-based compensation included in acquisititated charges resulted from unvested options assfmom acquisitions whose vesting
was fully accelerated upon termination of the empeés pursuant to the terms of these options.

We adopted Statement 123(R) in the first quartdisofl 2007. Statement 123(R) requires us to ketwe fair value amortization of all
stock-based compensation awards. See Note 1 ofwteonsolidated Financial Statements for addiianformation regarding our
adoption of Statement 123(R).

® The income tax effect on purchase accounting adjgists and othersignificant expenses incurred in connection wituasitions was
calculated based on our effective tax rate of 29 288% and 32.0% in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 20Gheetively.
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Software

Software includes new software licenses and soétwegnse updates and product support.

New Software License: New software license revenues represent feeg@drom granting customers licenses to use oubdaty

middleware and application software products. Waiooe to place significant emphasis, both domaliand internationally, on direct sa
through our own sales force. We also continue tdketaour products through indirect channels.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change

Percent Change

(Dollars in millions) 2006 Actual Constant 2005 Actual Constant 2004
New Software License Revenue
Americas $ 2,327 29% 27% $ 1,808 21% 20% $ 1,49
EMEA 1,65( 10% 14% 1,508 10% 3% 1,371
Asia Pacific 93z 19% 22% 781  15% 11% 68C
Total revenue 4,908  20% 21% 4,091 16% 12% 3,541
Expenses
Sales and marketing 3,16¢  27% 27% 2,508  18% 14% 2,12:
Stocl-based compensatic 8 33% 33% 6 * * —
Amortization of intangible asse 20¢ * * 59 * * 13
Total expense 3,38¢ 32% 33% 2,57C  20% 17% 2,13€
Total Margin $ 1,52 0% 2% $ 1,521 8% 4% $ 1,40t
Total Margin % 31% 37% 40%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 47% 44% 42%
EMEA 34% 37% 39%
Asia Pacific 19% 19% 19%
Revenues by Produc
Database and middlewe $ 3,56¢ 9% 11% $ 3,268  13% 9% $ 2,89¢
Applications 1,30  66% 67% 785  28% 25% 61E
Total revenues by produ 4,86¢ 20% 21% 4,05C 15% 12% 3,50¢
Other revenue 36 -13% -12% 41  24% 21% 33
Total new software license revent $ 4908 20% 21% $ 4,091 16% 12% $ 3,541
% Revenues by Product:
Database and middlewe 73% 81% 82%
27% 19% 18%

Applications

(1) Excluding stock-based compensation

@ Included as acomponent of ‘Amortization of Intangible Assets’onr consolidated statements of operations

* not meaningful
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Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspnew software license revenues increased 21%o
strong sales execution in all product lines. Amgtiiens revenues contributed 60% to the increasew software license revenues, database
revenues contributed 26% and middleware revenussilcoted 14% in fiscal 2006. Additionally, new seére license revenues increased in
all geographic regions. Excluding the effect ofreacy rate fluctuations, the Americas contribut@étt5 EMEA contributed 23% and Asia
Pacific contributed 20% to the increase in newvgalfe license revenues. New software license reweinuiie Americas, specifically in the
United States, increased at a faster rate thathar oegions primarily due to the relative geogieghmix of revenues and location of sales
personnel from our acquired companies.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiodatabase and middleware revenues grew 11%. Datadnasnues increased 8% primarily
driven by increased demand for database optionugtsdMiddleware revenues grew 36% due to a gaindrket share in the application
server market as a result of better sales execatidrmore competitive features and functionalityddfeware revenues also include $34
million of revenues from the licensing of Siebebgucts in fiscal 2006.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatioapplications revenue increased 67% as a resintfased demand for our applications
products, including products from acquired compsnietter sales execution as a result of segmeatingales force by product and a
strengthening of our competitive position in th@lagations market, particularly in the United Statand EMEA. PeopleSoft products
contributed $220 million to the growth in applicats revenue in fiscal 2006, Oracle products couteith $154 million, Siebel products
contributed $103 million and Retek products contiétal $41 million.

New software license revenues earned from tramsectver $0.5 million increased from 40% of newwafe license revenues in fiscal 2C
to 45% in fiscal 2006.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiogales and marketing expenses increased due terliglmmission expenses resulting from
the growth in new software license revenues, higleesonnel related expenditures primarily assodiafieh our expanded sales force from
acquired companies and higher advertising expe$estotal new software license margin as a peacgntf revenues decreased primarily
due to incremental amortization of intangible assid higher compensation expenses.

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 20C Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspnew software license revenues increased due to
improved sales execution, a strengthening in oopeitive position, a stronger economy, particylamthe United States, and revenues fi
the licensing of PeopleSoft products of $126 millio

The increase in database and middleware new s@tieanse revenues was driven by a 23% increaapglication server revenues and a
12% increase in database revenues. The increagplications new software license revenues wasapiiyndue to revenues from the
licensing of PeopleSoft products, improved salescaion as a result of product specialization atdeased demand for our products,
particularly in North America. Excluding the effedftcurrency rate fluctuations, the Americas cdnttéd 71%, EMEA contributed 12% and
Asia Pacific contributed 17% to the increase in sefitware license revenues.

New software license revenues earned from largsactions, defined as new software license traisecbver $0.5 million, increased frc
37% of new software license revenues in fiscal 20040% of new software license revenues in fi2085.

Sales and marketing expenses increased primamyalbigher commission expenses that resulted Figimer revenue levels, as well as
higher personnel related costs associated witleasad sales headcount. The total new softwaresbogrargin as a percentage of revenues
was negatively affected as a result of higher parebrelated expenditures and amortization of igitale assets.
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Software License Updates and Product Suppt Software license updates grant customers righim$pecified software product upgrades
and maintenance releases issued during the symgriotl. Product support includes internet accessdonical content as well as internet and
telephone access to technical support personnelcdst of providing support services consists lgrgepersonnel related expenses.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2006 Actual Constant 2005 Actual Constant 2004
Software License Updates and Prodt
Support Revenues

Americas $3,79( 37% 36%  $2,75¢ 15% 14%  $2,407
EMEA 2,052 10% 15% 1,86¢ 21% 13% 1,54z
Asia Pacific 794 13% 16% 70E 22% 17% 58C

Total revenue 6,63¢ 25% 26% 5,33( 18% 14% 4,52¢
Expenses
Software license updates and product sugport 71€ 16% 17% 61€ 13% 9% 547
Stocl-based compensatic 3 15% 15% 2 * * —
Amortization of intangible asse 351 * * 127 * * —

Total expense 1,07C 44% 45% 74E 36% 32% 547
Total Margin $ 5,56¢ 21% 23%  $4,58¢ 15% 11%  $3,982
Total Margin % 84% 86% 88%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 57% 52% 53%
EMEA 31% 35% 34%

Asia Pacific 12% 13% 13%

(1) Excluding stock-based compensation
@ Included as acomponent of ‘Amortization of Intangible Assets’onr consolidated statements of operations
* not meaningful

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuaspeoftware license updates and product support
revenues increased 26% as a result of incremextahues from the expansion of our customer basétiresfrom acquisitions, the renewal
substantially all of the subscription base eligitaerenewal in the current year and the additibaaftware license updates and product
support revenues associated with new softwaredieegvenues recognized over the past fiscal yeétwwa&e license updates and product
support revenues in fiscal 2006 include incrememaénues of $797 million from PeopleSoft contrastd $90 million from Siebel contracts.
Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatioti'e Americas contributed 72% to the growth insafe license updates and product support
revenues, EMEA contributed 20% and Asia Pacifictiibated 8%. Software license updates and prodygpart revenues in the Americas,
specifically in the United States, increased atsadr rate than in other regions primarily duéhtorelative geographical mix of revenues and
existing support contract bases of our acquiredpzonies.

As a result of our acquisitions, we recorded adjesits to reduce support obligations assumed toésémated fair value at the acquisition
dates. Due to our application of business comhinadiccounting rules, we did not recognize softviaense updates and product support
revenues related to support contracts in the arsafr391 million and $320 million that would haween otherwise recorded by our acqu
businesses as independent entities in fiscal 26860@805, respectively. Historically, substantiallyof our customers, including customers
from acquired companies, renew their support cotgrahen the contract is eligible for
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renewal. To the extent these underlying supportraots are renewed, we will recognize the revepu¢hie full value of the contracts over
support periods, the majority of which are one year

Software license updates and product support eggdnsreased primarily due to higher salary anctfismassociated with increased
headcount to support the expansion of our custtvage and higher bonuses as a result of increagedue levels. The software license
updates and product support margin as a perceofageenues decreased primarily due to incrememtelrtization of intangible assets.

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 200<Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiossftware license updates and product support
revenues increased as a result of the renewaswlbstantial majority of the subscription base blegfor renewal, the addition of software
license updates and product support revenues agstevith new software license revenues recognizéidcal 2005, more timely contract
renewals, as well as $258 million in revenues fthemexpansion of our customer base resulting fleratquisition of PeopleSoft. Excluding
the effect of currency rate fluctuations, the Arnasi contributed 53% to the growth in software Iggenpdates and product support revenues,
EMEA contributed 32% and Asia Pacific contributés®d.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiogssftware license updates and product support esgseincreased primarily due to higher
personnel costs associated with increased headdagher discretionary bonuses and facility expen$ée total software license updates and
product support margin as a percentage of revetre@eased in fiscal 2005 primarily due to the aination of intangible assets.

Services
Services consist of consulting, On Demand and dauca

Consulting: Consulting revenues are earned by providing sesvio customers in the design, implementationpglepent and upgrade of
our database, middleware and applications softvildre.cost of providing consulting services congisisarily of personnel related
expenditures.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2006 Actual Constant 2005 Actual Constant 2004
Consulting Revenues
Americas $1,157 21% 20% $ 95€ 11% 11% $ 85¢
EMEA 771 8% 13% 71€ 23% 15% 581
Asia Pacific 192 39% 42% 13¢ -T% -12% 14¢
Total revenue 2,12( 17% 19% 1,81( 14% 12% 1,58¢
Expenses
Cost of service§) 1,87¢ 21% 22% 1,54¢ 15% 11% 1,347
Stocl-based compensatic 7 9% 9% 6 * * —
Amortization of intangible asse 4 * * 1 * * —
Total expense 1,88¢ 21% 23% 1,55¢ 16% 11% 1,347
Total Margin $ 231 -9% 1% $ 254 5% 1% $ 242
Total Margin % 11% 14% 15%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 55% 53% 54%
EMEA 36% 39% 37%

Asia Pacific 9% 8% 9%

(@) Excluding stock-based compensation
@ Included as acomponent of ‘Amortization of Intangible Assets’onr consolidated statements of operations
* not meaningful
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Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 2005The increase in consulting revenues in fiscal 28Q@imarily due to an increase in application
product implementations and billable hours prinygpilovided by consultants who were formerly emptbpg our acquired companies.
Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatioti'e Americas contributed 56% to the growth in cidtitsg revenues, EMEA contributed 2€
and Asia Pacific contributed 18%.

Consulting expenses increased as a result of hggliary and benefit expenses due to additionaliress acquired from acquisitions and
increased external contractor costs due to emplafteton. The total consulting margin as a petage of revenues was negatively affected
as a result of additional consulting expenseshatted to headcount levels and external contraetated expenditures.

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 200/Consulting revenues increased $258 million duetenues earned by performing services under
PeopleSoft consulting contracts, partially offsgiabdecline in consulting revenues earned fromiseswendered under Oracle consulting
contracts. The decline in revenue from Oracle cltimgucontracts is due to a shift in the mix ofoaeces to lower cost countries, which has
resulted in a decrease in billing rates. Consultenggnues also declined as a result of our dectsieork more closely with partners, who are
performing a higher percentage of the implememtatiaf our software. Excluding PeopleSoft relatacneies, consulting revenues decreased
in the United States due to higher attrition ratbgch resulted in a decline in billable hours aademues. The decline in Asia Pacific
consulting revenues was primarily due to a largesatiing project in Japan, which was substantiatisnpleted at the end of fiscal 2004.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatioosnsulting expenses increased 11% primarily duegber external contractor costs and
personnel related expenditures due to higher head@md revenue levels. The total consulting maagia percentage of revenues was
negatively affected as a result of additional ctiteyexpenses attributed to higher personneledlabsts associated with increased
headcount.

On Demand: On Demand includes Oracle On Demand and Adva@cstbmer Services. Oracle On Demand provides rfedtiired
software and hardware management and maintenangeesefor our database, middleware and applicatswitware. Advanced Customer
Services consists of configuration and performan@dysis, personalized support and annual onesitenical services. The cost of providing
On Demand services consist primarily of personelelted expenditures and hardware and facilitietscos

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2006 Actual Constant 2005 Actual Constant 2004
On Demand Revenues:
Americas $ 231 41% 40% $ 16t 18% 17%  $ 14C
EMEA 11¢€ 26% 32% 93 11% 3% 84
Asia Pacific 48 13% 12% 41 21% 5% 34
Total revenue 397 32% 33% 29¢ 16% 14% 25¢
Expenses
Cost of service§) 38t 52% 53% 253 17% 14% 21¢€
Amortization of intangible asse 3 * * e * * e
Total expense _38¢ 53% 53% 258 17% 14% _ 21€
Total Margin $ 9 -83% -76% $ 46 10% 6% $ 42
Total Margin % 2% 15% 16%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas 58% 55% 54%
EMEA 30% 31% 33%

Asia Pacific 12% 14% 13%

(@) Excluding stock-based compensation
@ Included as acomponent of ‘Amortization of Intangible Assets’onr consolidated statements of operations
* not meaningful
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Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C On Demand revenues increased in fiscal 2006 atleetexpansion of our subscription base in Oracle
On Demand services, including incremental reveifiues Siebel of $9 million, as well as higher reveadrom Advanced Customer Services,
including incremental revenues from Siebel of $lilfion and PeopleSoft of $9 million. Excluding teéfect of currency rate fluctuations, the
Americas contributed 65% to the increase in On Dehravenues, EMEA contributed 30% and Asia Paciiatributed 5%.

On Demand expenses increased due to higher petsetated expenditures in both our Oracle On Densamdi Advanced Customer Services
businesses as a result of additional resourcesraddguom Siebel as well as higher computer antnetogy related charges and external
contractor costs in our Oracle On Demand busifdss total On Demand margin as a percentage of tegedeclined due to lower margins
associated with the Siebel On Demand offering dsaseadditional expenditures incurred to supptahped future growth.

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 20C Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuasp On Demand services revenues increased primarily
due to the expansion of our subscription base aclerOn Demand services. Excluding the effect ofericy rate fluctuations, the Americas
contributed 72% to the increase in On Demand sesvievenues, EMEA contributed 12% and Asia Pacdidributed 16%.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiottdal On Demand expenses increased 14% primau#ytd higher employee related
expenditures related to increased headcount.

Education: Education revenues are earned by providinguogir led, media based and internet based trainitige use of our database,
middleware and applications software. Educatioreegps primarily consist of personnel related exjperes, facilities and external contrac
costs.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2006 Actual Constant 2005 Actual Constant 2004
Education Revenues
Americas $ 151 34% 2%  $ 11c 30% 29% $ 87
EMEA 117 8% 13% 10¢ 9% 2% 99
Asia Pacific 54 13% 15% 48 -9% -13% 53
Total revenue 322 20% 21% 26¢ 13% 10% 23¢
Expenses
Cost of service§) 24¢€ 10% 11% 224 8% 4% 207
Stock based compensati — * * 1 * * —
Total expense 24€ 10% 11% 22F 9% 11% 207
Total Margin $ 76 69% 3% $ M 38% 2% $ 32
Total Margin % 24% 16% 13%
% Revenues by Geograph
Americas A7% 42% 36%
EMEA 36% 40% 42%

Asia Pacific 17% 18% 22%

(1) Excluding stock-based compensation
* not meaningful

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Education revenues increased in fiscal 2006 damtincrease in customer training on the use of ou
acquired applications products. Excluding the dféécurrency rate fluctuations, the Americas citmired 64%, EMEA contributed 24% and
Asia Pacific contributed 12% to the overall incea@seducation revenues.
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Education expenses increased due to incrementdtbeat and associated personnel related expersliteleted to Siebel education
employees and higher external contractor costs.

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 20CEducation revenues increased due to revenuesdetafeopleSoft. Excluding the effect of currency
rate fluctuations, the Americas contributed 127%HA contributed 7%, while Asia Pacific contributachegative 34% to the overall incre
in education revenues.

Excluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatioti®e increase in education expenses is primariytddees paid to education partners that
provide training to our customers.

Research and Development Expens Research and development expenses consist gyiraagersonnel related expenditures. We intend to
continue to invest significantly in our researchl @evelopment efforts because, in our judgmeny; #ne essential to maintaining our
competitive position.

Year Ended May 31,
Percent Change

Percent Change

(Dollars in millions) 2006 Actual Constant 2005 Actual Constant 2004
Research and developmént $1,85¢ 25% 24% $1,481 18% 17% $1,25¢
Stocl-based compensatic 13 31% 31% 10 * * —
Amortization of intangible asse 17 -49% -38% 32 39% 39% 23
Total expense $1,88¢ 24% 24% $1,52¢ 19% 18% $1,27i

% of Total Revenue 13% 13% 13%

(@ Excluding stock-based compensation

@ Included as a componentf ‘Amortization of Intangible Assets’ in our corlgtated statements of operations
* not meaningful

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20CResearch and development headcount increased byxapately 1,300 in fiscal 2006, which
represented a 13% increase in the database antematd divisions and a 5% increase in the appboatdivision. The increase in database
and middleware headcount was primarily due to iohresources outside the United States, whilériti@ase in applications headcount was
primarily due to Siebel resources acquired. Reseand development expenses increased due to inctainsalary and benefits for the
additional headcount, higher discretionary bonuseexlitures and higher facility and technology cas#stially offset by lower external
contractor costs.

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 20CExcluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatioresearch and development expenses increased in
fiscal 2005 due to higher external contractor casgsvell as higher personnel and related expemditielated to the increase in headcount. In
fiscal 2005, total research and development headdpnareased by 2,656 employees or 25%. The dagadoasd middleware technology
division has continued to hire engineers, resuliing 6% headcount increase in fiscal 2005. Apfiios research and development headc
increased 45% in fiscal 2005 as a result of thadniof former PeopleSoft engineers.

General and Administrative ExpensesGeneral and administrative expenses primarilysistrof personnel related expenditures for
information technology, finance, legal and humaotegces support functions.

Year Ended May 31,
Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2006 Actual Constant 2005 Actual Constant 2004

General and administrati\ $55& 1% 3% $55C 8% 6% $50¢

% of Total Revenue

4%
42

5%

5%



Table of Contents

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20CExcluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiogeneral and administrative expenses increased
slightly due to higher litigation expenses and éased salary costs, partially offset by lower bamysenditures.

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 20CExcluding the effect of currency rate fluctuatiogeneral and administrative expenses increased
primarily due to higher discretionary bonuses aeddfit expenses.

Amortization of Intangible Assets

Year Ended May 31, Adgg?gle

(Dollars in millions) 2006 Change 2005 Change 2004 Life

Software support agreements and related relatipa $ 241 174% $ 88 * $ — 10year
Developed technolog 20€  140% 86 139% 36 5 year
Core technolog 91 203% 30 * — 5 year
Customer contract 30 200% 10 * — 10 year
Trademarks 15  200% 5 * — 7 year.

Total amortization of intangible asst $ 58! 166% $ 21¢ 508% $ 3¢

* not meaningful

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Amortization of intangible assets increased duamortization of purchased intangibles from Siebel
and other acquisitions in fiscal 2006 as well &sllayear of amortization in fiscal 2006 relatedReopleSoft intangibles acquired compared
with only five months of amortization in fiscal 20

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 20C Amortization of intangible assets increased aduamortization of purchased intangibles associated
with the PeopleSoft acquisition.

Acquisition Related Charges Acquisition related charges primarily consistreprocess research and development expensesiatitey
related professional services, stock-compensatipereses and personnel related costs for transiteanployees. Stock-based compensation
included in acquisition related charges relatasieested options assumed from acquisitions whostngewas fully accelerated upon
termination of the employees pursuant to the tevhtkese options.

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2006 Change 2005 Change 2004
In-process research and developn $ 78 T70% $ 46 * $§ —
Transitional employee related co 30 -42% 52 * —
Stocl-based compensatic 18 -62% 47 * —
Professional fee 11  -83% 63 17% 54

Total acquisition related charg $ 137 -34% $ 20¢ 285% $ 5¢

* not meaningful

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Acquisition related charges decreased due torlpnafessional fees, stock-based compensation
charges and lower transitional employee costsigtigroffset by higher in-process research and tgraent charges primarily related to the
Siebel acquisition.
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Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 20C Acquisition related charges increased due foratess research and development charges, tranas
employee related costs and stock-based compensdi@oges associated with the PeopleSoft acquisitioaddition, professional fees, which
primarily relates to tender offer costs for Peoplé®rior to the agreement date, increased in fi2685.

Restructuring: Restructuring expenses consist of Oracle emplegegerance costs and Oracle duplicate facilitiesuckes which were
initiated to improve our cost structure as a resbificquisitions. For additional information regagithe Oracle restructuring plans, as well as
restructuring activities of our acquired compansase see Note 3 of Notes to Consolidated FinhStatements.

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2006 Change 2005 Change 2004
Severance cos $ 85 -33% $ 12€ t $ —
Excess facilities — * 21 * —

Total restructuring charge $ 8t “42% $ 140 * $ —

* not meaningful

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Restructuring expenses decreased in fiscal 208@alower headcount terminations and related
severance costs. Additionally, the restructuringgpam in fiscal 2005 included $21 million of fatyliexit and termination costs.

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 20C Restructuring expenses increased in fiscal 2@@5td Oracle employee severance and facility
closures associated with plans initiated in thedtguarter of 2005. No restructuring plans wergated in fiscal 2004.

Interest Expense

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2006 Actual Constant 2005 Actual Constant 2004
Interest expens $ 16¢ 25% 26%  $ 13t 543% 543% $21

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Interest expense increased in fiscal 2006 condparéscal 2005 due to higher average borrowings
related to the $5.75 billion senior notes issuediainuary 2006 as well as outstanding balances wulerommercial paper program and
unsecured loan facility, both of which were repaifiscal 2006. We expect interest expense to esedn fiscal 2007, which will reflect a full
year of interest on the $5.75 billion senior no

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 20C Interest expense increased in fiscal 2005 prigndrie to borrowings in December 2004 of $9.2
billion under a $9.5 billion unsecured term loamesgnent, which we repaid in various installmentsrfiFebruary 2005 through May 2005. In
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005, we borrowed #&on under a commercial paper program and $n@lon under a 364-day unsecured
loan facility that are outstanding at May 31, 20BBerest expense in fiscal 2004 included $5.5iomlin commitment fees related to an
unused $1.5 billion revolving credit facility thexpired in December 2004 and additional interespeiated with our $150 million senior nc
that matured in February 2004.
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Non-Operating Income, net: Non-operating income, net consists primarilyrdérest income, net foreign currency exchange désses),
net investment gains related to marketable eqeitysties and other investments, equity in earnafgslex solutions limited and the
minority interest share in the net profits of Oeaghpan.

Year Ended May 31,

Percent Change Percent Change
(Dollars in millions) 2006 Actual Constant 2005 Actual Constant 2004
Interest incom: $ 17C -8% -8% $ 18t 57% 53% $ 11¢€
Foreign currency gains (losse¢ 39 * * 14 * * (13)
Net investment gains related to marketable eqaitysties anc
other investment 25 * * 2 * * 29
Equity in earning: 14 * * — * * —
Minority interest (42) -2% -2% 42 14% 14% (37
Other 36 * * 33 * * 5
Total nor-operating income, nt $ 24 49% 50 $ 16¢ 61% 58%x $ 10:

* not meaningful

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Non-operating income, net increased as a reshligber foreign currency gains on our Japanese net
investment hedge and the Chinese currency revalyail4 million of equity in earnings associatethvaur interest in i-flex solutions limited
and higher gains on sales of equity securitiegrést income decreased slightly due to lower aeecagh, cash equivalents and marketable
securities balances, partially offset by higheeiiest rates. The weighted average interest rate@an cash, cash equivalents and marketable
securities increased from 1.9% in fiscal 2005 @9/@in fiscal 2006.

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 20C Non-operating income, net increased in fiscal®2@0marily due to higher interest income earned
resulting from higher average cash balances aghtkfihigher interest rates available in the cdpitarkets. In fiscal 2005, the weighted
average interest rate earned on cash, cash equivaled marketable securities increased from 1b%9%.

Provision for Income Taxes The effective tax rate in all periods is the tesfithe mix of income earned in various tax jdictions that
apply a broad range of income tax rates. The pi@vir income taxes differs from the tax compuatthe federal statutory income tax rate
due primarily to state taxes and earnings consitlasandefinitely reinvested in foreign operatiofsture effective tax rates could be
adversely affected if earnings are lower than gdied in countries where we have lower statutatgs, by unfavorable changes in tax laws
and regulations, or by adverse rulings in tax eslditigation.

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2006 Change 2005 Change 2004
Provision for income taxe $ 1,42¢ 23% $1,16¢ -8% $ 1,264
Effective tax rate 29.7% 28.8% 32.0%

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 20C Provision for income taxes increased in fiscdl@@ue to higher earnings before tax and a higher
effective tax rate. The increase in the effectavertite in fiscal 2006 is primarily attributableadigher percentage of earnings in high tax
jurisdictions as compared with other lower tax jatéesdictions. In addition, we did not benefit finccertain no-recurring tax events in fiscal
2006 that occurred in fiscal 2005, as describedvibeand we incurred higher non-deductible in-pregesearch and development charges in
fiscal 2006.
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Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 20C Provision for income taxes decreased due to arl@ffective tax rate, partially offset by higher
earnings before tax. The decrease in our effetdiveate in fiscal 2005 is primarily attributabéehigher earnings in low tax rate jurisdictions.
In addition, the fiscal 2005 effective tax rate vi@sorably impacted by 4.2% due to the settleméaiudits and expiration of statutes of
limitation on assessments and the true-up of etisnimx accruals upon filing of prior year tax retu Partially reducing this benefit was an
increase to our effective tax rate of 3.6% in fi’@05 for the dividend pursuant to the AmericahsIGreation Act of 2004 as well as
acquisition and restructuring costs related to deductible expenses resulting from in-process rebBeand development charges and
additional taxes associated with tender offer ciogtsrred from June 9, 2003 to December 12, 200£L&wpleSoft that, upon acquisition in
third quarter of fiscal 2005, had to be capitalir®d the basis of the stock for tax purposes.

We provide for United States income taxes on theiegs of foreign subsidiaries unless they are iclemed indefinitely reinvested outside
United States. At May 31, 2006, the cumulative Egymupon which United States income taxes havéeen provided for were
approximately $3.0 billion. If these earnings wegpatriated in the United States, they would geedrmeign tax credits that would reduce
federal tax liability associated with the foreignidend. Assuming a full utilization of the foreigax credits, the potential deferred tax liabi
for these earnings would be approximately $550ionillin fiscal 2005, we repatriated $3.1 billiontbé earnings of foreign subsidiaries in
accordance with the American Jobs Creation ActO®¥2and recorded a federal tax expense of $118miind a state tax expense (net of
federal tax benefit) of $3 million. We repatriatisgd maximum amount available for repatriation urtherAmerican Jobs Creation Act of
2004.

This distribution from previously indefinitely rairsted earnings does not change our position gomgard that future earnings of certain of
our foreign subsidiaries will be indefinitely reisted.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

May 31,
(Dollars in millions) 2006 Change 2005 Change 2004
Working capital $ 504 1210 $ 38t -95% $ 7,06
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable secL $ 7,60t 50% $ 4,77: -44%  $ 8,587

Working capital: The increase in working capital in fiscal 200@isnarily due to the $5.75 billion long-term senimtes issued in January
2006 as well as greater cash flows from operatfiimm higher sales volumes, partially offset by cashd to pay for acquisitions and to
reduce other debt obligations. The decline in waglkdapital in fiscal 2005 is primarily due to cauid to acquire PeopleSoft and an increase
in short-term borrowings.

Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securitie€ash and cash equivalents consist of highly digovestments in time deposits held at
major banks, commercial paper, United States ganem agency discount notes, money market mutualsfamd other money market
securities with original maturities of 90 days ess. Marketable securities primarily consist of nwrcial paper, corporate notes and Unites
States government agency notes. Cash, cash equs/aled marketable securities include $3.1 biliefd by our foreign subsidiaries as of
May 31, 2006. The increase in cash, cash equivaberd marketable securities is due to the $5.TBrb#enior notes issued in January 2006,
cash flows from operations from higher sales volsigwed the collection of trade receivables, paytiaffset by cash used to pay for
acquisitions, repurchase common stock and to redinar debt obligations.

Days sales outstanding, which is calculated byditig period end accounts receivable by averagg dales for the quarter, was 55 at

May 31, 2006 compared with 56 days at May 31, 200%. days sales outstanding calculation excludeadjustment to reduce software
license updates and product support revenue reiatedjusting the carrying value for deferred suppesvenues acquired to its estimated fair
value. The decline in days sales outstanding isaueore timely collections as well as a shifthie mix of total revenues. Software
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license updates and product support revenues asgaly billed one year in advance, while the raxenare recognized ratably over the
annual contract period. Software license updatdgpamduct support revenues as a percent of totahrees increased, resulting in higher cash
collections and lower days sales outstanding.

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2006 Change 2005 Change 2004

Cash provided by operating activiti $ 4,54 28% $ 3,55 11% $ 3,19¢
Cash used for investing activiti $ (3,359 -42%  $ (5,757  126% $ (2,549
Cash provided by (used for) financing activit $ 1,52 -19% $ 1,88¢ 243%  $ (1,320

Cash flows from operating activities:Our largest source of operating cash flows if cadlections from our customers following the
purchase and renewal of their software license tggdand product support agreements. Payments fugtoroers for software license updates
and product support are generally received by éggnming of the contract term, which is generalig gear in length. We also generate
significant cash from new software license salek tma lesser extent, services. Our primary ubeash from operating activities are for
personnel related expenditures, payment of tagedlitfes and technology costs.

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 200tCash flows provided by operating activities inceshs fiscal 2006 primarily due to higher sales
volumes and higher net income, excluding wash charges, partially offset by increased acsouteivables due to fourth quarter fiscal 2
revenue growth.

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 200<Cash flows from operating activities increasedsedl 2005 primarily due to higher net income,
excluding non-cash charges, and increases iranquisition related deferred revenues, partialfgaifby the payment of liabilities assumec
connection with the PeopleSoft acquisition.

Cash flows from investing activities:The changes in cash flows from investing ac#sitprimarily relate to acquisitions and the timaig
purchases and maturities of marketable securifiesalso use cash to invest in capital and othestsi$s support our growth.

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 200tCash used for investing activities decreased oafi2006 primarily due to lower cash payments for
acquisitions, net of cash acquired as well as gdeéom property sales. Investing cash outflowfsital 2005 include cash paid for our
acquisition of PeopleSoft, whereas investing cagfaws in fiscal 2006 primarily relates to our adsjtion of Siebel Systems and our equity
investment purchases in i-flex.

Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 20C Cash used for investing activities increasedsical 2005 primarily due to cash paid to acquire
PeopleSoft. The increase was partially offset Ighér proceeds from maturities of marketable saesrinet of purchases.

Cash flows from financing activities: The changes in cash flows from financing acesgtprimarily relate to borrowings and payments unde
debt obligations as well as stock repurchase agtivi

Fiscal 2006 Compared to Fiscal 200tCash provided by financing activities decreasefistal 2006 primarily due to higher stock
repurchases, partially offset by higher net borrmsi We increased our share repurchases in fio€#l @ue to the issuance of approximately
141 million shares of common stock in connectiothwiur Siebel acquisition. We intend to continuegpurchase shares under our stock
repurchase programs.
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Fiscal 2005 Compared to Fiscal 20C We generated cash flow from financing activifiefiscal 2005 as a result of net borrowings of7$2.
billion primarily used to pay for the acquisitiohPeopleSoft. In the third quarter of fiscal 20@& borrowed $9.2 billion under a bridge loan
to fund the acquisition of PeopleSoft and repa@lehtire balance as of May 31, 2005 with cash flirars operations, proceeds from
maturities and sale of marketable securities, ¢ipatriation of foreign earnings and new borrowinlye. borrowed $2.0 billion under a $3.0
billion commercial paper program and $700 millioxder a 364-day loan facility through a wholly-owredsidiary in the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2005.

Free cash flow: To supplement our statements of cash flows ptedean a GAAP basis, we use non-GAAP measuressbf fbaws on a
trailing 4-quarter basis to analyze cash flow gaetezt from operations. We believe free cash floalss useful as one of the bases for
comparing our performance with our competitors. presentation of noGAAP free cash flow is not meant to be consideneidalation or a
an alternative to net income as an indicator ofpmrformance, or as an alternative to cash floasfoperating activities as a measure of
liquidity. We calculate free cash flows as follows:

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2006 Change 2005 Change 2004

Cash provided by operating activiti $4,541 28% $3,55¢2 11% $3,19¢
Capital expenditure® $ (23¢€) 26% $ (18¢) -1% $ (189
Free cash flov $4,30¢ 28% $3,36¢ 12% $3,00€
Net income $3,381 17% $2,88¢ 8% $2,681

Free cash flow as a percent of net incc 127% 117% 112%

() Represents capitakexpenditures as reported in cash flows from inmgstictivities in our consolidated statements ohdbswvs presented
in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accogmtiinciples

Long-Term Customer Financing

We offer our customers the option to acquire oftwsre and services through separate long-term payeontracts. We generally sell such
contracts on a non-recourse basis to financiaitingins. We record the transfers of amounts damfcustomers to financial institutions as
sales of financial assets because we are consitieted/e surrendered control of these financiatass$n fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, $618
million, $456 million and $357 million or approxirmedy 13%, 11% and 10%, respectively, of our newiveaife license revenues were finan
through our financing division.
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Contractual Obligations

The contractual obligations presented in the thblew represent our estimates of future paymendgiufixed contractual obligations and
commitments. Changes in our business needs, caticelprovisions, changing interest rates and déxors may result in actual payments
differing from these estimates. We cannot provieldainty regarding the timing and amounts of payimeWwe have presented below a
summary of the most significant assumptions usexiirinformation within the context of our consalidd financial position, results of
operations and cash flows. The following is a sumynoé our contractual obligations as of May 31, 00

Year Ending May 31,

(Dollars in millions) Total 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Thereafter
Principal payments on short-term borrowings andj
term debtV $ 590¢ $ 15¢ $ — $ 150C $ — $ 225 $ 2,00¢
Capital lease®) 7 3 4 — — — —
Interest payments on short-term borrowings and-lol
term debtV 1,83¢ 30¢ 297 271 217 217 52¢
Operating lease® 1,41¢ 414 227 19t 157 117 30¢€
Purchase obligatiori® 32¢ 111 217 1
Funding commitment® 6 6 — — — — —
Total contractual obligatior $ 950: $ 99! §$ 748 ¢ 1970 $ 37« $ 258 $ 2,831

(@) Short-term borrowingsand long-term debt consists of the following ad/afy 31, 2006:
Principal Balance

Floating rate senior notes due January 2009 (éfeeetterest rate of 5.28% $ 1,50(C
5.00% senior notes due January 2011, net of discu$8 2,24z
5.25% senior notes due January 2016, net of discriuBil 1,98¢
6.91% senior notes due February 2007 (effectivarést rate of 7.30% 15C
Other 6

Total $ 5,887

Interest payments were calculated based on tertieoklated agreements and include estimates loasi effective interest rates as of
May 31, 2006 for variable rate borrowings and baings for which we have entered into interest-sat@p agreements. See Note 5 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements fortamtdil information related to our borrowing

@

=

Represents remainingpayments under capital leases of computer equipassuimed from acquisitions.
@3

Primarily represents leasesf facilities and includes future minimum rent pagmis for facilities that we have vacated pursuaumiur
restructuring and merger integration activities. éee approximately $559 in facility obligationgt mf estimated sublease income and
other costs, in accrued restructuring for thesatlons in our consolidated balance sheet at MayGQa6.

@) Represents amounts associatedth agreements that are enforceable, legally bigdind specify terms, including: fixed or minimum
guantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or Jaggrice provisions; and the approximate timinghaf payment

®) Represents the maximunadditional capital we may need to contribute towaud venture fund investments which are payablenupo
demand

We acquired two companies in June 2006 and contpteteacquisition of Portal Software, Inc. on J8)y2006 for approximately $340
million in cash and approximately 2.5 million opt®assumed. The purchase price allocations foe theguisitions have not yet been
completed.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangemieatdrave or are reasonably likely to have a cuwefiiture effect on our financial
condition, changes in financial condition, revenaesxpenses, results of operations, liquidity iteyexpenditures or capital resources that is
material to investors.

Recent Financing Activitie:

In January 2006, we issued $1.5 billion of floatiate senior notes due 2009, $2.25 billion of 5.G&%ior notes due 2011 and $2.0 billion of
5.25% senior notes due 2016 (collectively, origsetiior notes) to finance the Siebel acquisitioth fan general corporate purposes. On
June 16, 2006, we completed a registered exchdfgyefar the original senior notes to permit holsléo freely transfer their senior notes,
which have substantially identical terms to thgimal senior notes.

The 2009 notes bear interest at a floating ratalgqguthree-month LIBOR plus 0.23% per year, th&12Aotes bear interest at the rate of
5.00% per year, and the 2016 notes bear interéise aite of 5.25% per year. Interest is payabsetquy for the 2009 notes and semi-
annually for the 2011 notes and 2016 notes. Theegdke interest yield of the 2009 notes, 2011 nates2016 notes at May 31, 2006 was
5.28%, 5.09% and 5.33%, respectively. We may redben2009 notes after January 2007 and may redee@0tL1 notes and 2016 notes at
any time, subject to a make-whole premium.

In February 2006, we entered into dealer agreenvétiisvarious financial institutions and an Issuengd Paying Agency Agreement with
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, relaing new $3.0 billion commercial paper prograne (ew CP Program). We did not
have any outstanding borrowings under the New @gr@am at May 31, 2006. In March 2006, we enteréalannew $3.0 billion, 5-Year
Revolving Credit Agreement (New Credit AgreemenifhwVachovia Bank, National Association, Bank of émea, N.A. and certain other
lenders. The New Credit Agreement provides for mseaured revolving credit facility which can bedise backstop any commercial paper
that we may issue and for working capital and otfereral corporate purposes.

We believe that our current cash and cash equitslararketable securities and cash generated fpmratons will be sufficient to meet our
working capital, capital expenditures, contractaigations and investment needs. In addition, eléeelse we could fund other acquisitions
and repurchase common stock with our internallylabke cash and investments, cash generated fraratipns, amounts available under our
credit facilities, additional borrowings or frometiissuance of additional securities.

Quarterly Results of Operations

Quarterly revenues and expenses have historica#iy laffected by a variety of seasonal factorsuitinb sales compensation plans. These
seasonal factors are common in the software ingluBtrese factors have caused a decrease in ougtiaster revenues as compared to
revenues in the immediately preceding fourth quavigich historically, has been the highest quaktée expect this trend to continue in the
first quarter of fiscal 2007. In addition, our Epean operations generally provide lower revenuealirfirst fiscal quarter because of the
reduced economic activity in Europe during the s&mm
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The following table sets forth selected unauditedrterly information for our last eight fiscal qteas. We believe that all necessary
adjustments, which consisted only of normal reagradjustments, have been included in the amotatsdsbelow to present fairly the rest
of such periods when read in conjunction with tbesolidated financial statements and related rintdsded elsewhere in this Annual Ref
on Form 10-K. The sum of the quarterly financidbimation may vary from the annual data due to dbog.

Fiscal 2006 Quarter Ended (Unaudited)

(in millions, except per share amounts) August 31 November 3( February 28 May 31
Revenue:! $ 2,76¢ $ 3,292 $ 3,47C $4,851
Gross profit $ 1,311 $ 1,70% $ 1,77¢ $2,60¢
Operating incom: $ 71z $ 1,11¢ $ 1,052 $1,857
Net income $ 51¢ $ 79¢ $ 765 $1,30(¢
Earnings per sha—Dbasic $ 0.1C $ 0.1t $ 0.1t $ 0.2F
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 0.1C $ 0.1t $ 0.14 $ 0.24
Fiscal 2005 Quarter Ended (Unaudited)

(in millions, except per share amounts) August 31 November 3( February 28 May 31

Revenue:! $ 2,21t $ 2,75¢ $ 2,95C $ 3,87¢
Gross profit $ 1,18( $ 1,611 $ 1,49 $ 2,16t
Operating incom: $ 71E $ 1,131 $ 77C $ 1,407
Net income $ 50¢ $ 81t $ 54C $ 1,022
Earnings per sha—Dbasic $ 0.1C $ 0.1€ $ 0.11 $ 0.2
Earnings per sha—diluted $ 0.1C $ 0.1¢€ $ 0.1 $ 0.2

Stock Options

Our stock option program is a key component ofcitni@pensation package we provide to attract anchrigtented employees and align their
interests with the interests of existing stockhdd&/e recognize that options dilute existing statlers and have sought to control the
number of options granted while providing compe¢ittompensation packages. Consistent with thedegdabs, our cumulative potential
dilution for each of the last three full fiscal yednas been less than 2.0% and has averaged lrd#égreThe potential dilution percentage is
calculated as the new option grants for the yestrohoptions forfeited by employees leaving thenpany, divided by the total outstanding
shares at the beginning of the year. This maximatargial dilution will only result if all optionsra exercised. Many of these options, which
have 10-year exercise periods, have exercise pidestantially higher than the current market prideMay 31, 2006, 25% of our
outstanding stock options had exercise prices éegxof the current market price. Consistent withhistoric practices, we do not expect that
dilution from future grants before the effect of atock repurchase program will exceed 1.5% per f@aur ongoing business. Over the last
10 years, our stock repurchase program has moneoffeet the dilutive effect of our stock optiorogram; however, we may reduce the level
of our stock repurchases in the future as we meayous available cash for acquisitions or to repalebtedness. At May 31, 2006, the
maximum potential dilution from all outstanding amgkexercised option awards, regardless of wherntgglsand regardless of whether vested
or unvested and including options where the sipifkee is higher than the current market price, @#4%6.

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directeviews and approves the organization-wide sbtion grants to selected
employees, all stock option grants to executivecefs and any individual stock option grants inessof 25,000 shares. A separate Plan
Committee, which is an executive officer committ@gproves individual stock option grants up to 28,8hares to non-executive officers and
employees.
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Options granted from June 1, 2003 through May 8062are summarized as follows:

(Shares
in millions)
Options outstanding at May 31, 20 45&
Options granted) 33:
Options exercise (19¢€)
Forfeitures (119
Options outstanding at May 31, 20 47%
Average annualized options granted, net of forfei 71
Average annualized stock repurcha 12¢€
Shares outstanding at May 31, 2( 5,232
Weightec-average shares outstanding from June 1, 2003 thrivlay 31, 200¢ 5,182
Options outstanding as a percent of shares oufstatl May 31, 200! 9.0%
In the money options outstanding (based on our 8132006 stock price) as a percent of shares aulistg at May 31, 200 6.8%
Average annualized options granted, net of forfeguand before stock repurchases, as a percermigited average shares
outstanding from June 1, 2003 through May 31, 2 1.4%
Average annualized options granted, net of forfegland after stock repurchases, as a percenemdge shares outstandir
from June 1, 2003 through May 31, 2( -1.1%

@ Includes 179 million options assumed in connection with acquisitions.

Generally, we grant stock options to key employ@ean annual basis. During fiscal 2006, we madeannual grant of options and other
grants to purchase approximately 67.6 million shandich were partially offset by forfeitures oftmms to purchase 58.1 million shares.

New Accounting Pronouncements

Share-Based PaymentOn December 16, 2004, the FASB issued Statement®B (revised 20045hare-Based Paymenivhich is a

revision of FASB Statement No. 128¢counting for Stock-Based Compensati@tatement 123(R) supersedes APB Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employ, and amends FASB Statement No. Statement of Cash Flow&enerally, the approach in
Statement 123(R) is similar to the approach deedrib Statement 123. However, Statement 123(R)rgéypeequires share-based payments
to employees, including grants of employee stodloop and purchases under employee stock purchass, po be recognized in the
statement of operations based on their fair valBesforma disclosure of fair value recognitiom@slonger an alternative.

On April 14, 2005, the Securities and Exchange Casion announced that the Statement 123(R) effettansition date would be extended
to annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005adpted the provisions of Statement 123(R) urtteniodified prospective method in our
first quarter of fiscal 2007. Under the modifie@gpective method, compensation cost is recogniegthhing with the effective date of
adoption (a) based on the requirements of Statef®3(R) for all share-based payments granted tifeeeffective date of adoption and

(b) based on the requirements of Statement 128lifawards granted to employees prior to the effealate of adoption that remain unvested
on the date of adoption.

Statement 123(R) also requires a portion of thefisnof tax deductions resulting from the exer@$stock options to be reported as a
financing cash flow, rather than as an operatirglh dpw. This requirement will reduce net operatiagh flows and increase net financing
cash flows in periods after adoption. Total caswflvill remain unchanged from what would have besgorted under prior accounting rules.
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As permitted by Statement 123, we accounted fareshased payments to employees using Opinios i2¥insic value method up to May {
2006. Although the adoption of Statement 123(Rjis¥alue method will have no adverse impact ontmalance sheet or total cash flows, it
will affect our net income and earnings per sh@ihe actual effects of adopting Statement 123(R)deipbend on nhumerous factors including
the amounts of share-based payments granted fattire, the valuation model we use to value fuirare-based payments to employees and
estimated forfeiture rates. We estimate that stmded compensation expense will reduce dilutedregeiper share by $0.02 to $0.03 in fis
2007 as a result of the adoption of Statement 123(R

Accounting Changes and Error Correctior On June 7, 2005, the FASB issued Statement Nh.Adgounting Changes and Error
Corrections, a replacement of APB Opinion No. Z&counting Changesand Statement No. Beporting Accounting Changes in Interim
Financial Statemeni. Statement 154 changes the requirements for tteating for and reporting of a change in accognfirinciple.
Previously, most voluntary changes in accountingaiples required recognition of a cumulative effadjustment within net income of the
period of the change. Statement 154 requires pentive application to prior periods’ financial tet@ents, unless it is impracticable to
determine either the period-specific effects ordhmulative effect of the change. Statement 1®4fective for accounting changes made in
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005;éwar, the Statement does not change the trangitmnisions of any existing accounting
pronouncements. We do not believe adoption of Btat¢ 154 will have a material effect on our cordatied financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Tax: On July 13, 2006, the FASB issued Interpretabon 48,Accounting for Uncertainty in Incon
Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 1@@rpretation 48 clarifies the accounting for utaimty in income taxes recognized in
an entity’s financial statements in accordance Bititement 109 and prescribes a recognition thigsimal measurement attribute for
financial statement disclosure of tax positionetakr expected to be taken on a tax return. Additlg, Interpretation 48 provides guidance
on derecognition, classification, interest and (fteg& accounting in interim periods, disclosure émansition. Interpretation 48 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006 witrly adoption permitted. We are currently eviihgawhether the adoption of
Interpretation 48 will have a material effect o oansolidated financial position, results of opieras or cash flows.

ltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk

Interest Income Rate Rist Based on our intentions regarding our investmemsclassify our investments as either held-toeumiigt or
available-for-sale. Held-to-maturity investments egported on the balance sheet at amortized Aweailable-forsale securities are reporte:
market value. Auction rate securities, which aessified as available-for-sale, are reported orb#i@ence sheet at par value, which equals
market value, as the rate on such securities segegterally every 7 to 28 days. As a majority afiomestments are held-to-maturity, interest
rate movements do not affect the balance sheeatiatuof the fixed income investments. Changesiénaverall level of interest rates affect
our interest income that is generated from ourshwents. For fiscal 2006, total interest income $B20 million with investments yielding
average 3.04% on a worldwide basis. This intergstlevel was up approximately 111 basis pointhflo93% for fiscal 2005. If overall
interest rates fell by a similar amount (111 basists) in fiscal 2007, our interest income wouétlhe approximately $64 million, assuming
consistent investment levels.

The table below presents the cash, cash equivatehinarketable securities balances and the relsghted average interest rates for our
investment portfolio at May 31, 2006. The cashhaaguivalent and marketable securities balanceozippate fair value at May 31, 2006:

Weighted Average

Amortized
(Dollars in millions) Principal Amount Interest Rate
Cash and cash equivalel $ 6,65 4.08%
Marketable securitie 94¢€ 2.18%
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable s $ 7,60¢ 3.84%
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The following table includes the United States alo#quivalent of cash, cash equivalents and markesecurities denominated in foreign
currencies. See discussion of our foreign curreiskybelow for a description of how we hedge neets of certain international subsidiaries
from foreign currency exposure.

Amortized

Principal

Amount at
(in millions) May 31, 2006
Japanese Ye $ 74¢
Euro 384
Chinese Renmint 303
British Pounc 304
Canadian Dolla 231
Australian Dollar 12t
South African Rant 11¢
Other currencie 92¢
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sesudénominated in foreign currenc $ 3,14

Interest Expense Rate Ris. Borrowings as of May 31, 2006 were $5.9 billicansisting of $4.3 billion of fixed rate borrowmgnd $1.6
billion of variable rate borrowings. Interest experfor fiscal 2006 was $169 million. Based on effecinterest rates at May 31, 2006, a 50
basis point increase in interest rates on our Bongs subject to variable interest rate fluctuasi@rould increase our interest expense by
approximately $8 million annually.

(Dollars in millions) Borrowings Effective Interest Rate

Floating rate senior notes due January 2009 $ 1,5C 5.28%

6.91% senior notes due February 2007 and relaterest rate swap 15C 7.30%
Total borrowings subject to variable interest faietuations $ 1,65(

(@ The 2009 Notesbear interest at a floating rate equal to threeimbiBOR plus 0.23% per year.

@ We entered into aninterest-rate swap agreement that has the ecoreffent of modifying the interest obligations assded with our
6.91% senior notes so that the interest payabta@senior notes effectively becomes variable basetthe three month LIBOR set
quarterly until maturity

Foreign Currency Transaction Risk. We transact business in various foreign currenaiel have established a program that primarily
utilizes foreign currency forward contracts to effthe risk associated with the effects of certareign currency exposures. Under this
program, increases or decreases in our foreigerayrexposures are offset by gains or losses ofotivard contracts, to mitigate the
possibility of foreign currency transaction gaimdasses. These foreign currency exposures typieaite from intercompany sublicense fees
and other intercompany transactions. Our forwardreats generally have terms of 90 days or lessdévieot use forward contracts for
trading purposes. All outstanding foreign currefaryvard contracts (excluding our Yen equity hedgsadibed below) are marked to market
at the end of the period with unrealized gainslasdes included in non-operating income, net. Qiimate realized gain or loss with respect
to currency fluctuations will depend on the curgeegchange rates and other factors in effect asdh&racts mature. Net foreign exchange
transaction gains (losses) included in non-opegdtinome, net in the accompanying consolidate@stants of operations were $15 million,
$(27) million and $(21) million in fiscal 2006, 2B@nd 2004, respectively. The fair values of faneigrrency forward contracts were not
significant individually and approximated $(0.3)llion and $0.2 million as of May 31, 2006 and 2005.
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The table below presents the notional amountsofatract exchange rates) and the weighted averageactual foreign currency exchange
rates for the outstanding forward contracts as ay /91, 2006. Notional weighted average exchangs e quoted using market conventi

where the currency is expressed in currency ueitdmited States dollar. All of our forward contiamature in 90 days or less as of May 31,

2006.

Table of Forward Contracts:
United States Dollar Foreign Exchange Contracts

(Dollars in millions)

Functional Currency:
Australian Dollat
British Pounc
Canadian Dolla
Chilean Pes:
Chinese Renmint
Columbian Pes
Euro
Indian Rupe
Japanese Ye
Korean Wor
Mexican Pes
New Zealand Dolla
Norwegian Krone
Peruvian So
Philippine Pes:
Saudi Arabian Riys
Singapore Dolla
Swedish Kronz
South African Rani
Taiwan Dollar
Thai Baht

Total

Euro Foreign Exchange Contract

(Euros in millions)

Functional Currency:
Swiss Frant
Danish Krone
British Pounc
Israeli Sheke
Norwegian Krone
Polish Zloty
Saudi Arabian Riys
Slovakian Korun:
Swedish Kron:
United States Dollza
South African Rant

Total

Exchange
Foreign Currency
for U.S. Dollars

(Notional Amount)
$ 8.4

23.2
3.1
195.
7.1
87.¢
1.7
472
18.€
4.
2.4
1.
2.2
9.2
33.2
2.2
1.2
7.4
2.7
7.5

$ 466.2

Exchange
Foreign Currency
Euros

(Notional Amount)

€ 5.8
2.4
39.2
1.8
3.C
5.8
2.C
2.1
4.€
14.1
290.5

€ 110.]
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Exchange
U.S. Dollars for
Foreign Currency

(Notional Amount)

$ 4.2
7.4

$ 20.C

Exchange
Euros for
Foreign Currency

(Notional Amount)
€ P

Notional
Weighted Average

Exchange Rate

0.7t
1.8¢
1.11
527.0(
7.9¢€
2,486.0(
1.2¢
46.14
111.2¢
946.0(
11.2C
0.65
6.1Z
3.27
53.2¢
3.7¢
1.5¢
7.2€
6.61
31.7¢
38.2%

Notional
Weighted Average

Exchange Rate

1.5¢€
7.4€
0.6¢
5.8C
7.82
3.94
4.8(C
37.8¢
9.2¢
1.2¢
8.4¢
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Net Investment Risk Periodically, we hedge the net assets of ceimdmnational subsidiaries (net investment hedgssjg foreign currenc
forward contracts to offset the translation andnetoic exposures related to our investments in tekabsidiaries. We measure the
effectiveness of net investment hedges by usingltheges in spot exchange rates because this metthects our risk management
strategies, the economics of those strategiesrifimmancial statements and better manages intesitstifferentials between different
countries. Under this method, the change in fdineraf the forward contract attributable to therades in spot exchange rates (the effective
portion) is reported in stockholders’ equity toseff the translation results on the net investm@is.remaining change in fair value of the
forward contract (the ineffective portion) is reaied in non-operating income, net.

At May 31, 2006, we had one net investment heddgajanese Yen. The Yen investment hedge minimimesrcy risk arising from net
assets held in Yen as a result of equity capitabtaduring the initial public offering and secondaffering of Oracle Japan. The fair value of
our Yen investment hedge was nominal as of May2806 and 2005. The Yen investment hedge has amabtonount of $595 million and .
exchange rate of 111 Yen per United States dollar.

Net gains (losses) on investment hedges reportstbakholder equity were $23 million, $(23) million and $(38jillion in fiscal 2006, 2005
and 2004, respectively. Net gains on investmengéedeported in non-operating income, net wereriflibn, $14 million and $8 million in
fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat
The response to this item is submitted as a sepaeation of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Sad R/, Item 15.

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with Accountants on Aounting and Financial Disclosure
Not applicable

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedur

As of the end of the period covered by this AnriR@port on Form 10-K, we carried out an evaluatindeu the supervision and with the
participation of our Disclosure Committee and oanagement, including the Chief Executive Officed &me Chief Financial Officer, of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of aseldsure controls and procedures pursuant to ExghAnt Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e).
Disclosure controls are procedures that are dedigmensure that information required to be disaiois our reports filed under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act, sucthigsAnnual Report on Form 10-K, is recorded, pssesl, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified by the Securiiesl Exchange Commission. Disclosure controls laedesigned to ensure that such
information is accumulated and communicated torsanagement, including our Chief Executive Officed £hief Financial Officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regardinguiegd disclosure. Our quarterly evaluation of discire controls includes an evaluation of
some components of our internal control over finanmeporting. We also perform a separate annualuation of internal control over
financial reporting for the purpose of providing: tthanagement report below.

The evaluation of our disclosure controls include@view of their objectives and design, the Corgfsaimplementation of the controls and
the effect of the controls on the information geed for use in this Annual Report on Form 10-Kthe course of the controls evaluation, we
reviewed data errors or control problems identii@d sought to confirm that appropriate correcéiggons, including process improvements,
were being undertaken. This type of evaluatioreiggmed on a quarterly basis so that the conahgsad management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, cenging the effectiveness of the disclosure
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controls can be reported in our periodic report&orm 10-Q and Form 10-K. Many of the componentswfdisclosure controls are also
evaluated on an ongoing basis by both our inteaudit and finance organizations. The overall goalhese various evaluation activities are
to monitor our disclosure controls and to modifgrthas necessary. We intend to maintain the disda=antrols as dynamic systems that we
adjust as circumstances merit.

Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executived®ffand Chief Financial Officer concluded that disclosure controls and procedures
were effective as of the end of the period covénethis report.

Managemen's Report on Internal Control over Financial Repdrtg

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finaha@orting, as such term is defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Untlersupervision and with the participation of oumangement, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, wentlucted an evaluation of the effectiveness ofirmernal control over financial reporting
as of May 31, 2006 based on the guidelines esteddis Internal Control — Integrated Framework by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOY.ifernal control over financial reporting incliggolicies and procedures that
provide reasonable assurance regarding the réfyabflfinancial reporting and the preparation faincial statements for external reporting
purposes in accordance with U.S. generally accegtedunting principles.

Based on the results of our evaluation, our managéroncluded that our internal control over finaheeporting was effective as of May @
2006. We reviewed the results of management’s sigs¥ with our Finance and Audit Committee.

Management’s assessment of the effectiveness ahtaunal control over financial reporting as of g, 2006 has been audited by Ernst &
Young LLP, an independent registered public acdagrftrm, as stated in their report which is inchatdin Part IV, Item 15 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportm

There were no changes in our internal control dwancial reporting identified in connection withet evaluation required by paragraph (d) of
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 or 15d-15 that occurtethg our last fiscal quarter that have materiafigcted, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over finaaareporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Contro

The Company’s management, including our Chief EtteeuDfficer and Chief Financial Officer, believewt our disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial répg are effective at the reasonable assuran@. [ebowever, the Company’s management
does not expect that our disclosure controls andgatures or our internal control over financialoming will prevent all errors and all fraud.
A control system, no matter how well conceived apdrated, can provide only reasonable, not absasteirance that the objectives of the
control system are met. Further, the design ofrdrobsystem must reflect the fact that there aspurce constraints, and the benefits of
controls must be considered relative to their cadsause of the inherent limitations in all cohtiystems, no evaluation of controls can
provide absolute assurance that all control isanesinstances of fraud, if any, within the Comphaye been detected. These inherent
limitations include the realities that judgmentsigcision-making can be faulty, and that breakdogamsoccur because of a simple error or
mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvenbgdthe individual acts of some persons, by callusif two or more people or by
management override of the controls. The desigangfsystem of controls also is based in part ugotain assumptions about the likelihood
of future events, and there can be no assurantartaesign will succeed in achieving its statedlg under all potential future conditions;
over time, controls may become inadequate becdud®aages in conditions, or the degree of compéanith policies or procedures may
deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitationa gost-effective control system, misstatementstdwsror or fraud may occur and not be
detected.
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Item 9B.  Other Information
None

PART IlI

ltem 10.  Directors and Executive Officers of the Registran

The information required by this Item with resptecthe directors and compliance with Section 16fdhe Securities and Exchange Act is
incorporated by reference from the information [ided under the headings “Board of Directors” andct®n 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance,” respectively, containedum Broxy Statement to be filed with the Securidad Exchange Commission in
connection with the solicitation of proxies for cAmnual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on Oetd® 2006.

The information required by this Item with respecbur executive officers is contained in Partém 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
under the heading “Executive Officers of the Regist”

The information required by this Item with respcbur audit committee members and our audit cotemiinancial experts is incorporated
herein by reference from the information provideder the heading “The Finance and Audit Committ#fejur Proxy Statement.

The information required by this Item with respecbur code of business ethics is incorporatedihéngreference from the information
provided under the heading “Statement on Corpdsateernance—Employee Matters” of our Proxy Statement

The information required by this Item with respcmaterial changes to the procedures by whictstmgkholders may recommend nominees
to our Board of Directors is incorporated hereinréference from the information provided underhbkading “The Nomination and
Governance Committee” of our Proxy Statement.

ltem 11.  Executive Compensatior

The information required by this Item is incorpeby reference from the information provided urttierheading “Executive Compensation”
of our Proxy Statement. The information specifiedtém 402 (k) and (I) of Regulation S-K and settan our Proxy Statement is not
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andManagement and Related Stockholder Matter:

Equity Compensation Plan Informatiol

May 31, 2006
Number of Remaining Avaiabie for
Shares to be_lssued Weight_ed-A\{erage
Outstanding Opions Outstanding Optons Future Issuance Under
Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Plans®
Equity compensation plans approved by
stockholder 385,399,09 $ 12.4:% 484,541,25@
Equity compensation plans not approved by
stockholder$® 88,048,79 $ 16.8: —
Total 473,447,89 484,541,25

@ These numbers exclude thehares listed under the column headiNgrhber of Shares to be Issued Upon Exercise oft@ndsg Options
Warrants and Right”

@ This number includes 87,201,428 shares available tardussuance under the Oracle Corporation Empl&geek Purchase Plan (1992).

@) These options were assumed in connection with our adipns in fiscal 2005 and fiscal 2006. No additibaavards were or can be
granted under the plans that originally issueddtmsions
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Information required by this Item with respect to& Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Eggment is incorporated herein by
reference from the information provided under teading “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @rs and Management” of our Proxy
Statement.

ltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transaction

The information required by this Item is incorpeherein by reference from the information prodideder the heading “Related Party
Transactions” of our Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is incorpedherein by reference from the information prodidaeder the heading “Ratification of
Selection of Independent Registered Public Accognfiirm” of our Proxy Statement.

PART IV

ltem 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule

(@ 1. Financial Statements

The following financial statements are filed asaat pf this report:

Page
Reports of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registé?ablic Accounting Firn 62

Consolidated Financial Statemer
Balance Sheets as of May 31, 2006 and - 64
Statements of Operations for the years ended Mag®16, 2005 and 20( 65
Statements of Stockhold’ Equity for the years ended May 31, 2006, 2005 G#. 66
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended Mag2@16, 2005 and 20( 67
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem 68

2. Financial Statement Schedules
The following financial statement schedule is fikela part of this report:

Page
I Valuation and Qualifying Accoun 10z

All other schedules are omitted because they areegaired or the required information is shownha financial statements or notes thereto.

(b)  Exhibits
The following exhibits are filed herewith or aredmporated by reference to exhibits previouslydfikdth the SEC (the original Exhibit
number is referenced parenthetically).

Exhibit

Number Exhibit Title

2.01® Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of Septetthe2005, as amended, by and among Oracle Systerpsi@tion
(formerly named Oracle Corporation), Siebel Systdms, Oracle Corporation (formerly named Ozarkdittg Inc.), Ozark
Merger Sub Inc. and Sierra Merger Sub Inc. (

3.01W Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatio®macle Corporation and Certificate of Amendmeihfmended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Oracle ji2wation (3.1

3.022 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Oracle CorporaB8diR|

4.01 Specimen Certificate of Registr’s Common Stoc
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit Title
4.020 Preferred Share Rights Agreement between OraclpdCation and Computershare Trust Company, N.Arigéts agent, dated
as of January 31, 2006 (10
4.03® Indenture dated January 13, 2006, among Oracle®gsCorporation, Oracle Corporation and Citibaniy.N10.34)
4.040 Forms of Old 2009 Note, Old 2011 Note and Old 2Bbée, together with the Officers’ Certificate isdutanuary 13, 2006
pursuant to the Indenture dated January 13, 2006ng Oracle Corporation, Ozark Holding Inc., antiiank, N.A. (10.35
4.05@ Forms of New Floating Rate Note due 2009, New 5.00%¢ due 2011 and New 5.25% Note due 2016 (4.4)
4.066) Registration Rights Agreement dated as of Janugy2006 among Oracle Systems Corporation, Oractpdztation and
Citigroup Global Markets Inc., J.P. Morgan Secastinc. and Wachovia Capital Markets, LLC, as &hBurchasers (4.:
10.016)* Oracle Corporation 1993 Deferred Compensation Ris@amended and restated as of November 14, 20Qi37§1
10.02M* Oracle Corporation Employee Stock Purchase Pla®2)1&s amended and restated as of February 8,(2008L)
10.03®* Oracle Corporation Amended and Restated 1993 Dirgcbtock Plan, as amended through August 26, 20082)
10.04©) * The 1991 Long-Term Equity Incentive Plan, as amdrideough October 18, 1999 (10.11)
10.05¢0*  Amendment to the 1991 Long-Term Equity IncentiverRdated January 7, 2000 (10.09)
10.06@0*  Amendment to the 1991 Long-Term Equity IncentivarRldated June 2, 2000 (10.10)
10.07@v*  Amended and Restated 2000 Long-Term Equity Incerikan, as approved on October 29, 2004 (10.07)
10.08@2*  Form of Stock Option Agreements for the 2000 Loregrt Equity Incentive Plan (10.08)
10.09@2*  Form of Stock Option Agreement for Oracle Corpanathmended and Restated 1993 Directors’ Stock @lai09)
10.10@2*  Form of Indemnification Agreement for Directors d@axecutive Officers (10.10)
10.11@2*  Letter dated September 15, 2004 confirming severan@ngement contained in Offer Letter dated M&y2003 to Charles E.
Phillips, Jr. and employment agreement dated May2@63 (10.11
10.12@3*  Amendment dated August 26, 2005, to the Offer Lettded May 14, 2003, to Charles E. Phillips, 70.25)
10.13@2*  Offer letter dated September 7, 2004 to JuergetidR@ind employment agreement dated Septembei0Z, @0.13)
10.1404)* Description of the Fiscal Year 2006 Executive BoRlen (10.27)
10.1515)* Form of Executive Bonus Plan Agreements for thec@er&xecutive Bonus Plan, Non-Sales (10.29)
10.1615)* Form of Executive Bonus Plan Agreement for the @r&xecutive Bonus Plan, Sales and Consulting (0.3
10.17016) &3178)2,:?)00,000 Facility Agreement dated May 20, 2@@bween Oracle Technology Company and ABN AMROKBErV.
10.1806) Guaranty dated May 20, 2005, by Oracle Corpordtiothe benefit of ABN AMRO Bank N.V. (10.24)
10.19a7 First Amendment dated as of January 5, 2006, té&#udity Agreement between Oracle Technology Camyand ABN
AMRO Bank, N.V. and the Guaranty by Oracle Syst&uogporation for the benefit of ABN AMRO Bank, N.\éach dated as
of May 20, 2005 (10.3z
10.20a7 $5,000,000,000 364-Day Term Loan Agreement datexd danuary 5, 2006, among Oracle Corporation, Bragstems

Corporation and the lenders and agents named th@@i33)
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit Title

10.21318) Form of Commercial Paper Dealer Agreement relatinpe $3,000,000,000 Commercial Paper Progran2)10.

10.2238) Issuing and Paying Agency Agreement between Ofatporation and JP Morgan Chase Bank, National @iason dated as

of February 3, 2006 (10..

10.2319) $3,000,000,000 ¥-ear Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of Marsh2D06, among Oracle Corporation and the lendwst:

agents named therein (10

10.240*  Offer Letter dated June 20, 2005 to Gregory B. Kiadhd employment agreement dated June 21, 20084(10
10.25eH*  Amendment dated September 8, 2005, to the Offdet.dated June 20, 2005, to Gregory B. Maffei (&p.2
10.262*  Resignation Agreement dated November 3, 2005, efj@w B. Maffei (10.28)

21.01 Subsidiaries of the Registre

23.01 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registd?ablic Accounting Firn
31.01 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sael-Oxley Act—Lawrence J. Ellisol
31.02 Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saek-Oxley Aci—Safra A. Cat:

32.01 Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saek-Oxley Act

*
()]
@
®)
4)
®)
(6)
©)
®)
©)
(10)
1
(12)
(13)
(14
(15)
(16)
an
(18)
(19)
(20)
1
(22)

Indicates management contract or compensatorygslarrangemer

Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporation’s Current ReparForm 8-K12G3 filed on February 6, 2006
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporation’s Current ReparForm 8-K filed on July 14, 2006

Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Corporation’s CtiReport on Form 8-K filed on January 20, 2006
Incorporated by reference to the Form S-4/A filed on April 1908

Incorporated by reference to the Form S-4 filedvtarch 7, 2006

Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Corporation’s @ugrReport on Form 10-Q filed December 22, 2004
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Corporation’s Qtgreport on Form 10-Q filed September 28, 2005
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Corporation’s @ugrReport on Form 10-Q filed December 18, 2003
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Catjmors Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed Janubfy 2000
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Corporation’s AnRegdort on Form 10-K filed August 28, 2000
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Corporation’s CtiReport on Form 8-K filed November 4, 2004
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Corporation’s @ugrReport on Form 10-Q filed September 17, 2004
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Corporation’s CtiReport on Form 8-K filed August 30, 2005
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Corporation’s @ufReport on Form 8-K filed on October 13, 2005
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Corporation’s Qtlgreport on Form 10-Q filed January 5, 2006
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Corporation’s CtiReport on Form 8-K filed on May 26, 2005
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Corporation’s CtiReport on Form 8-K filed January 11, 2006
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporation’s Current ReparForm 8-K filed on February 9, 2006
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Corporation’s Current ReparForm 8-K filed March 21, 2006

Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Corporation’s CtiReport on Form 8-K filed June 27, 2005
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Corporation’s CtiReport on Form 8-K filed on September 9, 2005
Incorporated by reference to Oracle Systems Corporation’s CtiReport on Form 8-K filed on November 9, 2005
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of OraabepGration

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Oracle Corporation as of May 31, 20052005, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockhdldgtsty, and cash flows for each of the three géarhe period ended May 31, 2006. Our
audits also included the financial statement scledlikted in the Index at Item 15(a) 2. These fiahstatements and schedule are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupaasibility is to express an opinion on these foiahstatements and schedule based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindmecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disads in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptegused and significant estimates made by marageas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thatadits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢consolidated financial position of Oracle
Corporation at May 31, 2006 and 2005, and the dafeted results of its operations and its cash $lder each of the three years in the period
ended May 31, 2006, in conformity with U.S. genlgratcepted accounting principles. Also, in oumiqn, the related financial statement
schedule, when considered in relation to the Hasanicial statements taken as a whole, presentyg faiall material respects the information
set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the effectiveness
of Oracle Corporation’s internal control over firéal reporting as of May 31, 2006, based on catestablished iinternal Control—
Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission and our report datéd2 2006
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLI
San Francisco, California
July 20, 2006
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REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of OraabepGration

We have audited management’s assessment, whiohtaiced in Part I, Item 9A of this Annual Repomtform 10-K under the heading
“Management’s Report on Internal Control Over FitiahReporting,” that Oracle Corporation maintairedtictive internal control over
financial reporting as of May 31, 2006, based dteGa established imternal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commis@toe COSO criteria). Oracle Corporation’s managneresponsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reportiagd for its assessment of the effectiveness efnal control over financial reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on managgmassessment and an opinion on the effectivesfeb® company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBq@nited States). Those stande
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtagsonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordver financial reporting, evaluating
management’s assessment, testing and evaluatirpiign and operating effectiveness of internatrobrand performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the @tanoes. We believe that our audit provides a redde basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttiegenerally accepted accounting
principles. A company'’s internal control over fircgal reporting includes those policies and proceduhat (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainly reflect the transactions and dispositionshef assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdeztessary to permit preparation of financétkestents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeinrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (8jige reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the companygseds that could have a material effect on then@izé statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that OGuaigoration maintained effective internal conteér financial reporting as of May 31,
2006, is fairly stated, in all material respectsdd on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinionacle Corporation maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financegorting as of May 31, 2006, based on the CO%€rier.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the 2006
consolidated financial statements of Oracle Corjjmmaand our report dated July 20, 2006 expreseaghgualified opinion thereon.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLI
San Francisco, California
July 20, 2006
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of May 31, 2006 and 2005

May 31,
(in millions, except per share data) 2006 2005
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,65¢ $ 3,89/
Marketable securities 94¢€ 877
Trade receivables, net of allowances of $325 art®: 3,027 2,57(
Other receivables 39¢ 33C
Deferred tax assets 714 48€
Prepaid expenses and other current a 23t 291
Total current assets 11,97« 8,44¢
Non-current asset:
Property, net 1,391 1,44z
Intangible assets, net 4,52¢ 3,37:
Goodwill 9,80¢ 7,002
Other assets 1,327 421
Total nor-current asset 17,05¢ 12,23¢
Total assets $29,02¢ $20,687
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Shor-term borrowings and current portion of Ic-term debt $ 15¢ $ 2,69¢
Accounts payable 26¢ 23C
Income taxes payable 81C 904
Accrued compensation and related bent 1,17z 92z
Accrued restructuring 412 15€
Deferred revenues 2,83( 2,28¢
Other current liabilitie: 1,27¢ 86¢
Total current liabilities 6,93( 8,06
Non-current liabilities:
Notes payable and long-term debt, net of currentiqo 5,73¢ 15¢
Deferred tax liabilities 564 1,01C
Accrued restructurin 273 12C
Deferred revenues 114 12€
Other long-term liabilities 401 37z
Total nor-current liabilities 7,087 1,781
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholder' equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value—authorized: 1aes) outstanding: none — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value and additional paichpital—authorized: 11,000 shares; outstandifg85shares at May 31, 2006 and
5,145 shares at May 31, 2005 9,24¢ 6,59¢
Retained earning 5,53¢ 4,04:
Deferred compensation (30) (45)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 25¢ 242
Total stockholders’ equity 15,017 10,831
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $29,02¢ $20,687

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Years Ended May 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2006 2005
Revenues
New software license $ 4,90¢ $ 4,091
Software license updates and product sug 6,63¢€ 5,33(
Software revenue 11,54: 9,421
Services 2,83¢ 2,37¢
Total revenue 14,38( 11,79¢
Operating expense
Sales and marketir 3,17 2,511
Software license updates and product sug 71¢ 61€
Cost of service 2,51¢ 2,03:
Research and developmt 1,872 1,491
General and administratiy 55k 55C
Amortization of intangible asse 583 21¢
Acquisition relatec 137 20¢
Restructuring 85 147
Total operating expens 9,64 7,77
Operating incom: 4,73¢€ 4,022
Interest expens (169 (13%)
Non-operating income, ne
Interest incomt 17¢ 18t
Net investment gain 25 2
Other 48 (23)
Total nor-operating income, ne 243 164
Income before provision for income tay 4,81( 4,051
Provision for income taxe 1,42¢ 1,165
Net income $ 3,381 $ 2,88¢
Earnings per shar
Basic $ 0.6F $ 0.5¢
Diluted $ 0.64 $ 0.5t
Weighted average common shares outstani
Basic 5,19¢ 5,13¢
Diluted 5,287 5,231

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

For the Years Ended May 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

Common Stock and

Accumulated

Additional Paid in Capital Other
Comprehensive Comprehensive
Number of Retained Deferred

(in millions) Income Shares Amount Earnings Compensatior Income (Loss) Total
Balances as of May 31, 20! 523: $ 5101 $ 1,092 $ — $ 127 $ 6,32(
Common stock issued under stock option plans $ — 38 19C — — — 19C
Common stock issued under stock purchase plan — 18 164 — — — 164
Repurchase of common sta — (11¢) (109 (1,390 — — (1,499
Tax benefits from stock plans — — 11C — — — 11C
Foreign currency translation 75 — — — — 75 75
Net equity hedge los (293) — — — — (23) (23)
Reversal of unrealized gain on equity securities (25) — — — — 25) (25)
Unrealized gain on equity securities 2 — — — — 2 2
Net income 2,681 — — 2,681 — — 2,681
Comprehensive income $ 2,71(
Balances as of May 31, 2004 5,171 5,45¢€ 2,38: — 15€ 7,99
Common stock issued under stock option plans $ — 71 46¢ — — — 46€
Common stock issued under stock purchase — 17 161 — — — 161
Issuance of stock and assumption of stock options i

connection with acquisitions — 1 504 — (123) — 381
Amortization of deferred sto-based compensatic — — (6 — 78 — 72
Repurchase of common stock — (115) (117 (1,22€¢) — — (1,349
Tax benefit from stock plans — — 13C — — — 13C
Minimum benefit plan liability adjustmen (1€) — — — — (16) (16)
Foreign currency translation 111 — — — — 111 111
Net equity hedge los (14) — — — — (14) (14)
Unrealized gain on equity securities 6 — — — — 6 6
Net income 2,88¢ — — 2,88¢ — — 2,88¢
Comprehensive income $ 2,97
Balances as of May 31, 2005 5,14¢ 6,59 4,04 (45) 243 10,837
Common stock issued under stock option p $ — 87 578 — — — 572
Common stock issued under stock purchase plan — 6 59 — — — 59
Issuance of stock and assumption of stock options i

connection with acquisitior — 141 2,04z — (39 — 2,002
Amortization of deferred stock-based compensation — — 5) — 54 — 49
Repurchase of common stock — 147) (181) (1,88€) — — (2,067%)
Tax benefit from stock plar — — 162 — — — 162
Minimum benefit plan liability adjustments ) — — — — 3) )
Foreign currency translation 7 — — — — 7 7
Net equity hedge gali 14 — — — — 14 14
Unrealized gain on equity securiti 11 — — — — 11 11
Reversal of unrealized gain on equity securities (14) — — — — 14) (14)
Net income 3,381 — — 3,381 — — 3,381
Comprehensive income $ 3,39¢
Balances as of May 31, 2006 523: $ 9,24¢ $ 553t $ (30 $ 256 $ 15,01:

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2006
Cash Flows From Operating Activitie
Net income $ 3,381
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigea by operating activitie:
Depreciatior 22¢
Amortization of intangible asse 58¢
Provision for trade receivable allowanc 241
Deferred income taxe (40)
Minority interests in incom 41
Amortization of stoc-based compensatic 49
Non-cash restructurin —
In-process research and developr 78
Net investment gains related to equity secur (39)
Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effacinfacquisitions
Increase in trade receivabl (35%)
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and ctbets 14
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and abédities 23
Increase (decrease) in income taxes pay 64
Increase in deferred revent 27¢
Net cash provided by operating activit 4,541
Cash Flows From Investing Activitie
Purchases of marketable securi (2,129
Proceeds from maturities and sale of marketablergess 3,67t
Acquisitions, net of cash acquir (3,959
Purchases of equity and other investm: (85¢)
Capital expenditure (23€)
Proceeds from sales of prope 14C
Net cash used for investing activiti (3,359
Cash Flows From Financing Activitie
Payments for repurchase of common st (2,067
Proceeds from issuance of common sl 632
Proceeds from borrowings, net of financing ct 12,63¢
Payments of det (9,63%)
Distributions to minority interest (39
Net cash provided by (used for) financing actig 1,52
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casvadnts 56
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 2,76¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe 3,89/
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $ 6,65¢
Non-cash financing transactior
Fair value of options and stock issued in connectiith acquisitions $ 2,04:
Supplemental schedule of cash flow di
Cash paid for income tax $ 1,41
Cash paid for intere: $ 74

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2005
$ 2,88¢

20€
21¢
197
(66)
42
72
33
46

@

(88)
164
(539)
(18)
394
3,55:

(7,107)
12,19
(10,656)
(2)
(18¢)

(5,759

(1,349
59€
12,50t
(9,830
(44)

1,88«

73

(244)
4,13¢

$ 3,89/

$ 504

$ 1,26¢
$ 11¢

2004
$ 2,681

19¢
36
17z
58
37

(29

(245)
(30)
25
20C
91

3,19¢

(10,310
8,00
(21)
(37)
(18¢)

(2,546)

(1,499)
354

6

(150)

(31)
(1,320
_ 74
(599)
4,73

$ 4,13¢

$ —

$ 1,01C
$ 23
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1. ORGANIZATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Oracle Corporation develops, manufactures, marklesjbutes and services database, middlewarepplications software that helps
organizations manage and grow their businesseabBs¢ and middleware software is used for devalamid deploying applications on the
internet and on corporate intranets. Applicaticofsrgare can be used to automate business procasdde provide business intelligence. We
also offer software license updates and produghatimnd other services including consulting, Omi2ad (formerly advanced product
services) and education.

Oracle Corporation is a holding corporation withnanship of its direct and indirect subsidiariesjaliinclude Oracle Systems Corporation
(Old Oracle), Siebel Systems, Inc. (Siebel) andhedcheir domestic and foreign subsidiaries arotivedworld. Oracle Corporation, or Oras
was initially formed as a direct wholly-owned sutary of Old Oracle. Prior to January 31, 2006,6¥& name was Ozark Holding Inc. and
Old Oracle’s name was Oracle Corporation. On Jan8iay 2006, in connection with the acquisition dft&l, which is described in Note 2, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Oracle was merged witk &nto Old Oracle, with Old Oracle surviving ag/olly-owned subsidiary of Oracle
(the Reorganization). In addition, another whollyr@d subsidiary of Oracle was merged with and 8i&bel, with Siebel surviving as a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Oracle. As a result, €@esbecame the parent company of Old Oracle araeFiand the changes to the names of
Oracle and Old Oracle were effected.

Basis of Financial Statemer

The consolidated financial statements include capants and the accounts of our wholly- and majaritned subsidiaries. We consolidate
all of our majority-owned subsidiaries, exceptifflex solutions limited as discussed in Note 2q aeflect minority interest of the portion of
these entities that we do not own in other longatéabilities on our consolidated balance sheetdVlAy 31, 2006 and 2005, the balance of
minority interests was $209 million and $199 miflijsespectively. Intercompany transactions andrieaishave been eliminated. Certain ¢
year balances have been reclassified to conforimetourrent year presentation. Such reclassifioataid not affect total revenues, opera
income or net income.

Use of Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with U.S. generally accepted accogmtiinciples (GAAP). These
accounting principles require us to make certafimeges, judgments and assumptions. We believahkagstimates, judgments and
assumptions upon which we rely are reasonable hgs@uinformation available to us at the time thase estimates, judgments and
assumptions are made. These estimates, judgmeahtsanmptions can affect the reported amountsset@and liabilities as of the date of
financial statements as well as the reported ansoafitevenues and expenses during the periodsmieesd o the extent there are material
differences between these estimates, judgmentssongtions and actual results, our financial stateéswill be affected. In many cases, the
accounting treatment of a particular transactiospiscifically dictated by GAAP and does not requir@agement’s judgment in its
application. There are also areas in which managgsi@dgment in selecting among available altéuestwould not produce a materially
different result.

Revenue Recognitic

We derive revenues from the following sources:s@fjware, which includes new software license afthare license updates and product
support revenues and (2) services, which includsating, On Demand and education revenues.

New software license revenues represent fees efnoradyranting customers licenses to use our databad middleware technology as v
as applications software, and exclude revenuesatkefiom software license
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updates, which are included in software licenseatggland product support. While the basis for sfivlicense revenue recognition is
substantially governed by the provisions of Stateneé Position No. 97-25oftware Revenue Recognitiossued by the American Institute
Certified Public Accountants, we exercise judgnamd use estimates in connection with the deterioimatf the amount of software and
services revenues to be recognized in each acogupdiriod.

For software license arrangements that do not regignificant modification or customization of thederlying software, we recognize new
software license revenue when: (1) we enter in&mally binding arrangement with a customer forlibense of software; (2) we deliver the
products; (3) customer payment is deemed fixedeterdhinable and free of contingencies or signifiesarcertainties; and (4) collection is
probable. Substantially all of our new softwarefise revenues are recognized in this manner.

The vast majority of our software license arrangaiméclude software license updates and prodymiat, which are recognized ratably
over the term of the arrangement, typically onery8aftware license updates provide customers rigthits to unspecified software product
upgrades, maintenance releases and patches rethagggithe term of the support period. Producipsupincludes internet access to techr
content, as well as internet and telephone acogsshnical support personnel. Software licenseatgedand product support are generally
priced as a percentage of the net new softwaredeéees.

Many of our software arrangements include consyliiimplementation services sold separately undeswting engagement contracts.
Consulting revenues from these arrangements aerggnaccounted for separately from new softwarenise revenues because the
arrangements qualify as service transactions asetein SOP 97-2. The more significant factors abered in determining whether the
revenue should be accounted for separately in¢hel@ature of services (i.e., consideration of Wwaethe services are essential to the
functionality of the licensed product), degreeiskyavailability of services from other vendoiigsjing of payments and impact of milestones
or acceptance criteria on the realizability of sftware license fee. Revenues for consulting sesvare generally recognized as the services
are performed. If there is a significant uncertaaibout the project completion or receipt of paytrfenthe consulting services, revenue is
deferred until the uncertainty is sufficiently rbsam. Contracts with fixed or “not to exceed” fese recognized on a proportional
performance basis.

If an arrangement does not qualify for separatewauiing of the software license and consultingdeations, then new software license
revenue is generally recognized together with tresalting services based on contract accountinggusither the percentage-oémpletion o
completed-contract method. Contract accountingdiad to any arrangements: (1) that include nless or customer specific acceptance
criteria that may affect collection of the softwéicense fees; (2) where services include significaodification or customization of the
software; (3) where significant consulting serviaes provided for in the software license contweithout additional charge or are
substantially discounted; or (4) where the softWaense payment is tied to the performance of ahimg services.

Revenues from On Demand services are recognizedtmréerm of the service contract, which is gelherme year. Education revenues are
recognized as the classes or other education mdfeare delivered.

For arrangements with multiple elements, we al®cavenue to each element of a transaction basmditgfair value as determined by
“vendor specific objective evidence.” Vendor spiecifbjective evidence of fair value for all elem®&nf an arrangement is based upon the
normal pricing and discounting practices for thpseducts and services when sold separately ansbfoware license updates and product
support services based upon the renewal rate dfterthe customer.
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We defer revenue for any undelivered elementsracaognize revenue when the product is delivereaer the period in which the service is
performed, in accordance with our revenue recogmppiolicy for such element. If we cannot objectyvéétermine the fair value of any
undelivered element included in bundled softwar service arrangements, we defer revenue untlefhents are delivered and services
have been performed, or until fair value can oljet be determined for any remaining undelivertdrents. When the fair value of a
delivered element has not been established, wehasesidual method to record revenue if the falug of all undelivered elements is
determinable. Under the residual method, the falmer of the undelivered elements is deferred aaddmaining portion of the arrangement
fee is allocated to the delivered elements anddegnized as revenue.

Our software license arrangements generally dinehide acceptance provisions. However, if accagagnrovisions exist as part of public
policy, for example in agreements with governmattities when acceptance periods are required bydawithin previously executed terms
and conditions that are referenced in the currgreéeanent and are short-term in nature, we provada Kales return allowance in accordance
with Financial Accounting Standards Board StatenNmt48,Revenue Recognition when Right of Return Exi$t@cceptance provisions are
long-term in nature or are not included as stantinds of an arrangement or if we cannot reasonediiynate the incidence of returns,
revenue is recognized upon the earlier of recdiptritten customer acceptance or expiration ofdbeeptance period.

We also evaluate arrangements with governmentaiesntontaining “fiscal funding” or “terminatiorof convenience” provisions, when such
provisions are required by law, to determine thabpbility of possible cancellation. We consider tiple factors, including the history with
the customer in similar transactions, the “esskntia” of the software licenses and the planning, budgetimd approval processes underte
by the governmental entity. If we determine that likelihood of non-acceptance in these arrangesristemote, we then recognize revenue
once all of the criteria described above have lmeen If such a determination cannot be made, rev@&tecognized upon the earlier of cash
receipt or approval of the applicable funding psis by the governmental entity.

We assess whether fees are fixed or determinathe ditme of sale and recognize revenue if all otbeenue recognition requirements are
met. Our standard payment terms are net 30; howtmrens may vary based on the country in whichaeiii@ement is executed. Payments that
are due within six months are generally deemecetiided or determinable based on our successfléatan history on such arrangements,
and thereby satisfy the required criteria for rex@recognition.

While most of our arrangements include short-teaynpent terms, we have a standard practice of prayidng-term financing to credit
worthy customers through our financing division. Wave established a history of collection, withcomcessions, on these receivables with
payment terms that generally extend up to five yéam the contract date. Provided all other reeeracognition criteria have been met, we
recognize new software license revenue for thesmgements upon delivery, net of any payment disisoiiom financing transactions. In
fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, $618 million, $456 imilland $357 million or approximately 13%, 11% d@46 of our new software license
revenues were financed through our financing divisWe have generally sold these receivables amaecourse basis to third party
financing institutions. We account for the saléhwse receivables as “true sales” as defined inBF8&tement No. 14@®ccounting for
Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets andrigxishments of Liabilities

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts and Retu

We record allowances for doubtful accounts baseah @pspecific review of all significant outstandingoices. For those invoices not
specifically reviewed, provisions are provided ifieding rates, based upon the age of the
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receivable. In determining these percentages, \akyza our historical collection experience and eatreconomic trends. We also record a
provision for estimated sales returns and allowsmmeeproduct and service related sales in the gemed the related revenues are recorde
accordance with Statement 48. These estimatesaasgllon historical sales returns, analysis of tredimo data and other known factors.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that are potentially subjeatoncentrations of credit risk consist primadfycash and cash equivalents, marketable
securities and trade receivables. Investment galibbve been implemented that limit investmeniswestment grade securities. We do not
require collateral to secure accounts receivaliie.risk with respect to trade receivables is miiday credit evaluations we perform on our
customers, the short duration of our payment tenusby the diversification of our customer base.

Other Receivables
Other receivables represents value-added tax desltsx receivables associated with the sale tfvané and services to third parties.

Marketable Equity Securities and Other Investm

In accordance with FASB Statement No. 1A8¢ounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Bg8ecuritiesand based on our intentions
regarding these instruments, we classify our matketequity securities as available-for-sale. Meale equity securities are included in
other assets in the accompanying consolidated talsimeets and all unrealized gains (losses) deeted net of tax in stockholdersguity. If
we determine that an investment has an other #rapdrary decline in fair value, generally definedadnen our cost basis exceeds the fair
value for approximately six months, we recognizeitivestment loss in non-operating income, neliénaccompanying consolidated
statements of operations. We periodically evaloateinvestments to determine if impairment chamyesrequired.

We also have investments in privately held compmaaiel venture funds, which are carried at costréView the financial condition and near
term prospects of the underlying investees, chamgg® market demand for technology being soldenreloped by the underlying investees
and our intent regarding providing future fundinghe underlying investees in determining whettmeingpairment charge is required.

The net carrying value of our marketable equityusiéies and other investments as of May 31, 20@62005 was $81 million and $60
million, respectively. Unrealized gains in stockihais’ equity, net of tax associated with thesetgggecurities were $11 million, $6 million
and $2 million for fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, extively. We had nominal impairment losses relatecharketable equity securities and
other investments in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004.

Property

Property is stated at the lower of cost or realzablue, net of accumulated depreciation. Deptiecias computed using the straight-line
method based on estimated useful lives of the sssbich range from one to fifty years. Leasehaigriovements are amortized over the
lesser of estimated useful lives or lease termapasopriate. Property is periodically reviewedifapairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amoumtnodisset may not be recoverable. We did not rezegmiy property impairment charges in
fiscal 2006, 2005 or 2004.
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Gooduwill represents the excess of the purchase pria business combination over the fair valueetftangible and intangible assets
acquired. Goodwill amounts are not amortized, bther are tested for impairment at least annultpngible assets that are not consider
have an indefinite useful life are amortized oVt useful lives, which range from three to teange The carrying amount of these assets is
reviewed whenever events or changes in circumssandgate that the carrying value of an asset nuype recoverable. Recoverability of
these assets is measured by comparison of thargaagnount of the asset to the future undiscoundsth flows the asset is expected to
generate. If the asset is considered to be impainecamount of any impairment is measured asifferehce between the carrying value and
the fair value of the impaired asset. We did nobgmize any goodwill or intangible asset impairmgmdrges in fiscal 2006, 2005 or 2004.

Fair Value of Financial Instrumen

The carrying value of our cash and cash equivakgmpsoximates fair value due to the short periotinoé to maturity. We record changes in
fair value for our marketable securities, publitigded equity securities, interest rate swap, §oreurrency forward contracts and investment
hedge based on quoted market prices. Based orattiag prices of our $5.75 billion senior notes &émelinterest rates we could obtain for
other borrowings with similar terms, the estimafad value of our borrowings at May 31, 2006 an®2®as $5,730 million and

$2,852 million, respectively.

Legal Contingencie

We are currently involved in various claims andalggroceedings. Quarterly, we review the statusagh significant matter and assess our
potential financial exposure. If the potential Iésm any claim or legal proceeding is considerszbpble and the amount can be reasonably
estimated, we accrue a liability for the estimdtess.

Foreign Currency Translatio

We transact business in various foreign currendgiiegeneral, the functional currency of a foreigretion is the local country’s currency.
Consequently, revenues and expenses of operatitsisi® the United States are translated into UrBttades dollars using weighted-average
exchange rates while assets and liabilities of atpmrs outside the United States are translatedunited States dollars using year-end
exchange rates. The effects of foreign currenaystedion adjustments not affecting retained easarg included in stockholders’ equity as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive indtoes) in the accompanying consolidated balaneetsh Foreign currency gains
(losses) are included in non-operating incomejmetr consolidated statements of operations ané %89 million, $(14) million and $(13)
million in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively

Stock-Based Compensation

We issue stock options to our employees and outiidetors under stockholder approved stock optimgrams and provide employees the
right to purchase our stock pursuant to employeekgpurchase programs. We account for our stockébasmpensation plans under the
intrinsic value method of accounting as definedMogounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25¢counting for Stock Issued to Employees
and related interpretations. We apply the discloguovisions of FASB Statement No. 12&8counting for Stock-Based Compensatias
amended by FASB Statement No. 1A8¢counting for Stock-Based Compensation—TransérahDisclosure For pro forma disclosures, the
estimated fair value of the unvested options isréimen using the accelerated expense attributiothogeover the vesting period, typically
four years, and the estimated fair value of thekspurchases is amortized over the six-month pwelperiod. The following table illustrates
the effect
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on reported net income and earnings per share ffageaccounted for our stock option and stock mgelplans under the fair value metho
accounting:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2006 2005 2004
Net income, as reporte $3,381 $2,88¢ $2,681
Add: Employee compensation expense incudaet income, net of related tax effe 39 70 —
Deduct: Stock-based employee compensation egpirtermined under the fair value methoc
net of forfeitures and related tax effe@ts (15¢) (20%) (203

Pro forma net incom $3,26: $2,751 $2,47¢
Earnings per shar

Basic—as reportel $ 0.6t $ 0.5¢ $ 0.51

Basi——pro forma $ 0.6: $ 0.54 $ 0.4¢

Diluted—as reportet $ 0.64 $ 0.5¢ $ 0.5C

Diluted—pro forma $ 0.6z $ 0.52 $ 0.4¢€

@ Includes reversal of unearned stock compensatiparese for forfeitures arising from our use of theederated expense attribution mett
net of related tax effects, of $37 million, $28 linih and $59 million in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 20

We estimate the fair value of our options usingack-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model, which veeveloped for use in estimating the
fair value of traded options that have no vesteggrictions and are fully transferable. Option adilon models require the input of
assumptions, including the expected stock pricatility. Our options have characteristics signifittg different from those of traded options,
and changes in the input assumptions can matesati#gt the fair value estimates. We estimateddirevalues of employee and director st
options granted, including options issued or asslfren acquisitions, at the date of grant usingfttlewing weighted-average assumptions:

Year Ended May 31,

2006 2005 2004
Employee and Director Stock Options

Expected life (in years 0.25-7.5C 0.25-6.5¢€ 1.2€-7.0C
Risk-free interest rat 3.36-5.11% 2.4(-4.05% 1.65-4.0%
Expected volatility 24-28% 27-36% 35-44%
Dividend yield — — —
Weighted average fair value of gra $ 3.8¢ $ 472 $ 4.7¢

We modified the terms of our employee stock pureh@an in April 2005 to eliminate the option compahassociated with the plan and to
reduce the discount from 15% to 5%. The fair vaifithe option component of the employee purchaae ghares purchased prior to April
2005 was estimated at the date of grant using ekBdgholes-Merton option-pricing model. The follogiweighted-average assumptions
were used in fiscal 2005: expected life of 0.50rgedsk-free interest rate of 1.69-2.92%, volgtibf 32-37% and dividend yield of 0%. The
weighted average fair value of employee purchaze gtants was $2.93 for fiscal 2005. The followivgjghted-average assumptions were
used in fiscal 2004: expected life of 0.50 yeask-free interest rate of 1.02-1.10%, volatility46#-48% and dividend yield of 0%. The
weighted average fair value of employee purchase giants was $3.04 for fiscal 2004.
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Advertising
All advertising costs are expensed as incurred efibing expenses, which are included within sale$ marketing expenses, were $106
million, $67 million and $68 million in fiscal 200@005 and 2004, respectively.
Research and Developme
All research and development costs are expensed@sed. Costs eligible for capitalization und&¥IB Statement No. 8@\ ccounting for
the Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leasdadtherwise Marketedwere not material to our consolidated financiateaments.
Nor-Operating Income, net

Non-operating income, net consists primarily of ingti@come, net foreign currency exchange gains¢®s net investment gains related to
marketable equity securities and other investmenjsity in earnings offlex and the minority interest share in the neffiggmf Oracle Japai

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2006 2005 2004
Interest incomt $17C $18E $11¢€
Foreign currency gains (losse¢ 39 (14) 13
Net investment gains related to marketable eqeitysties and other investmel 25 2 29
Equity in earning: 14 — —
Minority interest (42) (42 (37
Other _ 36 _ 33 5

Total nor-operating income, ne $24: $164 $10z
Income Taxe

We account for income taxes in accordance with FA&Rement No. 10%ccounting for Income Taxe®eferred income taxes are recorded
for the expected tax consequences of temporargrdiites between the tax bases of assets andikatitir financial reporting purposes and
amounts recognized for income tax purposes. Wedexoaluation allowance to reduce our deferredassets to the amount of future tax
benefit that is more likely than not to be realized

New Accounting Pronounceme|

Share-Based PaymentOn December 16, 2004, the FASB issued Statemeni®B (revised 2004Fhare-Based Paymenivhich is a

revision of Statement 123. Statement 123(R) sudess®pinion 25, and amends FASB Statement Nd&S@ement of Cash Flows
Generally, the approach in Statement 123(R) islairto the approach described in Statement 123.d#ew Statement 123(R) generally
requires share-based payments to employees, inglgglants of employee stock options and purchasagsriemployee stock purchase plans,
to be recognized in the statement of operationedaa their fair values. Pro forma disclosure af¥alue recognition is no longer an
alternative.

On April 14, 2005, the Securities and Exchange Ca@sion announced that the Statement 123(R) efeettansition date would be extended
to annual periods beginning after June 15, 2005adpted the provisions of Statement 123(R) urttenodified prospective method in our
first quarter of fiscal 2007. Under the modifie@gpective method, compensation cost is recogniegthhing with the effective date of
adoption (a) based on the requirements of Statetr®3{R) for all share-based payments granted tfeceffective date of adoption and

(b) based on the requirements of Statement 128lifawards granted to employees prior to the effealate of adoption that remain unvested
on the date of adoption.
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Statement 123(R) also requires a portion of thefisnof tax deductions resulting from the exer@$stock options to be reported as a
financing cash flow, rather than as an operatirglh dw. This requirement will reduce net operatiagh flows and increase net financing
cash flows in periods after adoption. Total caswflvill remain unchanged from what would have besgorted under prior accounting rules.

As permitted by Statement 123, we accounted fareshased payments to employees using Opinios iPfinsic value method up to May
2006. Although the adoption of Statement 123(Rjis¥alue method will have no adverse impact ontmlance sheet or total cash flows, it
will affect our net income and earnings per sh@ite actual effects of adopting Statement 123(Rl)deibend on numerous factors including
the amounts of share-based payments granted fattlre, the valuation model we use to value fulrare-based payments to employees and
estimated forfeiture rates. We estimate that stzaded compensation expense will reduce dilutedreggper share by $0.02 to $0.03 in fis
2007 as a result of the adoption of Statement 123(R

Accounting Changes and Error Correctior On June 7, 2005, the FASB issued Statement Nh.Adgounting Changes and Error
Corrections, a replacement of APB Opinion No. Z&counting Changesand Statement No. Beporting Accounting Changes in Interim
Financial Statemeni. Statement 154 changes the requirements for tmuating for and reporting of a change in accounfirinciple.
Previously, most voluntary changes in accountingaiples required recognition of a cumulative effadjustment within net income of the
period of the change. Statement 154 requires ntive application to prior periods’ financial tements, unless it is impracticable to
determine either the period-specific effects ordbmulative effect of the change. Statement 1®ffective for accounting changes made in
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005;éw@r, the Statement does not change the trangitmuisions of any existing accounting
pronouncements. We do not believe adoption of Btan¢ 154 will have a material effect on our corgatied financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Tax: On July 13, 2006, the FASB issued Interpretablon 48,Accounting for Uncertainty in Incon
Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 1@@rpretation 48 clarifies the accounting for utammty in income taxes recognized in
an entity’s financial statements in accordance Bigtement 109 and prescribes a recognition thigstmal measurement attribute for
financial statement disclosure of tax positiongtakr expected to be taken on a tax return. Additlg, Interpretation 48 provides guidance
on derecognition, classification, interest and f@&s accounting in interim periods, disclosure &mansition. Interpretation 48 is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2006 witrly adoption permitted. We are currently eviihgawhether the adoption of
Interpretation 48 will have a material effect o oansolidated financial position, results of opieras or cash flows.

2. ACQUISITIONS
Fiscal 2006 Acquisitions
Siebel Systems, Ini

On January 31, 2006 (Acquisition Date), we completer acquisition of Siebel pursuant to our Memygreement dated September 12, 2005.
We acquired Siebel to expand our presence in threr relationship management (CRM) applicatiafsvare market. Siebel’s results of
operations are included in our consolidated statgsnaf operations from the Acquisition Date. Theakgurchase price for Siebel was $6.1
billion and is comprised of:

(in_ millions)

Acquisition of the 546 million shares of outstargitommon stock of Siebel at $10.66 per sh
In cash (382 million share $ 4,07:
In exchange for Oracle stock (164 million Siebedrgls converted to 141 million Oracle sha 1,762
Fair value of Siebel stock options assumed andicesd stock awards exchang 24E
Acquisition related transaction co: 49
Total purchase pric $ 6,13(
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Acquisition of common stoc Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, each shareebEBEcommon stock was converted into the righetzive
either (a) $10.66 in cash or (b) a number of shaf€racle common stock equal to the number of 8isbares of common stock multiplied
by 0.8593, which is $10.66 divided by the averdgsing price of Oracle Common Stock on the NasdagkSMarket over the ten trading
days immediately preceding (but not including) Aeguisition Date (Average Oracle Stock Price). 8i82.68% of Siebel stockholders
elected to receive Oracle common stock, the coreid@ was prorated, in accordance with the MeAgreement, whereby Siebel
stockholders electing stock received approxima$&f6 million in cash and 141 million Oracle shasésommon stock (or approximately
$0.8752 in cash and 0.7888 shares of Oracle constook for each Siebel share). The fair value oflstesued was $12.53, which
represented the average closing price of our constumk for the three trading days up to and inelgdhe Acquisition Date.

Fair value of estimated options assumed and rastlistock awards exchange As of January 31, 2006, Siebel had approxima8lynillion
stock options and restricted stock awards outstandin accordance with the Merger Agreement, thevecsion value of each option assumed
was based on the exercise price of each Siebaroptultiplied by the conversion ratio of 0.8576,igthwas the closing sale price of a share
of Siebel common stock on January 30, 2006 dividethe Average Oracle Stock Price. The fair valueptions assumed and awards
exchanged was determined using an average prig&2053 and calculated using a Black-Scholes-Mersdnation model with the following
assumptions: expected life of 0.25 to 7.23 yed#sk;free interest rate of 4.45 — 4.59%, expectddtility of 24% and no dividend yield. The
portion of the estimated intrinsic value of unvesBebel options and restricted stock awards retetéuture service has been allocated to
deferred stock-based compensation and is beingtaembusing the accelerated expense attributiomaaetver the remaining vesting period.

Acquisition related transaction cost Acquisition related transaction costs includénested investment banking fees, legal and accogntin
fees and other external costs directly relatethiécacquisition.

Preliminary Purchase Price Allocatic

Under business combination accounting, the totedhmse price was allocated to Siebel’s net tangibtbidentifiable intangible assets based
on their estimated fair values as of January 3062 set forth below. The excess of the purchase pver the net tangible and identifiable
intangible assets was recorded as goodwill. Thinpireary allocation of the purchase price was baggoh a preliminary valuation and our
estimates and assumptions are subject to changerithary areas of the purchase price allocatiahdhe not yet finalized relate to
restructuring costs, the valuation of consultingtcact obligations assumed, certain legal mattecgme and non-income based taxes and
residual goodwill.

(in_ millions)

Cash and marketable securit $ 2,367
Trade receivable 31¢
Goodwill 2,51¢
Intangible asset 1,56¢
Deferred tax assets, r 31¢€
Other asset 12¢
Accounts payable and other liabiliti (372)
Restructuring (see Note (590
Deferred revenue (202)
Deferred stoc-based compensatic 31
In-process research and developrm 64
Total purchase pric $ 6,13
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Intangible Asset

In performing our preliminary purchase price allib@a, we considered, among other factors, our timearfor future use of acquired assets,
analyses of historical financial performance arta@restes of future performance of Siebel’s produ€tse fair value of intangible assets was
based, in part, on a valuation completed by Duflglps, LLC using an income approach and estinzetdsassumptions provided by
management. The rates utilized to discount net flagls to their present values were based on oughted average cost of capital and rar
from 10% to 18%. These discount rates were detemndtfiter consideration of our rate of return ontaalpital and equity and the weighted
average return on invested capital. The followgilgé sets forth the components of intangible assstsciated with the acquisition:

(Dollars in millions) Fair Value Useful Life

Software support agreements and related relatips $ 80¢ 10 year

Developed technolog 41¢ 5 year:

Core technolog 19¢ 5 year:

Customer relationshiy 10¢ 10 year

Trademarks and othi 31 5 year
Total intangible asse $ 1,56

Developed technology, which comprises productshhae reached technological feasibility, includesdpcts in most of Siebel’s product
lines, principally the Siebel CRM and Siebel Busm@nalytics products. Core technology represectmgbination of Siebel processes,
patents and trade secrets related to the desigdeasredopment of its applications products. Thigopietary know-how can be leveraged to
develop new technology and improve Oracle’s soféwapducts. Customer relationships and softwarpatiagreements and related
relationships represent the underlying relationshipd agreements with Siebel’s installed custorase b

In-Process Research and Development

We expense in-process research and developmer&P&oon acquisition as it represents incomple&b8l research and development
projects that had not reached technological felitgilaind had no alternative future use as of thguisition Date. Technological feasibility is
established when an enterprise has completedaaihpig, designing, coding, and testing activitiest fare necessary to establish that a prc
can be produced to meet its design specificatiocisiding functions, features, and technical perémoe requirements. The value assigned to
IPR&D of $64 million was determined by considerthg importance of each project to our overall depeient plan, estimating costs to
develop the purchased IPR&D into commercially végptoducts, estimating the resulting net cash flsaus the projects when completed
and discounting the net cash flows to their presehte based on the percentage of completion ofRR&D projects. Purchased IPR&D
relates primarily to projects associated with tieh8 CRM and Siebel Business Analytics producas liad not yet reached technological
feasibility as of the Acquisition Date and haveatternative future use.

Deferred Revenue

In connection with the preliminary purchase prittecation, we have estimated the fair value ofghpport obligations assumed from Siebel
in connection with the acquisition. We based ouedrination of the fair value of the support obtiga, in part, on a valuation completed by
Duff & Phelps, LLC using estimates and assumptimosided by management. The estimated fair valubetupport obligations was
determined utilizing a cost build-up approach. Thst build-up approach determines fair value byredtng the costs relating to fulfilling the
obligations plus a normal profit margin. The sumhaf costs and operating profit approximates, @otf, the amount that we would be
required to pay a third party to assume the support
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obligations. The estimated costs to fulfill the gap obligations were based on the historical dicests related to providing the support
services and to correct any errors in Siebel sofiywaoducts. We did not include any costs assatiatth selling efforts or research and
development or the related fulfilment margins bade costs. Profit associated with selling efoxcluded because Siebel had conclude
selling effort on the support contracts prior te thcquisition Date. The estimated research andldpreent costs have not been included in
the fair value determination, as these costs werel@emed to represent a legal obligation at the 6f acquisition. We estimated the normal
profit margin to be 30%. As a result, in allocatthg purchase price, we recorded an adjustmesetiiace the carrying value of Siebel’s
January 31, 2006 deferred support revenue by $ii8mrto $129 million, which represents our estimaf the fair value of the support
obligation assumed.

Pre-Acquisition Contingencies

We have currently not identified any material poenasition contingencies. If we identify a materiaé-acquisition contingency during the
remainder of the purchase price allocation penaslwill attempt to determine its fair value andlute it in the purchase price allocation. If,
as of the end of the purchase price allocatioroperve are unable to determine its fair value, leapply FASB Statement No. 5,
Accounting for Contingenci¢, and the amount determined by applying Statemémisbich item will be included in the purchase @ric
allocation.

Investment in -flex solutions limited

On August 2, 2005, we entered into a Share Purchgseement with OrbiTech Limited, a subsidiary dfig¢oup Inc., for the purchase of
32,236,000 shares of i-flex solutions limited, ayader of software solutions and services to tharicial services industry (Bombay Stock
Exchange: IFLX.BO and National Stock Exchange afidnIFLX.NS). Under the terms of the Share Purehagreement and related
agreements, we purchased the i-flex shares frorir@h on November 18, 2005 for $593 million, or 806ian rupees per share. We have
made additional purchases of i-flex common stoalspant to an open offer in October 2005 and thraurdgimary brokerage transactions in
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2006 for approximat®$B34 million, or a weighted average price of 1,&8dian rupees per share.

We own approximately 52.5% of i-flex common stoskod May 31, 2006. We currently account for ourdstment in i-flex under the equity
method of accounting two months in arrears as @ponting periods differ and the access to moreectiinformation is not available. Under
the equity method of accounting, we record our @etage interest of the earnings of i-flex in nommhing income, net in our consolidated
statements of operations. Equity in earnings &x-fvas $14 million in fiscal 2006. Our investmént-flex reflects the price paid for the
common stock as well as equity in earnings, aeddeeds our share of the underlying interest im#teassets of i-flex, as determined under
U.S. GAAP. As we are unable to relate this diffeeio specific accounts of i-flex, the differen@stbeen recognized in a similar manner as
goodwill and will not be subject to amortizatiorhéfmarket value of our investment, which was $98liom at May 31, 2006, was in excess
of the carrying value of our investment of $841limrl, which is recorded in other assets, net incibresolidated balance sheets.

Other Acquisitions
During fiscal 2006, we acquired several softwanmganies and purchased certain technology and daewelat organizations for
approximately $682 million, which includes cashdoaf $648 million and the fair value of options @s®ed of $34 million.

We recorded approximately $484 million of goodw#ll, 73 million of identifiable intangible assets 1#hillion of net tangible assets and $14
million of IPR&D in connection with these other asjtions during fiscal 2006. We have included ¢fffects of these transactions in our
results of operations prospectively from the reipealates of the acquisitions.
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Fiscal 2005 Acquisitions
PeopleSoft, Inc

We acquired approximately 75% and 97% of the ontitey common stock of PeopleSoft, Inc. for $26.80ghare in cash as of

December 29, 2004 and January 6, 2005, respecti@alyianuary 7, 2005, we completed the merger oivbolly-owned subsidiary with and
into PeopleSoft and converted each remaining cudgtg share of PeopleSoft common stock not tendémnexla right to receive $26.50 per
share in cash, without interest.

The total purchase price was $11.1 billion, whiohgisted of $10,576 million in cash paid to acqthe outstanding common stock of
PeopleSoft, $492 million for the fair value of apts assumed and $12 million in cash for transaatimts. In allocating the purchase price
based on estimated fair values, we recorded appedrly $6,318 million of goodwill, $3,384 milliorf @entifiable intangible assets, $1,345
million of net tangible assets and $33 million frocess research and development. The allocatignodwill decreased by $169 million in
fiscal 2006 as a result of changes in our defetards associated with intangibles acquired, péyrtidfset by liabilities recorded for certain
pre-merger contingencies which were deemed to dleghte and could be reasonably estimated.

Retek Inc.

We purchased 5.5 million shares of common stodReiék Inc., a Delaware Corporation, on March 7 &n2D05, through ordinary brokera
transactions at prevailing market prices for a Weid-average price of $8.82 per share. In April lslay 2005, we acquired the remaining
outstanding common stock of Retek for $11.25 pareshor $584 million.

The total purchase price was $701 million, comprigE$633 million of cash paid to acquire the cantsting common stock of Retek, $32
million of cash paid for outstanding stock optiamsl $36 million of acquisition related transactamsts. In allocating the purchase price
based on estimated fair values, we recorded appedrly $416 million of goodwill, $133 million of &htifiable intangible assets, $145
million of net tangible assets and $7 million offirocess research and development.

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The unaudited financial information in the tabléowesummarizes the combined results of operatidr@racle, PeopleSoft and Siebel, on a
pro forma basis, as though the companies had lwehined as of the beginning of each of the perjmdsented. Pro forma financial
information for our other acquisitions have notibeeesented, as the effects were not material tdistorical consolidated financial
statements either individually or in aggregate. preforma financial information is presented fofiormational purposes only and is not
indicative of the results of operations that woliéde been achieved if the acquisitions and $5.[fibrbsenior notes issued (see Note 5) had
taken place at the beginning of each of the penwdsented. The pro forma financial informationdtiiperiods presented also includes the
business combination accounting effect on histbRempleSoft and Siebel support revenues, the elfargPR&D, amortization charges fr
acquired intangible assets, stock-based compensaimrges for unvested options assumed, Oracleicasting costs, adjustments to interest
expense and related tax effects.

The unaudited pro forma financial information fbetyear ended May 31, 2006 combines the histasailts of Oracle for year ended

May 31, 2006 and, due to differences in our repgrperiods, the historical results of Siebel fa #ight months ended December 31, 2005.
The unaudited pro forma financial information fbetyear ended May 31, 2005 combines the histarésallts for Oracle, with the historical
results of Siebel for the year ended December 304 and the historical results of PeopleSoft fergbven months ended December 28, 2
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Year Ended May 31,
(in millions, except per share data) 2006 2005
Total revenue $15,25¢ $14,51¢
Net income $ 3,197 $ 1,99¢
Basic net income per she $ 0.6C $ 0.3¢
Diluted net income per sha $ 0.5¢ $ 0.37

3. RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES
Fiscal 2006 Restructuring Plans

During the third quarter of fiscal 2006, managenapyroved and initiated plans to restructure cemaierations of Oracle and pre-merger
Siebel to eliminate redundant costs resulting ftbenacquisition of Siebel and improve efficiendiegperations. The cash restructuring
charges recorded are based on restructuring glahfiave been committed to by management. We coedpliee substantial majority of our
planned legal-entity mergers, information systemvessions and integration of Siebel’'s operationthefourth quarter of fiscal 2006 and
expect to finalize all other planned integratiotivaties in the next three months.

The total estimated severance costs associatedheithiscal 2006 Oracle Restructuring Plan are $iillibn. We have incurred $74 million
in restructuring expenses to date and expect tr ithe remaining $28 million in the next three nfmmtChanges to the estimates of executing
the Fiscal 2006 Oracle Restructuring Plan will &ected in our future results of operations.

The total estimated restructuring costs associatddexiting activities of Siebel is $590 millionpnsisting primarily of excess facilities
obligations through fiscal 2022 as well as sevezaartd other restructuring costs. These costs wemgnized as a liability assumed in the
purchase business combination and included inltheasion of the cost to acquire Siebel and, acewlg, have resulted in an increase to
goodwill. Estimated restructuring expenses may ghas management executes the approved plan. Besrieathe estimates of executing
Siebel restructuring plan are recorded as an adgrdtto goodwill indefinitely, whereas increaseshi® estimates are recorded as an
adjustment to goodwill during the purchase pridecation period (generally within one year of tlogjaisition date) and as operating expe!
thereafter.

Fiscal 2005 Restructuring Plans

During the third quarter of fiscal 2005, managenapyroved and initiated plans to restructure treratons of Oracle, PeopleSoft and Retek.
We have completed our planned legal-entity mergefarmation system conversions and integratioRedpleSoft's and Retek’s operations
as well as all Oracle exit activities. Total estiathrestructuring costs associated with the F&@8b Oracle Restructuring Plan are $158
million. Total estimated restructuring costs asatax with exiting activities of PeopleSoft and Retee $403 million, consisting primarily of
employee severance costs as well as excess &ititiligations through fiscal 2013 and other restining costs.
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Summary of All Plans
Year Ended May 31, 2006 Accrued Total
Adj. to Total Expectec
Accrued N May 31, Costs
May 31, Initial Cost Cash Accrued Program
(in millions) 2005 Costs @) Payments Other ¥ 2006®) to Date Costs
Fiscal 2006 Oracle Restructuring Plar
New software license $ — $ 33 $ — $ (9 $ 1 $ 25 $ 33 $ 48
Software license updates and product
support — 2 — D — 1 2 3
Consulting — 9 — (2 — 7 9 16
On Demanc — 2 — 2 — — 2 2
Education — 2 — (€N} — 1 2 2
Other® — 26 — (19 1 8 26 31
Total Fiscal 2006 Oracle
Restructuring $ — $ 74 $ — $ (34 $ 2 $ 42 $ 74 $ 10z
Fiscal 2005 Oracle Restructuring Plar
New software license $ 14 $ 10 $ (9 $ (13 $ 1 $ 3 $ 37 $ 37
Software license updates and product
support 1 2 @ 2 — — 6 6
Consulting 6 4 3 (6) — 1 20 20
On Demanc — — — — — — 2 2
Education 2 1 1 3 — 1 6 6
Other® 6 2 4 (10 — 2 66 66
Total severanc 29 19 (8) (34) 1 7 137 137
Total facilities® 21 — — (3) — 18 21 21
Total Fiscal 2005 Oracle
Restructuring $ 5C $ 19 $ (8 $ (37 $ 1 $ 25 $ 15¢ $ 15€
Siebel Restructuring Plan
Severanc $ — $ 65 $ 6 $ (349 $ — $ 37 $ 71 $ 71
Facilities — 542 (58) (40) 2 44¢€ 484 484
Contracts and othe — 36 (1) (9) — 26 35 35
Total Siebel Restructurin $ — $643 $ (53 $ (83 $ 2 $ 50¢ $ 59C $ 59C
PeopleSoft and Retek Restructuring
Plan
Severanc $ 63 $ — $ (18) $ (42 $ — $ 3 $ 19t $ 19t
Facilities 14z — (4) (45) 1 95 157 157
Contracts and oth 20 — 13 (22) — 11 51 51
Total PeopleSoft and Retek
Restructuring $ 22¢€ $ — $ 09 $ (109 $ 1 $ 10¢ $ 402 $ 40:
Total All Restructuring Plans $ 27¢€ $73€ $ (70) $ (269 $ 6 $ 68t

(@ Other includes costs associated with research and developmerdgragjeand administrative and marketing functions.

@ Allocation of facility costs to operating lines of businesses ah@r functions was approximately $5 and $16,aetygely.

@ Primarily relates to the renegotiation of facility leases acquiredhia Siebel acquisition as well as changes in eséisto severance and
other restructuring obligations related to the Pe®pft acquisition

@) Represents foreign currency translation adjustments

®) Accrued restructuring at May 31, 2006 and 2005 was $685%27®, respectively. The balances include $412%%® recorded in
accrued restructuring, current and $273 and $1@frded in accrued restructuring, non-current indbsompanying consolidated balance
sheets at May 31, 2006 and 2005, respecti
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4. ACQUISITION RELATED CHARGES

Acquisition related charges primarily consist ofirocess research and development expenses, im@gralated professional services, stock-
compensation expenses and personnel related costarisitional employees, as well as costs astsatigith our tender offer for PeopleSoft
prior to the merger agreement date. Stock-basegensation included in acquisition related chargssilted from unvested options assumed
from acquisitions whose vesting was fully accekedatpon termination of the employees pursuantadehms of these options.

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2006 2005 2004
In-process research and developn $ 78 $ 46 $ —
Transitional employee related co 30 52 —
Stocl-based compensatic 1¢ 4 —
Professional fee 11 63 54
Total acquisition related charg $ 137 $ 20€ $ S

5. BORROWINGS
Borrowings consisted of the following:

May 31, May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2006 2005
Floating rate senior notes due January 2 $ 1,50C $ —
5.00% senior notes due January 2011, net of disciu$8 2,24z —
5.25% senior notes due January 2016, net of discriuBil 1,98¢ —
6.91% senior notes due February 2 15( 15:
Commercial paper nott — 1,99:
OTC Loan Facility due May 20C — 70C
Notes payable due June 2( 6 6
Capital lease 7 —
Total borrowings $ 5,89/ $ 2,852
Borrowings, current portio $ 15¢ $ 2,69¢
Borrowings, lon-term portion $ 5,73¢ $ 15¢

$5.75 Billion Senior Notes

In January 2006, we issued $1.5 billion of floatrate senior notes due 2009, $2.25 billion of 5.G&%ior notes due 2011 and $2.0 billion of
5.25% senior notes due 2016 (collectively, origgetiior notes) to finance the Siebel acquisitioth fan general corporate purposes. On
June 16, 2006, we completed a registered exchdfegefar the original senior notes to permit holsléw freely transfer their senior notes,
which have substantially identical terms to thegimal senior notes.

The 2009 notes bear interest at a floating ratalaguhree-month LIBOR plus 0.23% per year, th&20otes bear interest at the rate of
5.00% per year, and the 2016 notes bear inter¢ise aite of 5.25% per year. Interest is payabsetqdy for the 2009 notes and semi-
annually for the 2011 notes and 2016 notes. Theegdle interest yield of the 2009 notes, 2011 nates2016 notes at May 31, 2006 was
5.28%, 5.09% and 5.33%, respectively. We may redéer2009 notes after January 2007 and may redse20Ll1 notes and 2016 notes at
any time, subject to a make-whole premium.
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$150 Million Senior Notes

We have $150 million in 6.91% senior notes duegbrbary 2007. In February 2002, we entered intmtmest-rate swap agreement that has
the economic effect of modifying the interest obtigns associated with these senior notes sohbanterest payable on the senior notes
effectively becomes variable based on the threetmbiBOR set quarterly until maturity. Our intereate swap increased the effective
interest rate on the senior notes to 7.30% as §f 312 2006. The fair value of the interest ratepwas $(0.7) million at May 31, 2006 and
$3.1 million at May 31, 2005.

Short-Term Borrowings

In February 2006, we entered into dealer agreenvattisvarious financial institutions and an Issusngd Paying Agency Agreement with
JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, relating new $3.0 billion commercial paper prograne (ffew CP Program). Under the New
CP Program, we may issue and sell unsecured srantgromissory notes pursuant to a private placéeamption from the registration
requirements under federal and state securities. [ine New CP Program replaces the $3.0 billionmeraial paper program of Old Oracle
which was established in April 2005 and was terit@idan February 2006 (the Old CP Program). We dichave any outstanding borrowings
under the New CP Program at May 31, 2006.

In May 2005, Oracle Technology Company (OTC), a Nyhowned subsidiary, entered into an unsecured$vdlion loan facility (OTC
Loan Facility) with ABN AMRO Bank N.V. guaranteed bis. All amounts under the OTC Loan Facility wezpaid as of May 31, 2006.

5-Year Revolving Credit Agreement

In March 2006, we entered into a new $3.0 billisy¥ear Revolving Credit Agreement (New Credit Agrent) with Wachovia Bank,
National Association, Bank of America, N.A. andte@r other lenders. The New Credit Agreement regdahe $3.0 billion 3¢-day

Revolving Credit Agreement dated as of March 1822@®Id Credit Agreement), which otherwise wouldd@xpired on March 17,

2006. The New Credit Agreement provides for an oasz revolving credit facility which can be usedackstop any commercial paper that
we may issue and for working capital and other g@remrporate purposes. Subject to certain contitgtated in the New Credit Agreement,
we may borrow, prepay and re-borrow amounts urttefécility at any time during the term of the N@nedit Agreement. All amounts under
the New Credit Agreement are due on March 14, 20térest is based on either (a) a LIBOR-based éidaror (b) a formula based on
Wachovia’s prime rate or on the federal funds difecrate.

The New Credit Agreement also provides that (indby letters of credit may be issued on behalf @o® up to $500 million; and (ii) any
amounts borrowed and letters of credit issued neay Hapanese Yen, Pounds Sterling and Euros $ip.5abillion. We may also, upon the
agreement of either then existing lenders or oftamtail banks not currently party to the New Creflifreement, increase the commitments
under this facility up to $5.0 billion. The New @reAgreement contains certain customary representaand warranties, covenants and
events of default, including the requirement thattotal net debt to total capitalization raticQrfaicle not exceed 45%. We have not borrowed
any funds under the New Credit Agreement.

We were in compliance with all debt-related coveaa May 31, 2006, including the requirement urtdlerNew Credit Agreement that our
total net debt to total capitalization ratio notegd 45%. Future principal payments of our borrgwiat May 31, 2006 are as follows: $159
million in fiscal 2007, $4 million in fiscal 200§1.5 billion in fiscal 2009, $2.25 billion in fista011 and $2.0 billion in fiscal 2016.
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6. DEFERRED REVENUES
Deferred revenues consisted of the following:
May 31,

(in millions) 2006 2005
Software license updates and product suf. $ 2501 $ 1,98t
Services 24¢ 22t
New software license 83 79

Deferred revenues, curre 2,83( 2,28¢

Deferred revenues, n-current 114 12€

Total deferred revenu $ 294 $ 241!

Deferred software license updates and product suppgenues represent customer payments made anaefor annual support contracts.
Software license updates and product support giealy billed on a per annum basis in advancerandnue is recognized ratably over the
support period. The deferred software license wgsdand product support revenues are typically Isighiethe end of our first fiscal quarter
due to the collection of cash from the large volwheervice contracts that are sold or renewetiérfiscal quarter ending in May of each
year. Deferred service revenues include prepaynientonsulting, On Demand and education serviResenue for these services
recognized as the services are performed. Defeeedsoftware license revenues typically result ftomdelivered products or specified
enhancements, customer specific acceptance prosgisiosoftware license transactions that are rgpheatable from consulting services.
Deferred revenues, non-current are comprised pilynafrdeferred software license updates and produpport revenues.

In connection with purchase price allocations edab our acquisitions in fiscal 2006 and fiscad20we have estimated the fair values of the
support obligations assumed. The estimated fairegabf the support obligations assumed were datednising a cost-build up approach.
The cost-build up approach determines fair valuedtimating the costs relating to fulfilling theligiations plus a normal profit margin. The
sum of the costs and operating profit approximatetheory, the amount that we would be requirepayp a third party to assume the support
obligations. Over the past two years, we recorafasaments to reduce the carrying values of therded software license updates and
product support revenues assumed by $640 millig4&6 million, which represents our estimate offdievalue of the support obligations
assumed. In addition, we recorded a fair valuesidjant of $208 million in other current assetstezldo support contracts assumed for w
the underlying service period had not yet startetifar which cash had not been received. Thesev&hire adjustments reduce the revenues
recognized over the support contract term of oguaied contracts and, as a result, we did not neicegsoftware license updates and product
support revenues related to support contracts assimbusiness acquisitions in the amount of $38llomand $320 million, which would
have been otherwise recorded by the acquired esytiti fiscal 2006 and 2005 respectively.
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7. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS
Stock Option Plans

In fiscal 2001, we adopted the 2000 Long-Term Bqguritentive Plan (the 2000 Plan), which replaced891 Long-Term Equity Incentive
Plan (the 1991 Plan) and provides for the issuafho@n-qualified stock options and incentive stogkions, as well as stock purchase rights,
stock appreciation rights and long-term performaaeards to our eligible employees, officers, divestwho are also employees or
consultants, independent consultants and advisefiscal 2005, the 2000 Plan was amended andteekta, among other things, eliminate
ability to reprice options without stockholder apyal, to provide the Board with the ability to gtaestricted stock units, to permit us to
deduct certain performance-based equity awardsopurposes, to provide the Board with the abtlityssue transferable equity awards and
to eliminate the ability to buyout employees’ opsawvith cash or common stock. Under the terms®®2000 Plan, options to purchase
common stock generally are granted at not lessftiimmarket value, become exercisable as estadibly the Board of Directors (Board)
(generally over four years), and generally expéreytears from the date of grant. Options grantetbuthe 1991 Plan were granted on similar
terms. If options outstanding under the 1991 Ptarfarfeited, repurchased, or otherwise terminatbout the issuance of stock, the shares
underlying such options will also become availdblefuture awards under the 2000 Plan. As of May28ID6, options to purchase

381.4 million shares of common stock were outstagdinder both plans, of which 267.8 million wersteel. Approximately 394.6 million
shares of common stock are available for futurerdsvander the 2000 Plan. To date, we have notdsang stock purchase rights, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock units or kdagn performance awards under this plan.

In fiscal 1993, the Board adopted the 1993 DirextStock Option Plan (the Original Directors’ Plawhich provided for the issuance of non-
qualified stock options to non-employee directtmdiscal 2004, the Original Directors’ Plan waserded and restated to eliminate a term
limit, eliminate the ability to reprice options Wwaut stockholder approval, decrease the numbdraks of common stock reserved for
issuance under the Original Directors’ Plan, prewite Board with the ability to make grants ofniestd stock, restricted stock units or other
stock-based awards instead of the automatic ogtiants and rename the Original Directors’ Plan,118@3 Directors’ Stock Plan (the
Directors’ Plan). Under the terms of the Directd?&n, options to purchase 8.0 million shares afimon stock were reserved for issuance,
are granted at not less than fair market valuepinecexercisable over four years, and expire tersyfeam the date of grant. The Directors’
Plan provides for automatic, nondiscretionary ggaritoptions to each non-employee director upat Becoming a director and thereafter on
an annual basis, as well as automatic nondisciatjogrants for chairing certain Board committedse Board has the discretion to replace
any automatic option grant under the DirectorshRidgth awards of restricted stock, restricted stooks or other stock-based award. The
number of shares subject to any such stock awdrdevho more than the equivalent value of theaysj as determined on any reasonable
basis by the Board, which would otherwise have lzganted under the applicable automatic optiontgiEime Board will determine the
particular terms of any such stock awards at the of grant, but the terms will be consistent wlithse of options, as described below,
granted under the DirectorBlan with respect to vesting or forfeiture schedward treatment on termination of status as atdire&t May 31
2006, options to purchase 4.0 million shares ofroom stock were outstanding under the 1993 DirecRies\, of which 3.2 million were
vested. Approximately 2.7 million shares are avdddor future option awards under this plan; hogrewmo more than 1.8 million shares may
be used for grants other than options.

In connection with certain of our acquisitionsngipally PeopleSoft and Siebel, we assumed ath@flutstanding stock options of the
respective stock plans. These options generaliyrret| of the rights, terms and conditions of teepective plans under which options were
originally granted. As of May 31, 2006, optiongpuarchase 88.0 million shares of common stock watstanding under these plans.
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The following tables summarize information abowick&toptions outstanding:

Weighted Average
Shares Under

(in millions, except exercise price) Option Exercise Price
Balance, May 31, 200 4t $ 11.41
Grantec 44 $ 12.62
Exercisec (39) $ 4.8¢
Forfeited (22) $ 21.4:%
Balance, May 31, 200 44C $ 11.61
Granted® 13¢ $ 11.6¢
Exercisec (72) $ 6.1€
Forfeited (39 $ 18.01
Balance, May 31, 200 46¢ $ 11.92
Granted® 15C $ 15.02
Exercisec (87) $ 6.5€
Forfeited (59 $ 16.6¢
Balance, May 31, 200 473 $ 13.2¢

@ Includes options assumed from acquisitions of 82 in fis@&and 97 in fiscal 2005.

The range of exercise prices for options outstapdirMay 31, 2006 was $0.09 to $126.59. The rafigaercise prices for options is due to
the fluctuating price of our stock over the peraddhe grants and from the conversion of optiorsiased from acquisitions.

Weighted Average

Options Outstanding Weighted Average Options Exercisable Weighted Average
Range of Exercise Remaining Exercise Price of
Price as of May 31, 2006 Contractual Life Exercise Price as of May 31, 2006 Exercisable Options

(Shares in millions) (Shares in millions)
$ 0.09—3$ 5.8¢ 61 1.7: $ 4.2¢ 60 $ 4.2t
$ 594—9% 6.8¢ 83 3.0C $ 6.87 83 $ 6.87
$ 6.94—% 9.9C 77 6.64 $ 8.9¢ 43 $ 8.6¢
$ 9.92—$ 12.3¢ 90 7.7% $ 11.6¢ 23 $ 11.0¢
$12.36— $ 15.8¢ 85 6.3(C $ 14.0¢ 57 $ 14.6¢
$15.90— $ 42.0( 74 4.3¢€ $ 30.77 72 $ 31.0¢
$42.35— $126.5¢ 3 4.0t $ 69.9¢ 3 $ 70.0C
$ 0.09— $126.5¢ 473 5.1¢ $ 13.2¢ 341 $ 13.91

Stock Purchase Plan

We have an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Purcliase Po date, 408.7 million shares of common stoake been reserved for issuance
under the Purchase Plan. Prior to the April 1, 288%i-annual option period, under the Purchase étigrloyees could purchase shares of
common stock at a price per share that is 85%eofabser of the fair market value of Oracle staxkfahe beginning or the end of the semi-
annual option period. Starting with the April 1, 080semi-annual option period, we amended the PaecR&an such that employees can
purchase shares of common stock at a price pee $airis 95% of the fair value of Oracle stocloBthe end of the semi-annual option
period. Through May 31, 2006, 321.5 million shérad been issued and 87.2 million shares were reddov future issuances under the
Purchase Plan. During fiscal 2006, 2005 and 20@4issued 4.8 million, 16.6 million and 17.5 millishares, respectively, under the Purc
Plan.
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8. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Stock Repurchases

Our Board of Directors has approved a programponehase shares of our common stock to reduceilthteve effect of our stock option and
stock purchase plans. From the inception of thekstepurchase program in 1992 to May 31, 2006ta& & 1.8 billion shares have been
repurchased for approximately $20.7 billion. Weurghased 24.1 million shares for $324 million, Bldillion shares for $1.3 billion and
117.8 million shares for $1.5 billion in fiscal 28@005 and 2004, respectively. At May 31, 200@rapimately $1.6 billion was available to
repurchase shares of our common stock pursuahetstock repurchase program. In July 2006, thed@egpanded the program such that .
billion is available for repurchase under the pamgr

On January 31, 2006, we announced our plan to ckpae common stock equivalent to the amount of comstock issued in connection
with the Siebel acquisition. Our Board of Directapproved a separate program (2006 Program) tadlepse 140,720,666 shares of our
common stock, which is equivalent to the amourdashmon stock issued to former Siebel stockholdesf danuary 31, 2006. We
repurchased 122,752,536 shares in the fourth quafrfescal 2006 for approximately $1.7 billion. May 31, 2006, 17,968,130 shares were
available for repurchase pursuant to our 2006 Rragr

Shareholder Rights Plan

On December 3, 1990, the Board of Directors adoat8tiareholder Rights Plan. The Shareholder RRjats was amended and restated on
March 31, 1998 and subsequently amended on March9®®. In connection with the Reorganization, anuary 31, 2006, the original
Shareholder Rights Plan, as amended, was replacadbstantially identical Shareholder Rights PRursuant to the Shareholder Rights
Plan, we distributed Preferred Stock Purchase Righta dividend at the rate of one Right for eaehesof our common stock held by
stockholders of record as of January 31, 2006.Bdeerd of Directors also authorized the issuandrights for each share of common stock
issued after the record date, until the occurre@fi@ertain specified events. The Shareholder RiBha was adopted to provide protection to
stockholders in the event of an unsolicited attetm@atcquire us. As a result of stock splits, edwre of common stock now has associated
with it one-sixth of a Right.

The Rights are not exercisable until the earlie(bften days (or such later date as may be datethby the Board of Directors) following
announcement that a person or group has acquirefib@l ownership of 15% of our common stock ortéh days (or such later date as may
be determined by the Board of Directors) followthg announcement of a tender offer which wouldltéswa person or group obtaining
beneficial ownership of 15% or more of our outstagctommon stock, subject to certain exceptions érlier of such dates being called the
Distribution Date). The Rights are initially exesable for one-six thousand seven hundred fiftiéth share of our Series A Junior
Participating Preferred Stock at a price of $125quee-six thousand seven hundred fiftieth of ashsubject to adjustment. However, if:

(1) after the Distribution Date we are acquiredéntain types of transactions, or (2) any persogroup (with limited exceptions) acquires
beneficial ownership of 15% of our common stoclkertinolders of Rights (other than the 15% holdel)bvei entitled to receive upon exercise
of the Right, common stock (or in case we are cetepl acquired, common stock of the acquirer) hqpainrmarket value of two times the
exercise price of the Right.

We are entitled to redeem the Rights, for $0.00d&8Right, at the discretion of the Board of Digest until certain specified times. We may
also require the exchange of Rights, at a ratsmefamd ondralf shares of common stock, for each Right, urdetain circumstances. We a
have the ability to amend the Rights, subject ttage limitations.
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The following table summarizes the components ofiawlated other comprehensive income, net of incaxes:

May 31,

(in millions) 2006 2005 2004
Foreign currency translation adjustm $ 30¢ $ 301 $ 1%
Unrealized loss on derivativi (37 (57) (37
Unrealized gain on investmer 6 9 3
Minimum benefit plan liability adjustme! (19 (16) —

Accumulated other comprehensive inca $ 25¢ $ 248 $ 15€
9. INCOME TAXES
The following is a geographical breakdown of incdpegore the provision for income taxes:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2006 2005 2004
Domestic $ 2,72i $ 1,95¢ $ 2,11/
Foreign 2,08: 2,09t 1,831

Total $ 4,81C $ 4,05] $ 3,94f

The provision for income taxes consists of theofwlhg:

Year Ended May 31,

(Dollars in millions) 2006 2005 2004
Current provision
Federal $ 93¢ $ 624 $ 701
State 97 13t 77
Foreign 434 472 42¢
Total current provisiol 1,46¢ 1,231 1,20¢
Deferred provision (benefit
Federal (35) (12) 9
State 8 (29 48
Foreign (13) (32) 1
Total deferred provision (benef (40) (66) 58
Total provision for income taxe $ 1,42¢ $ 1,16¢ $ 1,264
Effective income tax rat 29.7% 28.8% 32.0%
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The provision for income taxes differs from the amibcomputed by applying the federal statutory tateur income before provision for
income taxes as follows:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2006 2005 2004
Tax provision at statutory ra $ 1,684 $ 1,41¢ $ 1,381
Foreign earnings at other than United States (42€) (380 (260)
State tax expense, net of federal ber 68 66 81
Dividend pursuant to American Jobs Creation Ac2@d4 — 121 —
Settlement of audits and expiration of statt — (131) —
Other 103 71 62
Provision for income taxe $ 1,42 $ 1,16! $ 1,26:

The components of the deferred tax assets anditiedbiconsist of the following:

May 31,
(in millions) 2006 2005
Deferred tax liabilities
Unrealized gain on stoc $ (130 $ (130
Unremitted earnings of foreign subsidiar (52) (27)
Acquired intangible: (1,340 (1,257
Other (30 (10
Total deferred tax liabilitie (1,557 (1,419
Deferred tax asset
Accruals and allowance 60z 343
Employee compensation and bene 137 21t
Depreciation and amortizatic 78 56
Tax credit and net operating loss carryforwe 822 264
Differences in timing of revenue recognition antdes 25( 80
Total deferred tax asse 1,89(C 95!
Valuation allowanct (189) (44)
Net deferred tax asset (liabilit $ 15C $ (509
Recorded as
Current deferred tax asst $ 714 $ 48€
Non-current deferred tax assets (in other-current asset: 16 32
Current deferred tax liabilities (in other currdiabilities) (16) 12
Non-current deferred tax liabilitie (564) (1,010
Net deferred tax asset (liabilit $ 15C $ (509

We provide for United States income taxes on theiegs of foreign subsidiaries unless they are iclemed indefinitely reinvested outside
United States. At May 31, 2006, the cumulative Egymupon which United States income taxes havédeen provided for were
approximately $3.0 billion. If these earnings wegpatriated in the United States, they would geedmaeign tax credits that would reduce
federal tax liability associated with the foreignidend. Assuming a full utilization of the foreigax credits, the potential deferred tax liabi
for these earnings would be approximately $550ionillin fiscal 2005, we repatriated $3.1 billiontbé earnings of foreign subsidiaries in
accordance with the American Jobs Creation Act0@42and recorded a federal tax expense of $11&m#ind a state tax expense (net of
federal tax benefit) of $3 million. We repatriatis@ maximum amount available for repatriation urtherAmerican Jobs Creation Act of
2004.
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The Internal Revenue Service has examined ourdéd@mome tax returns for all years through 199thaut any material adjustment of taxes
due. The IRS is currently examining our federabime tax returns for 2000 through 2003. We do nbébe that the outcome of these mat

will have a material adverse effect on our consaéd financial position or results of operation® ¥e also under examination by numerous
state and non-US tax authorities. We believe ttahawe adequately provided for any reasonably éese outcome related to these audits.

The valuation allowance was $189 million at May 2006 and $44 million at May 31, 2005. The increasgtributable to acquired deferred
tax assets of Siebel, principally federal and stateoperating loss carryforwards. Any subsequedhiiction of this valuation allowance and
recognition of the associated tax benefits wilbpglied first to reduce goodwill and then to intdoig assets established pursuant to the re
acquisition.

At May 31, 2006, we had federal net operating tsyforwards of approximately $1.6 billion. Thdssses expire in various years between
2011 and 2026, and are subject to limitations eir thtilization. We have state net operating lcasyforwards of approximately $1.9 billion,
which expire between 2007 and 2026, and are sutgjdichitations on their utilization. We have tasedit carryforwards of approximately
$140 million, which are subject to limitations dreir utilization. Approximately $53 million of thedax credit carryforwards are not currer
subject to expiration dates. The remainder, apprately $87 million, expires in various years betw@813 and 2026.

Our intercompany transfer pricing is currently lgeisviewed by the IRS and by foreign tax jurisdiog and will likely be subject to
additional audits in the future. We previously néafed three unilateral Advance Pricing Agreemevith the IRS that cover many of our
intercompany transfer pricing issues and preclbddRS from making a transfer pricing adjustmerihimithe scope of these agreements.
However, these agreements, which are effectivéigoal years through May 31, 2006, do not coveeliments of our intercompany transfer
pricing issues and do not bind tax authoritiesidetthe United States. We recently finalized onatbéial Advance Pricing Agreement and
currently are negotiating an additional bilatergdeeement to cover the period from June 1, 200JugittdMay 31, 2008. There can be no
guarantee that such negotiations will result imgreement.

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividingnmme for the period by the weighted-average lmemof common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted earnings per share mmated by dividing net income for the period by tieighted-average number of common
shares outstanding during the period, plus theiddieffect of outstanding stock options and sh&assable under the employee stock
purchase plan using the treasury stock methodfdllwaving table sets forth the computation of baaid diluted earnings per share:

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions, except per share data) 2006 2005 2004

Net income $ 338 $ 288 3$ 2,68
Weightec-average common shares outstanc 5,19¢ 5,13¢ 5,21¢
Dilutive effect of employee stock pla 91 95 111
Dilutive weighte-average common shares outstanc 5,287 5,231 5,32¢
Basic earnings per she $ 06t $ 056 $ 051
Diluted earnings per sha $ 064 $ 055 $ 0.5C

Shares subject to anti-dilutive stock options eaetlifrom calculatior) 12z 141 132

@ These weighted shares relate to anti-dilutive stock amtiand could be dilutive in the future. See Noterinformation regarding the
prices of our outstanding, unexercised optit
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11. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily ofligiiguid investments in time deposits held at nmdjanks, commercial paper, United States
government agency discount notes, money marketahfitnds and other money market securities witbioal maturities of 90 days or less.
Marketable securities primarily consist of commakgiaper, corporate notes and Unites States gowrnagency notes. In accordance with
Statement 115 and based on our intentions regatid@sg instruments, we classify certain of our deburities as available-for-sale and
account for these marketable securities at maiiderev We classify all of our other investments ébtsecurities as held-to-maturity and
account for these marketable securities at amartpst.

The amortized principal amount of cash and caskvatfnts at May 31, 2006 and 2005 was $6.7 bilaad $3.9 billion, which approximates
fair value, and the weighted average interest na@s 4.08% and 2.32%, respectively.

The following table summarizes the components ofroarketable securities:

May 31, 2006 May 31, 2005
Held-to- Available- Held-to- Available-
(in millions) Maturity ) for-Sale (1) Total Maturity @ for-Sale @ Total

Marketable securities (within 1 ye: $ 854 $ 92 $ 94 $ 57¢ $ 29¢ $ 87

Marketable securities (1 — 2 yeai®) — — — — 12 12

Total marketable securitit $ 854 $ 92 $ 94€ $ 57¢ $ 311 $ 88¢
Debt securities issued by U.S. Treasury and oth&r U

governmental entitie $ - $ — 3 — 3 —  $ 14 3 14
Debt securities issued by states of the UnitedeStand

political subdivisions of the state — 2 2 — 131 131

Corporate and other debt securit 854 90 944 57¢ 16€ 744

Total $ 854 $ 92 $ 94¢€ $ 57¢ $ 311 $ 88¢

(@ The amortized cost of our marketable securities@pmates fair value.
@ Included in other assets in the accompanying cadeteld balance sheets.

Our investment portfolio is subject to market rikle to changes in interest rates. We place oustments with high credit quality issuers
and, by policy, limit the amount of credit expostmeany one issuer. As stated in our investmentpolve are averse to principal loss and
seek to preserve our invested funds by limitingadfrisk, market risk and reinvestment risk.

12. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

FASB Statement No. 133ccounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedgirgjivities, as amendedestablishes accounting and reporting
standards requiring that every derivative instruntenrecorded in the balance sheet as either @b @skability measured at its fair value.
Statement 133 also requires that changes in tlieatige’s fair value be recognized currently inmiags unless specific hedge accounting
criteria are met and that a company must formadlyuthent, designate and assess the effectivenéssiséctions that receive hedge
accounting. We use derivatives to manage foreigrenay and interest rate risk.
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Net Investment Hedg

Periodically, we hedge the net assets of certa@rational subsidiaries (net investment hedgespusreign currency forward contracts to
offset the translation and economic exposuresaeltt our investments in these subsidiaries. Wesareahe effectiveness of net investment
hedges by using the changes in spot exchangelratasise this method reflects our risk managemeategtes, the economics of those
strategies in our financial statements and bettvages interest rate differentials between diffecenntries. Under this method, the chanc
fair value of the forward contract attributabletlie changes in spot exchange rates (the effeatict@op) is reported in stockholders’ equity to
offset the translation results on the net investsiefhe remaining change in fair value of the faxdveontract (the ineffective portion) is
recognized in non-operating income, net.

Net gains (losses) on investment hedges reportstbakholder equity were $23 million, $(23) million and $(38jillion in fiscal 2006, 2005
and 2004, respectively. The net gain on investrhedges reported in non-operating income, net wedendillion, $14 million and $8 million
in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

At May 31, 2006, we had one net investment hedgajpanese Yen. The Yen investment hedge minimizesrcy risk arising from net
assets held in Yen as a result of equity capitabtaduring the initial public offering and secondaffering of Oracle Japan. The fair value of
our Yen investment hedge was $0.2 million and $@ilbon as of May 31, 2006 and 2005. The Yen inwestt hedge has a notional amount
of $595 million and an exchange rate of 111 Yerefach United States dollar.

Foreign Currency Forward Contrac

We transact business in various foreign curreregshave established a program that primarilyzaliforeign currency forward contracts to
offset the risk associated with the effects ofaiarforeign currency exposures. Under this proglianreases or decreases in our foreign
currency exposures are offset by gains or losse¢keforward contracts, to mitigate the possibitifyforeign currency transaction gains or
losses. These foreign currency exposures typieaige from intercompany sublicense fees and otfterdompany transactions. Our forward
contracts generally have terms of 90 days or W&&sdo not use forward contracts for trading purposd outstanding foreign currency
forward contracts used in this program are markedarket at the end of the period with unrealizaihg and losses included in noperating
income, net. Our ultimate realized gain or loshwéspect to currency fluctuations will depend o ¢urrency exchange rates and other
factors in effect as the contracts mature. Netijorexchange transaction gains (losses) includewimoperating income, net in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operatiens $15 million, $(27) million and $(21) million fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. The fair values of foreign currenayfard contracts were not individually significamd approximated $(0.3) million and $0.2
million as of May 31, 2006 and 2005.

Interest Rate Swa

We have $150 million in 6.91% senior notes dueahrbary 2007. In February 2002, we entered intmgamest-rate swap agreement that has
the economic effect of modifying the interest obtigns associated with these senior notes sohbanterest payable on the senior notes
effectively becomes variable based on the thregmioBOR set quarterly until maturity. The notioreahount of the interest rate swap and
the termination date match the principal amountsraaturity date of the outstanding senior notes.i@terest rate swap increased the
effective interest rate on our 6.91% senior nad€t.30% as of May 31, 2006. The fair value of titeriest rate swap was $(0.7) million and
$3.1 million at May 31, 2006 and May 31, 2005.
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13. PROPERTY
Property consisted of the following:
May 31,
Estimated

(in millions) Useful Lives 2006 2005
Computer and network equipme 2-5years $ 1,13 $ 1,12
Buildings and improvemen 1-50 year 1,27¢ 1,24z
Furniture and fixture 3-10 year 36¢ 35€
Land — 20C 20z
Automobiles 5 years 11 8
Construction in progres 66 —
Land and buildings held for se — 94

Total property 1-50 year 3,051 3,02t

Accumulated depreciatic (1,660 (1,587

Property, ne $ 1,397 $ 1,44

As part of our restructuring and integration atids in fiscal 2005, we vacated owned propertysditat were classified as held for sale at
May 31, 2005 and sold for a nominal gain in fis2@06.
14. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill,akhis not deductible for tax purposes, by operasigment for the years ended May 31,
2005 and 2006, were as follows:

Software
License
Updates anc
New
Software Product
(in millions) Licenses Support Services Other Total

Balances as of May 31, 20 $ 20 % 17 % 4 $ —  $ 41
PeopleSoft acquisition goodw 1,20( 4,84¢ 441 — 6,481
Other acquisition goodwi — — — 47E 47E
Balances as of May 31, 20 1,22( 4,86: 44~ 475 7,00:
Allocation of goodwill®) 21¢ 164 93 (47%) —
Siebel acquisition goodwi 53¢ 1,70z 274 — 2,51¢
Other acquisition goodwi 28C 147 57 — 484
Goodwill adjustment®) (42 (135) (15) — (192)
Balances as of May 31, 20 $ 2,21 $ 6,74 $ 85: $ = $ 9,80¢

(1) Representsgoodwill associated with fourth quarter fiscal 2G@Sjuisitions, primarily Retek, that was allocateaperating segments ug
finalization of our intangible asset valuationghe first quarter of fiscal 200!

@ Primarily associated with changes in our deferred taxesided with PeopleSoft intangibles acquired, plytiaffset by liabilities
recorded for certain PeopleSoft -merger contingencie
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The changes in intangible assets for the year eldgd31, 2006 and the net book value of intangétdsets at May 31, 2005 and 2006 wel
follows:

Intangible Assets, Gross Accumulated Amortization Net Book Value

May 31, May 31, Weighted

May 31, May 31, May 31, May 31, Average

(Dollars in millions) 2005 Additions 2006 2005 Expense 2006 2005 2006 Useful Life
Software support agreements and related

relationships $ 212 $§ 82 $294¢ $ (88) $(241) $(329) $ 2,03¢ $ 2,62( 10 year

Developed technolog 80C 53¢ 1,33¢ (129 (20€) (333 673 1,00: 5years

Core technolog 36¢ 22¢ 594 (30 (92) (121 33¢ 473  5years

Customer relationshiy 257 11¢€ 37t (171) (30 (47) 24¢€ 334 10 year:

Trademarks 84 33 117 (4) (15) (19) 80 98 7 years

Total $ 3630 $1,73 $5371 $(260 $(B583) $(84%) $ 3,37 $ 4,52¢

The total amortization expense related to intargéssets was $583 million, $219 million and $36iomilin fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. Estimated future amortization expeetsted to intangible assets is $738 million acél 2007, $727 million in fiscal 2008, $7
million in fiscal 2009, $615 million in fiscal 2018431 million in fiscal 2011 and $1,295 millioretieafter.

15. SEGMENT INFORMATION

FASB Statement No. 13Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise andt®&elnformation establishes standards for reporting
information about operating segments. Operatingneegs are defined as components of an enterprad alhich separate financial
information is available that is evaluated regyldny the chief operating decision maker, or decisitaking group, in deciding how to alloc
resources and in assessing performance. Our ghéeating decision maker is our Chief Executive €¥fi We are organized geographically
and by line of business. While our Chief Executdféicer evaluates results in a number of diffeneays, the line of business management
structure is the primary basis for which the alt@aof resources and financial results are asde¥¥e have two businesses, software and
services, which are further divided into five opgrg segments. Our software business is compriégdmoperating segments: (1) new
software licenses and (2) software license updatdgproduct support. Our services business is deetpof three operating segments:

(1) consulting, (2) On Demand and (3) education.

The new software license line of business is endjagéhe licensing of database and middleware sofivas well as applications software.
Database and middleware software includes datahasagement software, application server softwanraytcs, development tools and
collaboration software. Applications software paeg enterprise information that enables companiesanage their business cycles and
provide intelligence in functional areas such aarficials, human resources, maintenance managememifacturing, marketing, order
fulfillment, product lifecycle management, procuem projects, sales, services and supply champig. The software license updates and
product support line of business provides customfsrights to unspecified software product upgmdnd maintenance releases, internet
access to technical content, as well as interregttelephone access to technical support persommieigdthe support period.

The consulting line of business provides servicesustomers in the design, implementation, deplayraad upgrade of our database,
middleware and applications software. On Demantlides Oracle On Demand and Advanced Customer ®sn@racle On Demand
provides multi-featured software and hardware mamsnt and maintenance services for our databade|awiare and applications software.
Advanced Customer Services provide customers aaraigpn and performance analysis, personalizedatippd annual on-site technical
services. The education line of business providssuctor led, media based and internet basedritpin the use of our database, middleware
and applications software.
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We do not track our assets by operating segmentsségjuently, it is not practical to show assetefigrating segments.

The following table presents a summary of our besses and operating segments:

Year Ended May 31,

(in_millions) 2006 2005 2004
New software license:
Revenueg) $ 4897 $ 4,08. $ 3,53:
Sales and distribution expens 2,63¢ 2,05¢ 1,71¢
Margin @) $ 225¢ $ 2027 $ 1,817
Software license updates and product sup
Revenue&) $ 7021 $ 565 $ 4,52¢
Cost of service 672 56¢ 50¢€
Margin @ $ 6,352 $ 5081 $ 4,021
Total software busines
Revenueg) $ 1192 $ 9,732 $ 8,06
Expense! 3,311 2,624 2,224
Margin @ $ 861 $ 7,108 $ 583¢
Consulting:
Revenue$) $ 211 $ 1,79 $ 1,57:
Cost of service 1,787 1,471 1,277
Margin @ $ 326 $ 328 $ 30C
On Demand
Revenueg) $ 39¢ $ 307 $ 267
Cost of service 372 274 24C
Margin @ $ 26 $ 33 $ 27
Education:
Revenue$) $ 33 $ 284 $ 254
Cost of service 23k 21E 20C
Margin $ 101 $ 69 $ 54
Total services busines
Revenueg) $ 2847 $ 2387 $ 2,09«
Cost of service 2,39/ 1,96( 1,712
Margin @ $ 45 $ 427 % 381
Totals:
Revenueg) $ 1477 $ 12,11¢ $ 10,15¢
Expense! 5,70 4,584 3,93
Margin @ $ 9066 $ 753 $ 6,21¢

() Operating segment revenues differ from the external reportiagsifications due to certain software licensmlpcts that are classified as
service revenues for management reporting purpésiestionally, software license updates and prodwgiport revenues for management
reporting include $391, $320 and $0 of revenuesvitieadid not recognize in the accompanying constdid statements of operations for
the years ended May 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, réxgplgc See Note 6 for an explanation of these stdjients and the following table fo
reconciliation of operating segment revenues tal t@venues

@ The margins reported reflect only the direct contrdiéatosts and expenses of each line of businesd@ndt represent the actual mari
for each operating segment because they do naticcent allocation of product development, informatiechnology, marketing and
partner programs, and corporate and general anthetirative expenses incurred in support of thedinf business. Additionally, the
margins do not reflect the amortization of intamgissets, restructuring costs, acquisition relatestis and sto-based compensatio
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Reconciliation of operating segment revenues to taltrevenues

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2006 2005 2004

Total revenues for reportable segme $ 14,77 $ 12,11¢ $ 10,15¢

Software license updates and product support r&s (397) (320) —
Total revenue $ 14,38( $ 11,79¢ $ 10,15¢

Reconciliation of operating segment margin to incom before provision for income taxes

Year Ended May 31,

(in millions) 2006 2005 2004
Total margin for reportable segme $ 9,06¢ $ 7,53t $ 6,21¢
Software license updates and product support res (397 (320 —
Product development and information technology espe (2,160 a,777) (1,537)
Marketing and partner program expen (447) (378 (34¢)
Corporate and general and administrative expe (479 (43¢) (37¢)
Amortization of intangible asse (589 (219 (36)
Acquisition relatec (137) (20¢) (54)
Restructuring (85) (147) —
Stocl-based compensatic (32) (25) —
Interest expens (169) (135) (27)
Non-operating income, ne 22C 157 10C
Income before provision for income tay $ 4,81 $ 4,05 $ 3,94

Geographic information
Disclosed in the table below is geographic infoiorafor any country comprising greater than threecpnt of total revenues.

Year Ended May 31,

2006 2005 2004

Long Lived Long Lived Long Lived

(in millions) Revenues Assetst) Revenues Assetst) Revenues Assets®)
United State: $ 6,44¢ $ 1,357 $ 4,94: $ 1,371 $ 4,35¢ $ 87¢
United Kingdom 1,15:% 10¢ 1,01¢ 11z 841 11¢
Japar 841 10& 79€ 39 74¢€ 35
Germany 57¢ 8 57¢ 6 51: 7
France 50¢ 16 442 15 371 15
Canade 472 12 34E 12 25E 8
Other foreign countrie 4,37 17¢ 3,68( 18t 3,072 13¢
Total $14,38( $ 1,78( $11,79¢ $ 1,74( $10,15¢ $ 1,19

@ Long-lived assets excludes goodwill, intangible assets, edguigstments and deferred taxes, which are notatkal to specific
geographic locations as it is impracticable to dc
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16. PEOPLESOFT CUSTOMER ASSURANCE PROGRAM

In June 2003, in response to our tender offer, lB&qft implemented what it referred to as the “oosdr assurance program” or “CAP.” The
CAP incorporated a provision in PeopleSoft's staddi@ensing arrangement that purports to contabtuurden Oracle, as a result of our
acquisition of PeopleSoft, with a contingent ohfiga to make payments to PeopleSoft customers dheelfail to take certain business
actions for a fixed period. The payment obligatiwhjch typically expires four years from the datele contract, is fixed at an amount
generally between two and five times the licengkfast year support fees paid to PeopleSoft inapglicable license transaction. PeopleSoft
customers retain rights to the licensed productsthdr or not the CAP payments are triggered.

The maximum potential penalty under the CAP, bsiagr, as of May 31, 2006 was as follows:

Maximum
Dates Offered to Customer$?) Potential Penalty
CAP Version Start Date End Date (in_millions)
Version 1 June 200: September 12, 20C  $ 762

Version 2 September 12, 20( September 30, 20( 17C
Version 3 September 30, 20( November 7, 200 40
Version 4 November 18, 200 June 30, 200 1,35z
Version 5 June 16, 200 December 28, 200 792
Version 6 October 12, 200 December 28, 200 1,10¢
$ 3,5¢

(1 Some contracts originally submitted to customers prtttese end dates were executed following sucts dakee majority of the CAP
provisions will expire no later than four yearseafthe contract dat

@ As of May 31, 2006, all but two contracts containingrsfon One of the CAP have expired by their te$@$. is the maximum potential
payment under the two remaining Version 1 CAP amuit:.

This purported obligation was not reflected asahility on PeopleSoft’'s balance sheet as People®oitiuded that it could be triggered only
following the consummation of an acquisition. Wedaoncluded that, as of the date of the acquisitive penalty provisions under the CAP
represented a contingent liability of Oracle. Thgragate potential CAP obligation as of May 31,2@@s $3.5 billion. Unless the CAP
provisions are removed from these licensing arrargges, we do not expect the aggregate potential @#AiBation to decline substantially
until fiscal year 2008 when these provisions begiaxpire. We have not recorded a liability relatethe CAP, as we do not believe it is
probable that our post-acquisition activities rethto the PeopleSoft and JD Edwards product liriksrigger an obligation to make any
payment pursuant to the CAP. While no assurancdeagiven as to the ultimate outcome of litigatime, believe we would also have
substantial defenses with respect to the legatityenforceability of the CAP contract provisiongé@sponse to any claims seeking payment
from us under the CAP terms.
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17. GUARANTEES

Our software license agreements generally incled®&in provisions for indemnifying customers agtliabilities if our software products
infringe a third party’s intellectual property righ To date, we have not incurred any materialscasta result of such indemnifications and
have not accrued any liabilities related to sudigations in our consolidated financial statemeftsrtain of our software license agreements
also include provisions indemnifying customers aggliabilities in the event we breach confiderityabr service level requirements.

Our software license agreements also generallydech warranty that our software products will saibisally operate as described in the
applicable program documentation for a period & pear after delivery. We also warrant that ses/iwe perform will be provided in a
manner consistent with industry standards for éodesf 90 days from performance of the servicedate, we have not incurred any material
costs associated with these warranties.

18. COMMITMENTS

Lease Commitmen

We lease certain facilities and furniture and emépt under operating leases. As of May 31, 20G&réuminimum annual operating lease
payments and future minimum payments to be recdiaad non-cancelable subleases were as follows:

Year Ended

(in millions) May 31,
2007 $ 414
2008 227
2009 19t
2010 157
2011 117
Thereatftel 30€
Future minimum operating lease payme 1,41€
Less: Minimum payments to be received frnor-cancelable subleas (120
Total, net $ 1,29¢

Lease commitments include future minimum rent payméor facilities that we have vacated pursuartuorestructuring and merger
integration activities, as discussed in Note 3.Mdee approximately $559 million in facility obligans, net of estimated sublease income and
other costs, in accrued restructuring for thesatlons in our consolidated balance sheet at MayGasé.

Rent expense was $175 million, $174 million andZbtfllion for fiscal years 2006, 2005 and 2004 pexgively, net of sublease income of
approximately $23 million, $10 million and $10 rolh, respectively. Certain lease agreements conéamiewal options providing for an
extension of the lease term.

Property Commitmer

In March 2006, one of our subsidiaries signed &ndife agreement to purchase land and buildinggfiproximately $342 million, of which
approximately $66 million was paid in fiscal 20@®iture remaining commitments are approximately i®@8on in fiscal 2007 and $207
million in fiscal 2008.
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19. BENEFIT PLANS

We offer various defined contribution plans for @us. and non-U.S. employees. Total defined coutidin plan expense was $170 million,
$147 million and $92 million for fiscal years 20@)05 and 2004, respectively. In fiscal 2006 an@b2@ve increased the number of plan
participants in our defined contribution plans assult of additional employees from acquisitioasall as increased the number of countries
that offer defined contribution plans.

In the United States, regular employees can ppdieiin the Oracle Corporation 401(k) Savings avestment Plan (Oracle 401(k) Plan).
Participants can generally contribute up to 40%heir eligible compensation annually as definedhgyplan document or by the section 402
(9) limit as defined by the Internal Revenue Sexvi@/e match a portion of employee contributionstantly up to 6% of compensation each
pay period, subject to maximum aggregate matchinguats. Our contributions to the plan, net of fidies, were $58 million, $46 million
and $32 million in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004.

We also offer non-qualified deferred compensatiampto certain key employees whereby they mayrdefmrtion of their annual
compensation until retirement or a date specifigthle employee in accordance with the plans. Defecompensation plan assets and
liabilities were approximately $165 million and ®1&illion as of May 31, 2006 and 2005 and are preskin other assets and other long-
term liabilities in the accompanying consolidatedbince sheets.

20. RELATED PARTIES

We have entered into transactions with 12 compamies the last three fiscal years in which our €Bieecutive Officer, directly or
indirectly, has a controlling interest. These conipa purchased software and services for $4.7amjli4.1 million and $2.1 million during
fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively. In additwe purchased goods and services from two skthempanies for $1.0 million, $0.8
million and $0.9 million in fiscal 2006, 2005 an@@, respectively. The goods and services purchiasedthese companies related to
consulting, training services and aircraft rental.

In fiscal 2004, we recorded royalty revenues ob$tillion from a company in which our Chief ExemgiOfficer holds a controlling interest
and which was permitted to sell its hosted businggsagement applications solutions under the bnante Oracle Small Business Suite. We
assisted this company’s efforts to penetrate thaldmsiness market by incurring $0.3 million innketing expense in fiscal 2004 promoting
the Oracle Small Business Suite. In the fourth gaof fiscal 2004, we terminated the revenue sigaaigreement with this company. In
connection with our acquisition of PeopleSoft, vesuamed a sublease with this company and receiwedgrds of $0.1 million and $0.2
million during fiscal 2006 and 2005, respectivelfie sublease was terminated in the first quartéiscil 2006 when this company entered
into a direct lease with the landlord.

In fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, we received $0.lionil $0.6 million and $0.9 million, respectivelpr purchases of software and services
from two companies affiliated with two other membef our Board of Directors who are, or were, exigewfficers of such companies. A
member of our Board of Directors was previousleaacutive officer of one such company until Julp20Transactions with this company
prior to the date of this Board member’s depariarduly 2005 have been included in the precedisgldsure.

99



Table of Contents

ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
May 31, 2006

21. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Securities Class Action

Stockholder class actions were filed in the UniBaltes District Court for the Northern District@&lifornia against us and our Chief
Executive Officer on and after March 9, 2001. Beswd&larch 2002 and March 2003, the court dismis$sdtjifs’ consolidated complaint,
first amended complaint and a revised second andetm@plaint. The last dismissal was with prejudi@a.September 1, 2004, the United
States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit resext the dismissal order and remanded the casertbef proceedings. The revised second
amended complaint named our Chief Executive Offioar then Chief Financial Officer (who currentty@hairman of our Board of
Directors) and a former Executive Vice Presidendefendants. This complaint was brought on betgiuochasers of our stock during the
period from December 14, 2000 through March 1, 260dintiffs alleged that the defendants made fatsg misleading statements about our
actual and expected financial performance and ¢npnance of certain of our applications produatsile certain individual defendants
were selling Oracle stock in violation of federatsrities laws. Plaintiffs further alleged thatteér individual defendants sold Oracle stock
while in possession of material non-public inforioat Plaintiffs also allege that the defendantsagregl in accounting violations. Currently,
the parties are conducting discovery. Trial hastzst for September 11, 2006, although that ditéylivill change. Plaintiffs seek
unspecified damages plus interest, attorneys’deéscosts, and equitable and injunctive relief. Wkeve that we have meritorious defenses
against this action, and we will continue to vigosty defend it.

Siebel Securities Class Action

On March 10, 2004, William Wollrab, on behalf offself and purportedly on behalf of a class of shatfers of Siebel, filed a complaint in
the United States District Court for the NortheristBict of California against Siebel and certairitefofficers relating to predicted adoption
rates of Siebel v7.0 and certain customer satisiasurveys. This complaint was consolidated andraded on August 27, 2004, with the
Policemen’s Annuity and Benefit Fund of Chicagonigeappointed to serve as lead plaintiff. The cadatéd complaint also raised claims
regarding Siebel’'s business performance in 200@dber 2004, Siebel filed a motion to dismissiclitwas granted on January 28, 2005
with leave to amend. Plaintiffs filed an amendethptaint on March 1, 2005. Plaintiffs seek unspedifilamages plus interest, attorneys’ fees
and costs, and equitable and injunctive reliefb&li¢iled a motion to dismiss the amended complam#pril 27, 2005, and on December 28,
2005, the Court dismissed the case with prejuditeJanuary 17, 2006, plaintiffs filed a notice ppaal. We believe that we have meritori
defenses against this action, and we will contwigerously to defend it.

Intellectual Property Litigation

Mangosoft, Inc. and Mangosoft Corporation filedademt infringement action against us in the Uniéates District Court for the District of
New Hampshire on November 22, 2002. Plaintiffsgalthat we are willfully infringing U.S. Patent 816,148,377 (th‘377 patent) and
5,918,229 (the ‘229 patent), which they claim tmowlaintiffs seek damages based on our licenss sédlthe Real Application Clusters
database option, the 9i and 10g databases, arpfiieation Server, and seek injunctive relief. Wave denied infringement and asserted
affirmative defenses and have counterclaimed agplamtiffs for declaratory judgment that the ‘3@@d ‘229 patents are invalid,
unenforceable and not infringed by us. On May D@42 the court held a claims construction (Markmtzegring, and on September 21, 2004,
it issued a Markman order. On June 21, 2005, pfsnvithdrew their allegations of infringement thfe ‘229 patent. Discovery closed on

July 1, 2005. Summary judgment motions were filaddoigust 25, 2005, and the court held a hearinthese motions on October 17, 2005.
On March 14, 2006 the court ruled that Oracle’s|Rggplication Clusters database option did notimde the ‘377 patent. Oracle’s
counterclaims against Mangosoft, alleging that 37& patent is invalid

100



Table of Contents

ORACLE CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)
May 31, 2006

and unenforceable, are the only claims that thatGws left open for trial. On April 21, 2006 Marsgdt filed a motion asking that Mangosoft
be allowed to appeal the non-infringement rulingniediately to the Federal Circuit Court of Appeais #éhat trial on Oracle’s counterclaims
be stayed until that appeal has been resolvedl&fibed a brief opposing that motion on May 8, B0Uhe Court has not yet ruled on the
motion, nor has it set a trial date for the remagriwo issues.

Other Litigation

We are party to various legal proceedings and daéither asserted or unasserted, which arisesiortinary course of business, including
proceedings and claims that relate to acquisitieasfiave completed or to companies we have acqairate attempting to acquire. While the
outcome of these matters cannot be predicted \eittainty, we do not believe that the outcome of aithese claims or any of the above
mentioned legal matters will have a material adveffect on our consolidated financial positiorsules of operations or cash flow.

22. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

We acquired two companies in June 2006 and contptaie acquisition of Portal Software, Inc. on J8Jy2006 for approximately $340
million in cash and approximately 2.5 million opt®assumed. The purchase price allocations foe theguisitions have not yet been
completed.
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ORACLE CORPORATION
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
Additions
Beginning Charged Write- Translation Ending

(in millions) Balance to Operations offs Adjustments Balance
Trade Receivable Allowanci
Year Ended

May 31, 200< $ 37€ 172 (18¢) 3 $ 364

May 31, 200¢ $ 364 197 (300 8 $ 26¢

May 31, 200¢ $ 26 24 (18%) = $ 32t
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Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registhas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduaty authorized, on July 21, 2006.

ORACLE CORPORATION

By: /s/ LAWRENCEJ. ELLISON

Lawrence J. Ellison, Chief Executive
Officer and Directo

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed &ydhowing persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the ddiedted.

Name Title Date
/s/  LAWRENCEJ. ELLISON Chief Executive Officer and Director (Principal July 21, 2006
Lawrence J. Ellisol Executive Officer)
/sl  SAFRAA. CATZ Chief Financial Officer and Director (Principal July 21, 2006
Safra A. Cat: Financial Officer)
/s/  JENNIFERL. M INTON Senior Vice President, July 21, 2006
Jennifer L. Minton Global Finance and Operations

and Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer

/sl JEFFREYQ. HENLEY Chairman of the Board of Directors July 21, 2006
Jeffrey O. Henle

/sl JEFFREYB ERG Director July 21, 2006
Jeffrey Berg

/s|  H. RAYMOND B INGHAM Director July 21, 2006
H. Raymond Binghar

/s/  MICHAEL J. BOSKIN Director July 21, 2006
Michael J. Boskir

/s/  HECTORG ARCIA -M OLINA Director July 21, 2006
Hector Garci-Molina

/sl Jack F. KEmMP Director July 21, 2006
Jack F. Kemj

/s/  DoNALD L. L ucas Director July 21, 2006
Donald L. Lucas

/sl  CHARLESE. PHILLIPS, JR. Director July 21, 2006
Charles E. Phillips, J

/s/ NaomI O. SELIGMAN Director July 21, 2006

Naomi O. Seligmal
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EXHIBIT 4.01

Page 1 of 2
COMMON STOCK COMMON STOCK
NUMBER [LOGO] SHARES
ORACLE CORPORATION
INCORPORATED UNDER THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF DELAWAR
THIS CERTIFICATE IS TRANSFERABLE SEE REVERSE SIDE FOR CERTAIN
IN CANTON, MA, JERSEY CITY, NJ DEFINITIONS AND A STATEMENT OF RIGHTS,
AND NEW YORK, CITY NY PREFERENCES, AND PRIVILEGE

CUSIP 68389X 10
THIS CERTIFIES THAT

IS THE RECORD HOLDER OF

FULLY PAID AND NONASSESSABLE SHARES OF THE COMMONT®CK, $0.01 PAR VALUE, OF
ORACLE CORPORATION

transferable on the books of the Corporation byréiterd holder hereof in person or by duly authetiattorney upon surrender of this
certificate properly endorsed. This certificatedéd valid until countersigned and registered byTrensfer Agent and Registrar.

WITNESS the facsimile seal of the Corporation amelfacsimile signatures of its duly authorized afs.

DATED:
[SEAL] /sl Safra A. Catz
Counter signed and Registered: President
Computershare Trust Company, N
Transfer Agent and Regist
BY /s/ Daniel Cooperma

Authorized Signatur. Secretary



Page 2 of 2
ORACLE CORPORATION

A statement of the rights, preferences, privilegesi restrictions granted to or imposed upon thpeetive classes and series of the shares
authorized to be issued and upon the holders therap be obtained upon request and without chaxga the Corporation at its principal
executive office.

The following abbreviations, when used in the ifn#@n on the face of this certificate, shall bexstued as though they were written out in
full according to applicable laws or regulations:

TEN COM -  as tenants in common UNIF GIFT MIN ACT - Custodian
TEN ENT- as tenants by the entireti (Cust) (Minor)
JT TEN- as joint tenants with right of survivorst under Uniform Gifts to Minor.
and not as tenants in common Act
(State)

Additional abbreviations may also be used thougtimthe above list.

COMPUTERSHARE TRUST COMPANY, N.A .
AS THE RIGHTS AGENT

For Value Received hereby sell, assign and transfer unto

PLEASE INSERT SOCIAL SECURITY OR OTHER
IDENTIFYING NUMBER OF ASSIGNEE

(PLEASE PRINT OR TYPEWRITE NAME AND ADDRESS, INCLUNG ZIP CODE, OF ASSIGNEE

Share

of the Common Stock represented by the within Geate and do hereby irrevocably constitute andoari

Attorney,

to transfer the said shares on the books of thgin-named Corporation with full power of substitutionthe premises

Dated

Natice: The signature to this assignment must spoec
with the name as written upon the face of the fteate
in every particular, without alteration or enlargarhor
any change whateve

Signature(s) Guaranteed By

THE SIGNATURE (S) SHOULD BE GUARANTEED BY AN ELIGIBE GUARANTOR INSTITUTION (BANKS, STOCKBROKERS,
SAVINGS AND LOAN ASSOCIATIONS AND CREDIT UNIONS WIH MEMBERSHIP IN AN APPROVED SIGNATURE
GUARANTEE MEDALLION PROGRAM), PURSUANT TO S.E.C. RIE 17Ad-15.

This certificate also evidences and entitles thddrchereof to certain rights as set forth in aétred Share Rights Agreement between O
Corporation and Computershare Trust Company, Nig\rights agent, dated as of January 31, 2006 Rtights Agreement”), the terms of
which are hereby incorporated herein by referemckaacopy of which is on file at the principal edtiee offices of Oracle Corporation.
Under certain circumstances, as set forth in tlghRiAgreement, such Rights will be evidenced Ipagate certificates and will no longer be
evidenced by this certificate. Oracle Corporatialh avail to the holder of this certificate a copf/tbhe Rights Agreement without charge after
receipt of a written request therefore. Under ¢ertacumstances set forth in the Rights AgreemRights issued to, or held by, any Person
who is, was or becomes an Acquiring Person or dfiliade or Associate thereof (as such terms arfindd in the Rights Agreement), whetl
currently held by or on behalf of such Person oaby subsequent holder, may become null and void.



SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Subsidiary

Exhibit 21.01

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Oracle Argentina, S.A

Oracle Corporation Australia Pty. Limitt
Oracle Australia Holdings Pty. Lt

Oracle Consolidation Australia Pty. Limit
Oracle Superannuation Pty. Limit

J.D. Edwards Australia Pty. L

J.D. Edwards World Solutions Company Pty L
PeopleSoft Australia Pty. L1

Vantive Australia Pty Ltc

G-Log Pty Ltd.

Retek Information Systems Pty Li

Siebel Systems Australia Pty. Limit
edocs Asi-Pacific Pty Limitec

Eontec Australia Pty Limite

Oracle Austria Gmbt

Oracle Belgium B.V.B.A./sprl

Oracle BH d.o.0., Saraje\

J.D. Edwards & Company Foreign Sales,
Oracle do Brasil Sistemas Limita

PSFT (BVI) Holding Corporatio
PeopleSoft China Holding Corporati
PSFT C.I. Holdings Ltd

Oracle Corporation Canada It

Steltor Corporatiol

Steltor Inc.

Steltor General Partnersk

WebGain (Nova Scotia) Compa
WebGain Canada In

Star Acquisition ULC

Oracle Canada Holdings, Ir

Oracle Nova Scotia Compal

Oracle Numetrix Compan

BankFrame Eontec Incorporat

Oracle Systems Limite

Oracle Caribbean, In

Oracle International Holding Compa
PeopleSoft Chile Holdings, Lt
PeopleSoft C.I. Holdings Lt

PeopleSoft Columbia Holdings, Lt
Sistemas Oracle de Chile, S.

Centro de Capacitacion Oracles Lt
Beijing Oracle Software Systems Company Limi
Oracle Research and Development Center, Beijirdy,
Oracle Research & Development Center, Shenzhen
J.D. Edwards Software (Beijing) Co. Li
PeopleSoft (Beijing) Software Co. Lt
Siebel Systems Software (Shanghai) Co.,
Siebel Systems Holdings, LL!

Oracle Colombia Limitad

Argentina
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia
Austria
Belgium
Bosnia & Herzogovini
Barbados
Brazil

British Virgin Islands
British Virgin Islands
Britsh Virgin Islands
Canade
Canads
Canads
Canads
Canade
Canade
Canade
Canade
Canads
Canads
Canads
Cyprus

Puerto Ricc
Cayman Island
Cayman Island
Cayman Island
Cayman Island
Chile

Chile

China

China

China

China

China

China

China
Colombia



Siebel Systems Columbia Lt

Oracle de Centroamerica S.

Oracle Croatia d.o.(

Oracle Czech s.r.«

Siebel Systems Ceska Republica s

Oracle Danmark Ap:

Siebel Systems Danmark A|

Oracle Ecuador, S.A. (inactiv

Oracle Egypt Ltd

Oracle Finland OY

Siebel Systems Suomi C

Oracle France, S.A.!

Retek Information Systems £

Oracle Deutschland Gmb

Retek Informationsysteme Gmt

Oracle Hellas, S.A

Oracle Systems Hong Kong Limit

Oracle Hong Kong Holdings Limite

J.D. Edwards (Hong Kong) Limite

PeopleSoft Hong Kong Lt

Retek International, Inc. (Hong Kong bran

Siebel Systems Hong Kong Limit

Siebel Systems Asia Limite

Oracle Hungary Kft

Siebel Systems Hungary Computer Technology
Limited Liability Company

Oracle India Private Ltc

Oracle Solution Services (India) Private L

i-Flex Solutions Ltc

ProfitLogic Software Private Limite

J.D. Edwards India Software Pvt. L

PeopleSoft India Private Lt

Siebel Systems Software (India) Private Limi

PT Oracle Indonesi

J.D. Edwards Europe Lt

Oracle East Central Europe Limit

Oracle EMEA Limitec

Oracle Technology Compai

Oracle EMEA Holdings

PeopleSoft International Limite

PSFT Ireland Holding Compat

PSFT International Limite

Eontec Limitec

Eontec R&D Limited

Eontec Sales Limite

Siebel Systems EMEA Limite

Siebel Systems Ireland Holdings Limit

Siebel Systems Isle of Man Limit

Oracle Software Systems Israel Limit

Siebel Systems Israel Software Limit

Oracle Italia S.R.L

Oracle Corporation Jap:

Miracle Linux Corporatior

Oracle Information Systems (Japan) K

Columbia
Costa Rice
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Exhibit 23.01

CONSENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP,
INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference infelewing Registration Statements:
(1) Registration Statements (Forr-8 Nos. 33-131427 and 3:-131988) of Oracle Corporatic
(2) Registration Statement (Forn-4 No. 33:-132250) and related Prospectus of Oracle Corpor

of our reports dated July 20, 2006, with respethéoconsolidated financial statements and schexdfulizacle Corporation, Oracle
Corporation management’s assessment of the eféewtss of internal control over financial reportiagd the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting of Oracle Corporation inéd in the Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the yeaded May 31, 2006.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLP

San Francisco, California
July 20, 2006



Exhibit 31.01
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT

I, Lawrence J. Ellison, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Oracle Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doésontain any untrue statement of a material facimit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this annual re

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in thisnaal report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presented in this
annual report

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and we ha

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this annual report is lgeprepared

b) designed such internal control over financiglomting, or caused such internal control over fgiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuram@ading the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordanceggitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registsagisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbis annual report our conclusic
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis annual report based on
such evaluation; ar

d) disclosed in this annual report any change évégistrant’s internal control over financial refpwg that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that hatenwally affected, or is reasonably likely to maddly affect, the registrarg’interna
control over financial reporting; ar

The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theaRte and Audit Committee of the registrant’s basrdirectors (or persons performing
the equivalent function

a) all significant deficiencies and material weas®s in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refprahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal controls over financial reportir

Date: July 21, 2006 By: /s/ LAWRENCEJ. ELLISON

Lawrence J. Ellison
Chief Executive Officer and Direct



Exhibit 31.02
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT

I, Safra A. Catz, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Oracle Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doésontain any untrue statement of a material facimit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this annual re

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in thisnaal report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presented in this
annual report

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and we ha

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedoifes designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this annual report is lgeprepared

b) designed such internal control over financiglomting, or caused such internal control over fgiahreporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuram@ading the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordanceggitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registsagisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbis annual report our conclusic
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis annual report based on
such evaluation; ar

d) disclosed in this annual report any change évégistrant’s internal control over financial refpwg that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that hatenwally affected, or is reasonably likely to maddly affect, the registrarg’interna
control over financial reporting; ar

The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatioernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theaRte and Audit Committee of the registrant’s basrdirectors (or persons performing
the equivalent function

a) all significant deficiencies and material weas®s in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refprahcial information; an

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal controls over financial reportir

Date: July 21, 2006 By: /s SaFrRAA.CATZ

Safra A. Catz
President, Chief Financial Officer and Direc



Exhibit 32.01
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBAN ES-OXLEY ACT
July 21, 2006

Securities and Exchange Commission
100 F Street, N.E.
Washington, D.C. 20549

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The certification set forth below is being furnighte the Securities and Exchange Commission s@idelthe purpose of complying with Rule
13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities ExgjgaAct of 1934 and with Section 1350 of Chapteob3itle 18 of the United States
Code.

Lawrence J. Ellison, the Chief Executive Officer@racle Corporation, and Safra A. Catz, the Chie&Rkcial Officer of Oracle Corporation,
each certifies that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh1934; anc

2. the information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdétion and results of operations of Oracle
Corporation,

/s/ LAWRENCEJ. ELLISON
Name: Lawrence J. Ellison
Chief Executive Officer and Directt

Is] SAFRAA. CATZ

Name: Safra A. Catz
President, Chief Financial
Officer and Directol




